ANNUAL REPORT 2 02 3 Fi#&

r@G S Y
0 B S
Z 2m°
YT SNEB
X5 £nE
5 swlk
0= o fH @
m S 8
L O
\x.ED WHMK
91 ox g
Al =
| jol
#K T 3
G o
i
=
Z
H
m Q




CONTENTS
H &%

2 Corporate Information

ARER

6 Chairman’s Statement
FRERE

10 Management Discussion and Analysis

EIEE M

30 Board of Directors and Senior Management

SESRARERE

36 Corporate Governance Report
EERRE

62 Report of the Directors
EEERE

81

87

89

91

92

94

225

228

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RE

Independent Auditors’ Report
B 2 BN &

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

freEmMEM kS

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

AL

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EARREDE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
REREemBER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements

R M HRAME

Particulars of Properties

MEFHB

Five-Year Financial Summary

hFEMHHRE




China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

CORPORATE INFORMATION

AN SR
ANCIN- Ve
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, GBS, JP, Chairman
(re-designated from a non-executive director to
an executive director on 1 October 2022)

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond
Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Yau Yuk Shing

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Yat Cheung, JP
Mr. Lau King Lung
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Ping Yuen, Chairman
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung, JP
Mr. Lau King Lung

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Ng Yat Cheung, JP, Chairman

Mr. Lau King Lung

Mr. Wong Ping Yuen

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, GBS, JP
(appointed on 1 October 2022)

EEg

HITES

iS4 - GBS - AT+ TE
R-—ZF—-—F+F—HHFHTESE
FLAEBTESE)

RInEELE
TTIECAE %,

B A

BYFIITES

REELRLE  ATF#L
BgERE
TRIRELE

BREES
TRRSE  EH
RABRE LA F#+
Bl

FMEE®

REBRAE  AF#+ £)/E

LIRS E

TRRAE

BRE A - GBS - A FaEL
(R=ZF=Z—=—F+H—HEZ(F)




—E-=FER

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Lau King Lung, Chairman

Mr. Ng Yat Cheung, JP

Mr. Wong Ping Yuen

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, GBS, JP
(appointed on 1 October 2022)

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, GBS, JP, Chairman
(appointed on 1 October 2022)

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond
(re-designated from Chairman to a member
on 1 October 2022)

Mr. Yau Yuk Shing

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, GBS, JP
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond
(resigned on 1 October 2022)

Ms. Ng Yee Man, Fiona
(appointed on 1 October 2022)

2023 Annual Report 3

CORPORATE INFORMATION
REEHR

REZE®

RS E - TE

RAESLE  LFHT
TR E

BB A 0 GBS - AP+
(R—F=——F+H—HEZE)
RIGEE S

EREESY

ESE N SEHE  GBS © APt - TE
(R-_F=——F+HA—HEZ)

RIGE S
R=ZF=Z=ZF+H—H
AFEEHERKE)

BB WA

RERRK
BN S A - GBS - A FH+
RIS
NEWE

RimFERE
(R=—F=——4F+H—HEFI)
REELt
(R=—F-——F+HA—-HAEZE)




China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

CORPORATE INFORMATION
DREFR

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

LEGAL ADVISERS

Hong Kong Law: DLA Piper Hong Kong
PRC Law: King & Wood Mallesons

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited

Guilin Bank Co., Ltd.

Ping An Bank Co., Ltd.

Qinzhou Metro Area Rural Credit Cooperatives

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Suite 3202, 32/F, Skyline Tower
39 Wang Kwong Road
Kowloon Bay

Kowloon

Hong Kong

B BLEm

BE et =K AR AR
HEGRTED

EEREE

BEEE  BEEMEEA
FRBAE - S EMESAT
FEARELT

AR ZERITRODABR AT
FRESRITRY D B R A A
RBIFITRDBR AR EEDIT
FREIRTTIRD B R A F
EMRITID B R A )
FLIRITRD AR AT
FUNTHER BH {5 B4 rER AL
BB FBESRITAERAT

GRS

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

HMMEERBTBIEERMR

BB

JLEE
NLEEE

7RI 395

RRES3I2E3202E



—E-=FER

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER AGENT

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th Floor North

Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

LISTING INFORMATION
Shares Listing

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Code: 0149

Notes Listing

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
The Company'’s 1% notes due 2024
Stock Code: 5755

HOMEPAGE

http://www.cnagri-products.com

2023 Annual Report

CORPORATE INFORMATION
REEHR

RIDBFERE
R

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th Floor North

Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

EBRDAS
ERHE

BEBEELZERAA
BB

BRE 165
REReEPIT7E

EHEH

Bfr L
EEMAERZIBER AT
SR - 0149

EE LW

EEBARIIAERAT
RANTZ ZEZMER E1%ERE
R& 1D 3% : 5755

4911t

http://www.cnagri-products.com




6 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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Dedicated to developang Agrerculture

Sincere an servang Agrrculture

M/\%@gﬁ %% M/\/‘ %l}?}%j

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Director(s)") of
China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), | am pleased to present to our
shareholders the annual report for the year ended 31 March 2023 (the
“Year” or the “year under review”). During the Year, the Group recorded
a turnover of approximately HK$596 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$273 million as compared to that of the last financial
year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Previous Year”).
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The Group has built a nationwide chain of wholesale markets and a
network of modern agricultural produce logistics center, linking the
southern and northern regions and across the eastern and south-western
parts of the PRC. During the Year, the Group managed a total of eleven
agricultural produce exchange markets in mainland China, covering
Wuhan, Huangshi, Suizhou, Luoyang, Puyang, Kaifeng, Yulin, Qinzhou,
Xuzhou, Huai'an and Panjin, with business spreading across various
provinces, including Hubei Province, Henan Province, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, Jiangsu Province and Liaoning Province.

NATIONAL POLICIES

2023 is the starting year for PRC to comprehensively implement the
spirit of the 20th National Congress of the Communist Party of China,
and it is also the starting year for accelerating the construction of a
strong agricultural country. It is utmost important to ensure the stable
and secured supply of food and key agricultural products. Agricultural
and rural departments and rural revitalization departments at all
levels are fully implementing the spirit of the 20th National Congress
of the Communist Party of China as well as the spirit of the Central
Economic Work Conference and the Central Rural Work Conference
by accelerating the establishment of a new development paradigm,
focusing on the promotion of high-quality development. We will adhere
to priority development of agriculture and rural areas, promote the
integrated development of urban and rural area, anchor the goal of
building a strong agricultural country and make every effort to ensure
the two bottom lines of national food security and prevention of large-
scale poverty. Key tasks such as rural development, rural construction,
and rural governance are solidly promoted for the comprehensive
advancement of rural revitalization and acceleration of agricultural
and rural modernization, to achieve a good start in building a modern
socialist country comprehensively with a solid foundation.
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China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFE®E

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

During the Year, the Group has maintained a proactive attitude despite
facing numerous difficulties in its business development. As a leading
agricultural product logistics operator in mainland China, the Group
strives to reduce costs and enhance efficiency by optimizing the
electronic operation model and promoting the modern agricultural
product wholesale market business. Since 2018, the Group has
successfully adopted the use of its self-developed ERP management
platform (enterprise resource management system) at its eleven
agricultural produce exchange markets which not only standardized
management processes, but also greatly improved management
efficiency and saved labor costs. In the past year, the Group has made
every effort to promote the informatization of agricultural produce
exchange markets, transforming the traditional market into a modern
and digital smart agricultural product wholesale city. In addition,
the Group utilizes an electronic transaction settlement platform
and a modern leasing management system to effectively reduce
communication, approval and operating costs. In terms of e-commerce
business model, the Group has adopted the “contactless sales” approach
to realize the connection between production and sales. This not only
reduces circulation costs, but also effectively controls costs and increases
efficiency, thereby maintaining the Group’s competitive advantages.

The comprehensive cold chain circulation rate of fresh agricultural
products in the PRC is only 19%, which still has a certain gap compared
with the average cold chain circulation rate of over 90% in developed
countries. Fresh food suffers significant losses during the circulation
process. To reduce the rate of spoilage, the Group will boost the
development and construction of cold chains, cold storage, logistics
warehouses and other supporting facilities in existing market cities,
Greater Bay area cities and provincial capital cities. Benefiting from the
support of national policies, the Group firmly believes that the cold
storage industry will have a great potential development with the
improvement of the PRC’s economy and consumption level of people.

Besides, the Group actively expands new business sales channels by
leveraging its eleven agricultural produce exchange markets across the
country, enjoying advantages of source resources, channel resources,
circulation service resources and retail resources in various places of
origin. It aims to establish a food supply business segment supplying
food to restaurants, supermarkets and fresh markets in Hong Kong,
thereby increasing the Group’s sources of income.
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OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, although the business environment is still full of
challenges, the Group is confident to further consolidate its market
position, drive business development and achieve sustained profit
growth through the implementation of a comprehensive agricultural
produce exchange market information system, continuous optimization
of profitable model, active exploration of new markets and diversified
market management model. In addition, the Group adopts an asset-light
business strategy, which creates greater added value for the wholesale
market business through a series of modern management systems,
thereby maximizing the return on investment for shareholders.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Over the years, the Group has been committed to participating in
community affairs and supporting various public welfare and charity
projects. During the Year, the Group has donated a total of approximately
HK$6.29 million worth of supplies to various charitable organizations
in PRC and the local community. The Group has also spared no effort
in poverty alleviation work for the country, such as donating essential
supplies like cooking oil and rice, to support impoverished households
and uphold the traditional virtue of helping those in need. Furthermore,
it is noteworthy that the Group has always prioritized food safety
management by providing food safety management training to
employees on a regular basis. We are committed to improving the
overall food safety management awareness and level in the market.

APPRECIATION

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to the customers, business partners, shareholders, bondholders
and employees for their strong support to the Group over the past
year. | would also like to express my heartfelt thanks to the Board, the
management team and employees at all levels for their dedication and
loyalty, without which the Group would not be able to achieve such
outstanding results. The Group will continue to uphold the motto of
“dedicated to developing agriculture with sincere in serving agriculture”
to enhance overall efficiency and effectiveness.

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWmR D

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS

Turnover, gross profit and segment result

For the year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Year”), the Group recorded
a turnover of approximately HK$596 million, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$273 million as compared to that of the last
financial year ended 31 March 2022. The below table summarises the
key financial performance of the Group:

BER - EFROEFEE

HE - ZT-_=€=F=1+—-BIFE(XE
E) - ANEEE L EE4)596,000,000/8 7T &
HE-T-—F=A=+—HIt HEHBEER
1>47273,000,00078 70 ° AEE 2 FBEIERIEM
R

For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
BE-B-=# BE-_ZT-—F
ZA=t+-BLEE ZA=t-BILFE
Agricultural Agricultural
Produce Produce
Exchange Exchange
HKS$ million Market  Property Market Property
and approximate % BEERRBAED L Operation Sales Total  Operation Sales Total
REREM REREm
RXETE  NEEE #wx R5mE  DEHE st
Turnover = 427 169 596 450 419 869
Gross Profit E7 287 44 331 304 152 456
Segment Result NEEE 167 33 200 213 91 304
Gross Profit to Turnover EREERBZAD Y 67% 26% 56% 68% 36% 52%
Segment Result to Turnover AHRENERE AN 39% 20% 34% 47% 22% 35%

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$596 million for
the Year, representing a decrease of approximately 31% as compared
to approximately HK$869 million of the last financial year, which
was mainly due to decrease in property sales recognition during
the Year. The Group recorded a gross profit and a segment result of
approximately HK$331 million and approximately HK$200 million,
respectively, for the Year (2022: approximately HK$456 million
and approximately HK$304 million, respectively), representing a
decrease of approximately 27% and a decrease of approximately
34%, respectively, as compared to that of the last financial year. The
decrease in gross profit and segment result was mainly due to the
decrease in property sales recognition during the Year.

REBRAFEHGE E5E4596,000,000%
JC ¢ 8% _E{E B ERAF S 49869,000,00078 TTIR A 4
31% * TE2HRAFEBRROMEHEES B LT
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F 5 54)456,000,00078 7T &% 49304,000,00078
70) B EEFRFEE DRI L27% KB D&
34% c EFIRDEAEER L ETEHNAFERER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other revenue and other net income

The Group recorded other revenue and other net income of
approximately HK$25 million for the Year (2022: approximately
HK$27 million). The decrease was mainly due to decrease in bank
and other interest income.

Gain on litigation judgment

The Group recorded no gain or loss on litigation judgment for
the Year as compared to such gain in the last financial year in the
amount of approximately HK$49 million.

General and administrative expenses, selling expenses and
finance costs

General and administrative expenses were approximately HK$164
million for the Year (2022: approximately HK$149 million). The
increase was mainly due to the increase in new business preparation
cost including but not limited to salary, travelling and others, during
the Year. Selling expenses were approximately HK$47 million for the
Year (2022: approximately HK$61 million). The decrease in selling
expenses was mainly due to the decrease in sales recognition and
the related sales and promotion activities during the Year. Finance
costs were approximately HK$118 million for the Year (2022:
approximately HK$132 million), and such decrease was mainly due
to decrease of the financial cost of the convertible bonds during the
Year.

Allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other
receivables and loan receivables

The Group recorded allowance for expected credit losses on trade
and other receivables and loan receivables of approximately HK$3
million for the Year (2022: approximately HK$3 million).

Net loss in fair value of investment properties and written down
of stock of properties

During the Year, net loss in fair value change of investment
properties was approximately HK$5 million (2022: net loss in fair
value of investment properties of approximately HK$53 million). The
net loss was mainly due to decrease in fair value of Wuhan Baisazhou
Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Wuhan Baisazhou
Market”). Stock of properties value has been written down of
approximately HK$6 million for the Year (2022: Nil).

Loss on fair value change of derivative financial instruments

During the Year, loss on fair value change of derivative financial
instruments was approximately HK$0.2 million (2022: loss of
approximately HK$0.1 million). The increase of the net loss was
mainly due to the loss on fair value change of put options.
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China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWmR D

Income tax

Income tax was approximately HK$9 million for the Year (2022:
approximately HK$69 million). The decrease was mainly due to
the decrease in tax provision arising from lower assessable profits,
particularly, as a result of the decrease in property sales and decrease
in gain on litigation judgment, and over-provision recognised during
the Year. In addition, decrease in tax provision arising from capital
reduction of a subsidiary also cause the significant drop of income
tax for the Year.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company

The profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Year
was approximately HKS7 million as compared to the profit of
approximately HK$6 million in the last financial year. Profit from
operations before fair value changes and impairment, interest and
tax was approximately HK$145 million and the profit from operations
was approximately HK$146 million for the Year (2022: approximately
HK$322 million and approximately HK$238 million, respectively). The
increase in profit attributable to owners of the Company was mainly
due to the decrease in net loss in fair value of investment properties
and loss on disposal of financial assets at FVTOCI and offsetted by
the combined effect of a number of items, including (but not limited)
the decrease in property sales recognition and no gain on litigation
judgment as compared to the last financial year.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend any payment of final dividend for
the Year (2022: Nil). No interim dividend was paid to the shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”) for the six months ended 30
September 2022 (30 September 2021: Nil).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

During the Year, the Group was principally engaged in management
and sales of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets
in the PRC. Since the early 2023, the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (the
“COVID-19") epidemic phased out and the PRC government lifted
the relevant control measures. This helps to boost the weakened
economy, and has a positive effect on the Group’s performance. To
cope with the future growth, the Group has actively been studying
and evaluating various business opportunities. During the Year, the
Group incurred some costs for preparing new business. The new
business is expected to, upon launch, help diversify the income
streams of the Group and to deliver long-term benefits to the
Shareholders.
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EEENWE N

Agricultural Produce Exchange Markets

EEMRXHME

l%@

Hubei Province

Wuhan Baisazhou Market

Wuhan Baisazhou Market is one of the largest agricultural produce
exchange operators in the PRC. Wuhan Baisazhou Market is situated
in the Hongshan District of Wuhan City, the PRC with a site area of
approximately 310,000 square metres and one of the most notable
agricultural products market in Hubei Province. Wuhan Baisazhou
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China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR DA

Market was awarded top 50 of agricultural produce exchange market
by China Agricultural Wholesale Market Association. The award was
a sign to the market contribution being made by the Group’s effort
and expertise as an agricultural produce exchange market operator
in the PRC. Rental income from properties letting is the major
income generated from Wuhan Baisazhou Market.

The COVID-19 epidemic phased out since the beginning of 2023.
During the Year, the epidemic did not cause significant effect on this
market which was able to remain in normal operations.
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Huangshi Market

Huangshi Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
(“Huangshi Market”) is a joint venture project of the Group
founded in January 2015 with an operating area of approximately
23,000 square metres. Huangshi city is a county level city in Hubei
and around 100 kilometres away from Wuhan Baisazhou Market.
Huangshi Market, as a second-tier agricultural produce exchange
market, created synergy effect with Wuhan Baisazhou Market,
facilitating vegetables and by-products trading. During the Year, the
operation performance of Huangshi Market was steady.

Suizhou Market

Suizhou Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
(“Suizhou Market”) is another joint venture project of the Group
founded in March 2018. It occupied approximately 240,000 square
metres. The Group pursued asset-light operation business model by
taking up the contract management rights to operate this market.
During the Year, the turnover of Suizhou Market increased by
approximately 11% as compared to that of the last financial year.

Henan Province

Luoyang Market

Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
(“Luoyang Market”) is the flagship project of the Group in Henan
Province, the PRC, with a site area of approximately 255,000 square
metres. The turnover decreased by approximately 52% due to the
decrease of properties sale recognition during the Year as compared
to that of the last financial year.

Puyang Market

Puyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
(“Puyang Market”) is one of our joint venture projects in cooperation
with a local partner in Henan Province, the PRC. During the Year,
Puyang Market faced keen competition from a new market. The
turnover increased by approximately 33% due to the improvement
in agricultural products transaction commission during the Year as
compared to that of the last financial year.

Kaifeng Market

Kaifeng Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
(“Kaifeng Market”), with a gross floor construction area of
approximately 140,000 square metres, is the Group’s third market
operation point for the facilitation of the building of an agricultural
produce market network in Henan Province, the PRC. During the
Year, the turnover of Kaifeng Market decreased by approximately
31% from that of the last financial year due to the decrease of
properties sale recognition as compared to that of last financial year.
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Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region

Yulin Market

Yulin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Yulin
Market") is one of the largest agricultural produce exchange markets
in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (“Guangxi Region”) with
a site area of approximately 415,000 square metres. The turnover of
Yulin Market decreased by approximately 46% due to the decrease
of properties sale recognition during the Year as compared to that of
the last financial year.

Qinzhou Market

Qinzhou Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
(“Qinzhou Market”), with a gross floor construction area of
approximately 180,000 square metres, is the Group’s second market
operation point for the facilitation of the building of an agricultural
produce market network in the Guangxi Region. The operation
performance of Qinzhou Market was steady during the Year.

Jiangsu Province

Xuzhou Market

Xuzhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Xuzhou
Market”) occupies approximately 200,000 square metres and is
located in the northern part of Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The
turnover of Xuzhou Market decreased by approximately 3% as
compared to that of the last financial year.

Huai’an Market

Huai’an Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
(“Huai’an Market”), occupies approximately 100,000 square metres,
is located at Huai'an City of Jiangsu Province, the PRC. Phase one
of Huai’an Market had been in operation and it is expected that the
transaction volume of Huai’an Market will gradually improve after
the market becomes more mature.

Liaoning Province

Panjin Market

Panjin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
(“Panjin Market”), with a construction area of around 50,000
square metres, is the Group’s first attempt in investment in Liaoning
Province, the PRC. Panjin Market focused on the trading of river
crabs and held regular market fairs. During the Year, the operation
performance of Panjin Market was steady. The operation turnover
decreased by approximately 4% as compared to that of the last
financial year.

E-commerce development

With the robust mobile network and widespread use of intelligent
mobile devices in the PRC, the Group allocated cost effective
resources to e-commerce development. The Group has launched
a new electronic trading platform for energising the efficiency of
agricultural products market. At the moment, the Group would take
cautious cost control in electronic trading platform development.
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Cyber risk and security

With information technology system and internet network playing
vital roles in its operation, the Group has designated professionals
to monitor and assess potential cyber risks. Both hardware and
software are kept track with appropriate company policies. Potential
cyber risks and network security is one of the key concerns of
the management, thus the Group has formulated policies and
procedures to regulate the use of internet, to physically safeguard
system power supply and to regularly update internet protection
system and firewall to separate the intranet of the Group from
outside network. Designated professionals are responsible for the
day-to-day monitoring on any abnormal network activities.

Data fraud or theft risk

The Group continuously reviews and updates its internal control
system on data and information access. Appropriate policies have
been adopted to protect data, and access permissions are only
granted to the authorised personnel. The management believes the
existing policies and procedures have been effectively put in place
to avoid data fraud or theft risk.

Environmental and social risk

Due to the nature of the business, the Group will face a moderate
environmental risk in case there in severe and permanent climate
change across the PRC. Such risk may have an adverse impact on
agricultural production and affect the turnover of the Group in
market operation and property sales.

Effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group's business

From the beginning of 2023, the PRC government has lifted
various COVID-19 containment measures. The impacts of the
COVID-19 pandemic phased out on the operations and the financial
performance of the Group during the Year. However, the Group's
markets continued implementing various measures to maintain the
markets’ hygiene controls.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had total cash and cash equivalents
amounting to approximately HK$312 million (31 March 2022:
approximately HK$440 million) whilst total assets and net assets
were approximately HK$4,915 million (31 March 2022: approximately
HK$5,491 million) and approximately HK$2,127 million (31 March
2022: approximately HK$2,352 million), respectively. The Group’s
gearing ratio as at 31 March 2023 was approximately 0.5 (31
March 2022: approximately 0.4), being a ratio of (i) total bank and
other borrowings and bonds of approximately HK$1,402 million
(31 March 2022: approximately HK$1,492 million), net of cash
and cash equivalents of approximately HK$312 million (31 March
2022: approximately HK$440 million) to (ii) shareholders’ funds of
approximately HK$2,127 million (31 March 2022: approximately
HK$2,352 million).
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As at 31 March 2023, the ratio of total interest-bearing debts of
approximately HK$1,402 million (31 March 2022: approximately
HK$1,492 million) to total assets of approximately HK$4,915 million
(31 March 2022: approximately HK$5,491 million) was approximately
29% (31 March 2022: approximately 27%).

LISTED NOTES DUE IN 2024 (“LISTED NOTES”)
AND PARTIAL REPURCHASE DURING THE YEAR

In May 2014, the Company established a HK$1,000,000,000 medium
term note program. The Listed Notes issued under the program are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) by way of debt issue to professional investors only (stock
code: 5755). As at 31 March 2023, the Listed Notes in the principal
amount of HK$150 million (31 March 2022: HK$290 million) remained
outstanding after the repurchase and cancellation in the principal
amount of HK$140 million during the Year. Carrying value of the
Listed Notes was approximately HK$124 million (31 March 2022:
approximately HK$217 million).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS, PLEDGES AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2023, outstanding capital commitments, contracted
but not provided for, amounted to approximately HK$224 million
(31 March 2022: approximately HK$272 million) in relation to the
purchase of property, plant and equipment, construction contracts
and operating lease agreements. As at 31 March 2023, the Group
had significant contingent liabilities in the amount of approximately
HK$328,000 in relation to the guarantees provided by a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company to our customers in favor of a
bank for the loans provided by the bank to the customers of our
project (31 March 2022: no significant contingent liabilities).

As at 31 March 2023, certain investment properties, stock of
properties and bank deposits with carrying amount of approximately
HK$2,166 million (31 March 2022: approximately HK$1,987 million
for investment properties, stock of properties and bank deposits)
were pledged to secure certain bank borrowings.

The Group did not have any outstanding foreign exchange contracts,
interest or currency swaps or other financial derivatives as at 31
March 2023. The revenue, operating costs and bank deposits of the
Group were mainly denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and Hong
Kong dollars. The activities of the Group are exposed to foreign
currency risks mainly arising from its operations in mainland China
and certain bank deposits denominated in RMB. Currently, the Group
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. During the Year,
due to the currency fluctuation of RMB against Hong Kong dollars,
the Group had been considering, from time to time, alternative risk
hedging tools to mitigate RMB currency exchange risk.
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DEBT PROFILES AND FINANCIAL PLANNING

As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, interest-bearing debts of
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the Group were analyzed as follows: + C AEERFEEB ST
As at 31 March 2023 As at 31 March 2022
R-B-=%=A=+-—H RZEBE-__F=H=+—H
Approximate Approximate
Carrying effective Carrying effective
amount interest rate amount interest rate
B4 LAY
RREE BRFI= REE T IRA =
HKS$ million  (per annum) HKS million (per annum)
HEBETRT (BF) BEBT (B%)
Listed Notes ore” FrEReE) 124 12% 217 12%
Financial Institution Borrowings ™™ £ B i#E {5 & () 882 5% 699 6%
Non-financial Institution FERBEBEE W
Borrowings (™ 396 10% 576 10%
Total it 1,402 1,492
Notes: Bfet -

the Listed Notes which were made in Hong Kong dollars with fixed
interest rates;

other items as mentioned in the above table were made in Hong Kong
dollars and RMB with fixed and floating interest rates.

As at 31 March 2023, the Listed Notes issued by the Company will
mature in September 2024; the financial institution borrowings of
the Company will mature during the period from May 2023 to May
2029 (31 March 2022: May 2022 to May 2029); the non-financial
institution borrowings of the Company will mature during the period
from April 2023 to May 2027 (31 March 2022: September 2022).

TREASURY POLICY

The Group’s treasury policy includes diversifying the funding
sources. Internally generated cash flow and interest-bearing
bank/non-financial institution loans were the general sources of
funds to finance the operation of the Group during the Year. The
Group regularly reviews its major funding positions to ensure
that it has adequate financial resources in meeting its financial
obligations. In order to meet interest-bearing debts and business
capital expenditure, the Group from time to time considers various
alternatives including equity and debt financing including but not
limited to new share placing, rights issues of new shares, financial
institution borrowings, non-financial institution borrowings, bonds
issuance, convertible notes, other debt financial instruments,
disposal of investment properties and sales of stock of properties.
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MATERIAL VALUATION METHOD OF
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND REVIEW OF
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The investment properties of the Group were stated at fair value as at
31 March 2023. The fair value was arrived at based on the valuations
carried out by an independent firm of qualified professional valuers.
The professional valuers are professional members of The Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors with experience in the location of the
properties being valued. The valuations are confirmed to be in
accordance with HKIS Valuation Standards 2020, which incorporates
the International Valuation Standards (IVS). The professional valuers
valued the properties on the basis of capitalisation of the net income
derived from the properties rental and made reference to the asking
or transaction price of market comparable. For vacant site and
inventory portions of the properties, Direct Comparison Method is
adopted based on the principle of substitution, where comparison is
made based on prices realised on actual sales and/or asking prices of
comparable properties. Comparable properties of similar size, scale,
nature, character and location are analysed and carefully weighed
against all the respective advantages and disadvantages of each
property in order to arrive at a fair comparison of market value.

The material valuation methods of investment properties valuation
have been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) and the Board.

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO OUR INDUSTRY
AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group operated 11 agricultural produce
exchange markets across five provinces in the PRC. In view of the
ever-changing business environment in the PRC, the following are
the principal risks, challenges and uncertainties faced by the Group,
including:

(1) fluctuation in the exchange rate of RMB against Hong Kong
dollars, which affects the translation of the PRC assets and
liabilities from RMB to Hong Kong dollars in the Group’s
financial reporting, in which the Group periodically monitors
the exchange rate fluctuation, and prepares effective hedging
mechanism to deal with adverse conditions in forex market, if
necessary;

(2)  difficulty in obtaining adequate financing, in both equity and
debt financing, to support our agri-products exchange markets
that are capital intensive in nature. The Group regularly
reviews the short-term and long-term liquidity level and
prepare for the future capital need, as and when appropriate;
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(3) difficulty in preserving or enhancing our competitive position
in the agri-products exchange markets industry, in which
the Group has designated personnel to monitor the market
activities of competitors and formulate effective strategies to
preserve our competitive position;

(4) difficulty in maintaining or enhancing the level of occupancy
in our agri-products exchange markets, in which the Group
launches, from time to time, various marketing campaigns to
retain existing tenants and to attract new tenants;

(5) challenges in obtaining promptly all necessary licenses
and permits for development, construction, operations
and acquisition of agri-products exchange markets. The
Group hires sufficient local staff members with professional
qualifications to ensure all processes complying with local
rules and regulations; and

(6) to the effect of regulatory changes and amendments relating
to agri-products exchange markets which affect operation
and development of the Group, in both the national and
local levels. The Group maintains a relatively flat organization
structure and a high autonomous level to enable quick
response to any changes in different aspects.

DEPENDENCE OF EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group is adopting market remuneration practices by
reference to market terms, company performance, and individual
qualifications and performance and well-organized structure
management, no key and specific employee would materially and
significantly affect the Group’s success. Meanwhile, there were no
major customers and suppliers which accounted for over 5% of the
Group'’s income and no major suppliers which cannot be replaced
by other appropriate suppliers. In this connection, no customers and
suppliers would have a material impact on the success of the Group’s
business performance.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The operations and development of agri-products exchange markets
are subject to a variety of environmental laws and regulations
during their construction and operations. Major environmental
impacts are caused by waste and wastewater generated during
the construction and operations of the markets. The Group has, in
compliance with the PRC environmental law, engaged independent
environmental consultants to conduct environmental impact
assessments on all our construction projects in all material aspects.
The environmental investigations conducted to date have not
revealed any environmental liability that would be expected to
have a material adverse effect on our business condition. Upon
completion of construction of each market, the environmental
authorities inspect the site to ensure compliance with all applicable
environmental standards. All our construction projects comply with
the “three simultaneities” principles stipulated in the Environmental
Protection Law of the PRC. For further details of the impact of
environmental laws and regulations on our operations and our
environmental policies, please refer to our Environmental, Social and
Governance Report, which will be uploaded on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company in due course.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Year, the Group complied in material aspects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. The Company also complied
with the requirements under The Rules Governing of the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), the Securities
and Futures Ordinance and the laws of Bermuda during the Year.
The Group continuously reviews newly enacted laws and regulations
affecting the operations of the Group, if any, and provides relevant
trainings and guidance to the staff.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
MASTER LICENSING AGREEMENT

On 1 October 2022, WOG and the Group entered into a master
licensing agreement which sets out the general principles and key
terms governing the definitive licensing agreements under which
relevant members of the WOG may grant license of, and the Group
may take up the license of the premises from 1 October 2022 to 30
September 2025. Details were disclosed in the joint announcement
of the Company, WYT and WOG dated 1 October 2022.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no significant investment held, nor was there any material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
during the Year. As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have
any concrete plan for material investments or capital assets nor
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

LITIGATION

References were made to the announcements of the Company dated
11 January 2011, 22 May 2012, 19 June 2014, 4 July 2014, 13 January
2015, 14 January 2015, 28 May 2015, 8 January 2016, 11 January
2016, 24 May 2016, 31 August 2016, 19 April 2017, 11 May 2017, 27
December 2018, 11 March 2020 and 30 March 2021 in relation to
the civil proceedings (the “Legal Proceedings”) in the PRC initiated
by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (“Ms. Wang”) and Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial
and Commercial Development Co., Ltd (“Tian Jiu") as plaintiffs
against the Company as defendant and joined Wuhan Baisazhou
Agricultural By-Product Grand Market Company Limited (“Baisazhou
Agricultural”) as third party and other related legal proceedings.

Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu alleged that the share transfer agreements
in relation to the acquisition of an aggregate of 90% interest in
Baisazhou Agricultural by the Company from Ms. Wang as to
70% thereof and Tian Jiu as to 20% thereof (the “Contended
Agreements”) were forged. They sought an order from the Higher
People’s Court of Hubei Province, the PRC (the “Hubei Court”)
that the Contended Agreements were void and invalid from the
beginning and should be terminated and claimed against the
Company and Baisazhou Agricultural all relevant profits of Baisazhou
Agricultural which were attributable to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu,
together with costs of the Legal Proceedings.
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The Company received the judgment from the Hubei Court in
relation to the Legal Proceedings (the “Hubei Court Judgment”) in
June 2014. By the Hubei Court Judgment, the Hubei Court dismissed
the claims of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu, and ordered Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu to bear the legal costs of the Legal Proceedings. Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu filed an appeal notice to the Supreme People’s Court of
the PRC (the “Supreme Court”). On 13 January 2015, the Company
received the judgment (the “Beijing Judgment”) handed down from
the Supreme Court in relation to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu's appeal
against the Hubei Court Judgment. The Supreme Court ordered
that (i) the Hubei Court Judgment be revoked; (ii) the Contended
Agreements were void; and (iii) acknowledged that the HK$1,156
million sale and purchase agreement (the “SPA") shall be the actual
agreement being performed by the Company, Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu.

In May 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu jointly commenced legal
proceedings against the Ministry of Commerce (“MOFCOM") of
the PRC alleging that MOFCOM failed to discharge its statutory
duties for handling their application submitted in January 2015 for
revoking the certificate of approval and letter of approval in relation
to the Contended Agreements (the “Application”). The cases
were accepted by the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court
(the “Beijing Court”) in May 2015. The Company and Baisazhou
Agricultural then made an application to join the cases as third
party. On 8 January 2016, the Company received a judgment dated
31 December 2015 issued by the Beijing Court, by which the Beijing
Court demanded MOFCOM to handle the Application again within
30 days.

On 23 May 2016, the Company received a decision (the “Decision”)
issued by MOFCOM dated 19 May 2016 to the effect, among other
things, that its approval issued in November 2007 (the “Approval”)
in relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be revoked
and shall remain to be in force. In making the Decision, MOFCOM
considered that the revocation of the Approval as requested by Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu may cause serious damage to the public interest.

Upon the making of the Decision by MOFCOM that the Approval
shall not be revoked and shall remain in force in August 2016, the
Company noted that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu had brought another
administrative proceedings (the “Administrative Proceedings”) to
the Beijing Court. According to a writ dated 3 August 2016, Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu requested the Beijing Court to revoke the Decision
and to order MOFCOM to make a decision to revoke the Approval.
According to a notice issued by the Beijing Court dated 26 August
2016 together with the writ which was served to the Company on 30
August 2016, each of the Company and Baisazhou Agricultural has
been added as third party by the Beijing Court to the Administrative
Proceedings.
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On 18 April 2017, the Company received the judgment of the Beijing
Court dated 31 March 2017 (the “31 March Judgment”) stating
that the request made by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu to revoke the
Decision lacked both legal and factual basis and was not supported
by the Beijing Court. Accordingly, the Beijing Court dismissed the
application of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

On 10 May 2017, the Company received a notice of appeal dated
8 May 2017 (the “Notice of Appeal”). By the Notice of Appeal, Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu appealed against the 31 March Judgment and
requested for an order that (a) the 31 March Judgment be set aside
and (b) MOFCOM to make a decision to revoke the Approval.

On 30 August 2017, the hearing for the appeal against the 31 March
Judgment took place. On 24 December 2018, the Company received
the judgment of the Beijing High People’s Court dated 20 December
2018 (the “20 December Judgment”). By the 20 December
Judgment, the Beijing High People’s Court dismissed the appeal of
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu and upheld the ruling of the Beijing Court as
set out in the 31 March Judgment.

On 4 March 2020, the Company noted the judgment of the Supreme
Court dated 31 December 2019 (the “31 December Judgment”).
By the 31 December Judgment, the Supreme Court dismissed the
application of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu for retrial and for dismissal of
the 31 March Judgment and the 20 December Judgment.

In other words, the approval issued by MOFCOM in November 2007
in relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be revoked and
remain to be in force, and the Company continues to be the legal
and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural under the PRC Laws.

On or about 24 October 2011, the Company issued a Writ of
Summons in the Hong Kong Court of First Instance (the “HK Court”)
against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu. The Company (as purchaser) sought
damages from Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (as vendors) for their breach
of various provisions of the SPA regarding the acquisition of the
interest in Baisazhou Agricultural.

On 18 January 2021, the Court handed down a judgment (“HK
Judgment”). Pursuant to the HK Judgment, the Court ruled, inter
alia, that (i) Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall pay to the Company
damages in the total sum of RMB510,000,001; (ii) the Company
is entitled to set-off an amount of HK$54,211,000 from the sum
due by the Company to Ms. Wang under one of the Instruments
(as defined hereinafter); (iii) as the quantum of the award of
damages to the Company is greater than the amounts due under
the two instruments (the “Instruments”) purportedly described as
promissory notes issued by the Company to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu
as part of consideration for the SPA, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu are not
allowed to enforce the Instruments against the Company. In the
circumstances, the Company is not required to make any payment
under the Instruments to Ms. Wang or Tian Jiu.
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On 20 April 2023, the Court ruled in respect of the total damages
that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall pay to the Company in respect of
the HK Judgment and ruled that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall pay to
the Company damages in the sum of HK$567,037,325.74, together
with interest thereon at judgment rate from 18 January 2021 until
payment.

The Company is seeking legal advice for the recovery of damages
against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

For other detailed information of the litigation cases, please refer
to note 36 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 12 April 2023, the Company repurchased outstanding Listed
Notes in an aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000 via open
market. The repurchased notes had been cancelled on 21 April 2023.
Details of repurchase were disclosed in the announcement dated 12
April 2023.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 1,116 employees (31 March
2022: 1,115), approximately 98% of whom were located in the
PRC. The Group’s remuneration policy was reviewed periodically
by the remuneration committee of the Company and the Board'’s
remuneration is determined by reference to market terms, company
performance, and individual qualifications and performance. The
Group aimed to recruit, retain and develop competent individuals
who were committed to the Group’s long-term success and growth.
Remuneration and other benefits of employees were reviewed
annually in response to both market conditions and trends, and
were based on qualifications, experience, responsibilities and
performance. The Company has adopted a new share option scheme
on 26 August 2022 for the primary purpose of rewarding eligible
participants and to encourage them to work towards enhancing
the value of the Company for the benefit of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.
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PROSPECTS

During the Year, the tension between the PRC and the United States
worsened and has slowed down the economic growth. However,
such friction has little impact on the Group’s operation which is
mainly focused on the domestic market. Looking ahead, the Group
will continue to build a nationwide agricultural produce exchange
network by leveraging on its leading position in the industry, readily
replicable business model, well-advanced management system,
information technology infrastructure and quality customer services.

Since the beginning of 2023, COVID-19 phased out, the local
governments have canceled most of the health and hygiene
measures imposed during the time. All of our agricultural produce
exchange markets followed but continued to implement a certain
level of health and hygiene measures as our competitive edges
against many local and less-sophisticated competitors. This also
helps us be better adopt to the post-pandemic market environment
as public health and hygiene become a major topic in the future.

Once again, agricultural development is the PRC central
government’s first priority policy for the next consecutive years.
In 2023, the Central Committee of Communist Party of China and
the State Council of China released the “No. 1 Central Document of
2023". The document vows to promote investments in agricultural
produce markets, expand the agricultural produce network, build
logistic infrastructure and storage facilities for agriculture products
and improve regional cold storage infrastructure. On the other hand,
it is expected that the “Belt and Road Initiative” policy will drive the
overall growth of the PRC economy and provide a sustainable way
for the PRC’s continuing development.

In order to capture new business opportunities, the Group has taken
further steps to expand its operations in the PRC by cooperating with
different partners with an “asset light” strategy. It has also explored
electronic platform development to capture the opportunity of
technology advancement in which the PRC government promotes
data economy. A further expansion of the CAP Group'’s scope to wet
market and trading is also being pursued with its leading position
in the industry, the Group is confident that its business strategy and
operation model will deliver long-term benefits to the Company and
its shareholders as a whole.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. TANG Ching Ho, GBS, JP, aged 61, joined the Group as a non-
executive director of the Group and the chairman of the Board in
February 2021, and was re-designated as an executive director of the
Group on 1 October 2022. He is also an authorised representative,
the chairman of the executive committee and a member of each
of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of
the Company. Mr. Tang is a co-founder of Wang On Group Limited
("WOG"), which was established in 1987, and has been the chairman
of WOG since November 1993. He is also an executive director of
WOG. He has extensive experience in corporate management. He
is also the chairman, managing director and an executive director
of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (“WYT", the Company
is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of WYT which in turn
is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of WOG). Mr. Tang is a
deputy director of the Committee on Education, Science, Health
and Sports of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference (“CPPCC"), a committee member
of the 12th to 14th National Committee of CPPCC and a standing
committee member and convener of the 10th to 13th Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region Committee of CPPCC. Mr. Tang is also
appointed as the first executive chairman of the Federation of Hong
Kong Guangdong Community Organisations and the chairman of
Federation of Hong Kong Shenzhen Associations. He is a controlling
shareholder of the Company and the brother-in-law of Mr. Yau Yuk
Shing, an executive Director.
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Mr. LEUNG Sui Wah, Raymond, aged 55, joined the Group as an
executive director of the Group in June 2010. Mr. Leung is also the
chief executive officer, an authorised representative, and a member
of each of the executive committee and the nomination committee
of the Company, and the chief executive officer of Hongjin Agri-
Products Group Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
He is responsible for overall management and supervision of
operations of the Group. Mr. Leung had over 30 years of experience
in business operation, business development, corporate governance,
mergers and acquisitions. He is accredited as Economist (Finance
and Taxation) by Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security
of the PRC. He is a vice president of China Agricultural Wholesale
Market Association and a council member of the Chinese Agri-
products Marketing Association. He holds a Bachelor Degree of
Social Science, a Master Degree in Business Administration and a
Master Degree of Arts from The Chinese University of Hong Kong,
The University of Hong Kong and City University of Hong Kong,
respectively. He is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
and The Chartered Governance Institute. He is also a full member
of Chartered Institute of Procurement and Supply and Certified
Information Security Manager of Information Systems Audit and
Control Association.

Mr. YAU Yuk Shing, aged 59, joined the Group in April 2012 and
was appointed as an executive director of the Group in December
2012. Mr. Yau is a member of the executive committee of the
Company. He has more than 28-year management experience in
property development, engineering and construction businesses.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yau worked for certain companies
with a wide spread of experience in real estate industry and project
management. Mr. Yau is the brother-in-law of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the
executive Director and the controlling shareholder of the Company.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. NG Yat Cheung, JP, aged 67, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director in February 2009. He is the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of each
of the audit committee and the nomination committee of the
Company. He holds an associate degree in arts in business data
processing from Chabot College in the United States. He holds
offices as a director with a number of private companies which
are principally engaged in technology, property development,
insurance, finance and property holding. Mr. Ng is an independent
non-executive director of Tao Heung Holdings Limited (stock code:
573), a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. LAU King Lung, aged 76, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director in May 2013. He is the chairman
of the nomination committee and a member of each of the audit
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company.
Mr. Lau has over 42 years’ experience in planning, design and
contracting of civil engineering and building works. Mr. Lau is a
chartered engineer with his profession registration both in the
United Kingdom and Hong Kong. He remains a retirement member
of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers after his retirement. He
participated in the design of the initial systems of the Mass Transit
Railway in Hong Kong after his graduation from civil engineering
department of Imperial College, University of London for 6 years
with Freeman Fox and Partners, London.

Mr. WONG Ping Yuen, aged 49, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director in November 2018. He is the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of each of the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong has been a certified public accountant of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2001,
and obtained a Master Degree of Business Administration from the
University of Adelaide in August 2005. Mr. Wong was appointed as a
partner of ITA & Co. in 2009 and has changed to the sole-proprietor
of ITA & Co. since 2015. He has been a partner of SRF Partners & Co.
since 2014.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. WONG Ka Kit, aged 51, joined the Group in August 2009. He
is the chief operating officer (Guangxi Region) of the Group, the
chairman of Panjin Hongjin Agricultural By-Products Wholesale
Market Limited, Yulin Hongjin Logistics Development Limited and
Qinzhou Hongjin Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited
and a director of Yulin Hongjin Agricultural By-Products Wholesale
Market Limited, all of which are subsidiaries of the Group. He is
responsible for the business operations and sales in Guangxi Region,
Liaoning Province and Kaifeng City. Mr. Wong holds a Master Degree
in Business Administration from Hong Kong Baptist University and
a Bachelor (Hons) Degree in Accountancy from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, and is a member of the 6th Guangxi Yulin
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.
Mr. Wong has over 28 years of experience in general management
and finance.

Mr. YUNG Chi Hung, Quincy, aged 55, joined the Group in May
2018. He is the financial controller of the Group responsible for
finance and accounting matters. Mr. Yung holds a Master Degree
in Business Administration and a Bachelor Degree in Business
Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and the
University of Wisconsin-Madison, USA respectively. He is a member
of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yung
has over 24 years of experience in finance and accounting matters.

Mr. LEUNG Wai Kai, Ray, aged 48, joined the Group in April 2013.
He is the general manager of Human Resources Department of the
Group and is responsible for human resources management and
talent development. Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor Degree of Business
Administration in Human Resources Management from Hong Kong
Baptist University and he is a qualified Human Resources Professional
in the PRC. Mr. Leung has over 26 years of experience in human
resources.

Ms. NG Yee Man, Fiona, aged 54, joined the Group in March 2022.
She is the Company Secretary of the Company. Ms. Ng is a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
and The Chartered Governance Institute. She has over 25 years
of experience in finance, accounting and corporate secretarial
functions, including over 15 years of experience in handling listed
company secretarial and compliance related matters of Hong
Kong listed companies. She holds a Bachelor Degree of Commerce
(Accounting) from Curtin University of Technology, Australia. Before
joining the Group, Ms. Ng worked in various listed companies as
company secretary and financial controller.
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance within a sensible framework with a
strong emphasis on transparency, accountability, integrity and
independence and enhancing the Company’s competitiveness and
operating efficiency, to ensure its sustainable development and to
generate greater returns for the Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Compliance with Listing Rules and CG Code

The Board has reviewed the corporate governance practices of
the Company and is satisfied that the Company had applied the
principles and complied with the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the financial year ended
31 March 2023.

Code for Securities Transactions by Directors and Relevant
Employees

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors. Having made specific
enquiries of all Directors, the Directors confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the financial year under review.

To comply with code provision C.1.3 of the CG Code, the Company
has also adopted a written code of conduct regarding securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the Model Code by the
relevant employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who
are considered likely to be in possession of inside information in
relation to the Company or its securities.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
The Directors during the financial year under review and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Tang Ching Ho
Chairman
(re-designated from a non-executive director to
an executive director on 1 October 2022)
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond
Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Yau Yuk Shing
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Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung

Mr. Lau King Lung

Mr. Wong Ping Yuen

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 32 to
34 of this annual report.

Responsibilities

The Board’s primary functions are to set corporate policy and overall
strategy for the Group and to provide effective oversight of the
management of the Group’s business and affairs. It delegates day-
to-day operations of the Group to executive Directors and senior
management. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board
also approves, among others, strategic plans, key operational issues,
investments and loans, reviews the financial performance of the
Group and evaluates the performance and compensation of senior
management. These functions are either carried out directly by the
Board or indirectly through committees established by the Board.
Besides, the Board has delegated general powers to management to
deal with day-to-day management, administration and operations of
the Group. Appropriate insurance coverage in respect of legal action
against the Directors is arranged by the Company.

The Board possesses a balance of skills and experience which are
appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Company.
Save as Mr. Tang, an executive Director, is the brother-in-law of Mr.
Yau Yuk Shing, an executive Director, none of the Directors have any
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships
with each other. The opinions raised by the independent non-
executive Directors at the meetings of the Board facilitate the
maintenance of good corporate governance practices. The Board has
three independent non-executive Directors, representing more than
one-third of the Board, and at least one of the independent non-
executive Directors has the appropriate professional qualification
and accounting and related financial management expertise as
required by Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules. A balanced
composition of executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors also ensures a strong independent element on the Board,
which allows for an independent and objective decision-making
process for the best interests of the Company. The Company will
review the composition of the Board regularly to ensure the Board
possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise, skills and
experience to meet the needs of the Group’s business with due
regard for the benefits of diversity, as set out in the diversity policy
adopted by the Board.
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All Directors (including both executive and independent non-
executive) are appointed without specific term, but are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years at the
Company’s annual general meetings in accordance with the bye-laws
of the Company. The non-executive Directors’ terms of office will
be renewed automatically after the re-election, unless prematurely
terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions specified in
the respective letters of appointment, the bye-laws of the Company,
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and the Listing Rules.

All independent non-executive Directors are free from any business
or other relationship with the Company. Each independent non-
executive Director is required to inform the Company as soon as
practicable if there is any change in his own personal particulars
that may affect his independence. No such notification was received
during the financial year under review. The Company has also
received from each of the existing independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company continues to consider
the three independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

The Board meets at least four times a year with additional meetings
arranged, as and when necessary, has a schedule of matters
reserved for its review and approval. The specific responsibility
reserved for the Board includes matters in relation to, among
others, determining strategies and objectives of the Group,
monitoring the overall management and operation of the Group,
reviewing capital, corporate and control structures, ensuring
financial reporting, risk management and internal control measures,
determining major capital projects and contracts, including material
acquisitions, disposals and other significant potential investments,
communication with the Shareholders, determining the Board
composition, the appointment of company secretary and auditors,
evaluating the effectiveness of internal controls, reviewing adequacy
of resources, qualification and experience of staff, delegation of
authority to committees and reviewing the Group’s overall corporate
governance arrangements. The chairman of the Board also met the
independent non-executive directors without the presence of other
Directors during the year under review.

Save as those matters mentioned above, the Board has delegated
general powers to management to deal with day-to-day
management, administration and operations of the Group. At
the same time, management will provide with the Board and its
committees with adequate information, in a timely manner, to
enable it to make informed decisions.

At least 14 days’ notice for each regular meeting is given to all
Directors. Agendas accompanying Board papers are sent to all
Directors 3 days before the date of a regular meeting of the Board
to ensure that the Directors are given sufficient time to review the
same. All minutes of the meetings of the Board and its committee
are kept by the company secretary of the Company and are open
for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the financial year under review, the Board reviewed (i) the
policies and practices on corporate governance of the Company;
(ii) the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; (iii) the policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (iv) the
code of conduct applicable to employees and Directors; and (v) the
compliance with the CG Code which was disclosed in this annual
report.
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Board Meetings and General Meetings EEggmniRREAE
During the financial year under review, the Company held four REFEFBRFEAN @ ARG EERTURERES
regular meetings of the Board and an annual general meeting (the E&@ZE—ABRREAFAS(ZZB=—FERRBE
2022 AGM"). The attendance of each Director is set out as follows: FRE))  FEZHFEBEREINWOT :
Number of attendance/
number of meetings entitled to attend
HERE, EREESERY
Regular
Board meetings 2022 AGM
—EBC-CF
Directors 2= EHESEER RRBERS
Executive Directors HITEF
Mr. Tang Ching Ho BB S
(re-designated on 1 October 2022) (R=ZF=—F1H—HHFE) 4/4 1/1
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond PInEE S 4/4 1/1
Mr. Yau Yuk Shing iid=p e 4/4 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors B IFHTTEE
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung RAERE 3/4 1/1
Mr. Lau King Lung B FE S 4/4 1/1
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen FIRREE 4/4 1/1

41



42

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EE

A

Separate resolutions were proposed at the 2022 AGM on each
substantive issue and the percentage of votes cast in favour of such
resolutions as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated

R-B-_—FRRAFAGLAREBELER
REZEBABRAMBEERZSRER

EES T

HADEMARARBEBPR T __FNAAZ-T

26 August 2022 are set out below: NAZAMRER)E#HINNT
Percentage of votes
Resolutions proposed at the 2022 AGM R-B-_—FERRAFAGREZRER EHADL
1. To receive, consider and adopt the audited 1. e EREEMEBE—ZT—_— 99.99%
consolidated financial statements of the FZA=1+—HLEFEZAR
Company, the report of the directors AR EREE N BmE AR
of the Company and the report of the AESgRERARTBEIZ
independent auditor of the Company for HR RS -
the year ended 31 March 2022.
2.(a) Tore-elect Mr.Yau Yuk Shing as a Director. 2.(a) BEEHFBEMELEBES - 99.99%
2.(b) To re-elect Mr. Wong Ping Yuen as a 2.(b) EEEMWRELBES - 99.99%
Director.
2.(c) To authorise the Board to fix the Directors’ 2.(c) FEZESETSE=HH - 99.99%
remuneration.
3. To re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng 3. BEBEAGSTMEEERA 99.99%
Limited as the Auditor and to authorise RIZEE  UREZEFESET
the Board to fix their remuneration. Hifje -
4(a) To approve the grant of the New Issue 4.(a) #EERHFEEITRHEE 99.97%
Mandate.
4.(b) To approve the grant of the New Repurchase 4.(b)  #t/ER HFEE R FHE 99.99%
Mandate.
4(c) To approve the extension of the New Issue 4.(c) #t fE 35 @ #& K #7 3 17 &% # - 99.97%
Mandate by the addition of the aggregate NN = S o A
number of Shares repurchased by the BB 2 B D8 EE I E
Company under the New Repurchase BATIRHE -
Mandate to the New Issue Mandate.
5. To approve and adopt the proposed New 5. & R NEEIT AR R - 99.98%
Share Option Scheme.
6. To approve and adopt the proposed New 6. B RENEEFT A RIAR - 99.99%
Bye-laws.

Accordingly, all resolutions put to the Shareholders at the 2022 AGM
were passed. The results of the voting by poll were published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

As at the date of this report, the positions of the chairman and
the chief executive officer are held by Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Mr.
Leung Sui Wah, Raymond respectively. There is clear division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive officer
which provides a balance of power and authority.

TRAINING, INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
DEVELOPMENT FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Company provides a comprehensive induction
package covering the summary of the responsibilities of a director
of a Hong Kong listed company and the Guides on Directors’ Duties
issued by the Companies Registry. The Company would also arrange
seminars on professional knowledge of regulatory requirements
related to director’s duties and responsibilities for each newly
appointed Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and other
regulatory requirements.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, all Directors received
regular update on corporate governance matters or news or changes
to laws and regulations. Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond and Mr. Wong
Ping Yuen attended briefings or seminars on relevant topics. All
Directors are requested to provide the Company with a record of the
training they received.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), each of which has the
specific written terms of reference that will be renewed and updated,
if necessary. Each committee is required to report to the Board on its
decision and recommendations, where appropriate.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Ng Yat Cheung (chairman), Mr. Lau
King Lung and Mr. Wong Ping Yuen and one executive Director,
namely Mr. Tang Ching Ho.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The duties,
roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all directors and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing such policy;

2. to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals by reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

3. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration

packages of individual executive directors and senior
management, including, but not limited to, benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

4, to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
on non-executive directors;

5. to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

6. to review and approve compensation payable to executive
directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

7. to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

8. to ensure that no director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration; and

9. to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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During the financial year under review, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting and the attendance of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is set out below:
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& FHEEesKBZHEBREARIINT

Attendance
Members of the Remuneration Committee FMESEMRE HEER
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung (chairman) RAEREERE) 11
Mr. Lau King Lung gt 1/1
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen FRIREE 1/1
Mr. Tang Ching Ho (appointed on 1 October 2022)  BNE A LA (R=F=—F+H—HZ(E) N/A i3 A

During the financial year under review, the Remuneration Committee
reviewed the existing remuneration policy, assessed performance of
executive Directors, reviewed the existing remuneration packages
and structure of executive Directors and senior management of the
Company and the existing remuneration packages of independent
non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue
to discharge its major roles to, among other things, make
recommendations, if any, to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management
of the Company (i.e. the model described in the CG Code is adopted)
and approve the terms of executive Director’s service contracts.

The remuneration payable to the Directors will depend on their
respective contractual terms under their employment contracts or
service contracts and the same were reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note
9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to the CG Code, the annual remuneration of the members
of the senior management by band for the financial year under
review is set out below:

REBEMBEER - FME S @RHER HMEK
B AHEATESNRR - FEHATEERER
ASRERENREFHMI RERBLIBIIEHR
TEENRBHMIER

FHZESE KU SREBERTEIERE

(HEF B ENRTEERARRRRERE
ZHFMORAEFSRLZZR WA ANERAE
XERTAND PR 2 FR) I HAERITEERES
K ZA5RK

ENEZEZHFMNBREREESE ZRMAE DN
RIEEHRNZANGREE - MARIGRESH
MZBEeia - EFHFMZFBENGEA MR
RAFES ©

RIBCEEERTRD)  SREEEKBREEY
HEEANFEHFMZBES HMAT

Remuneration band (HKS)

FrINEEE (B T)

Number of individuals

AB

Nil to $1,000,000
$1,000,001 to $1,500,000
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000
Over $2,000,000

Z 21,000,000
1,000,001 % 1,500,000
1,500,001 22,000,000
2,000,0004 _E

_ a A -
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau King Lung (chairman), Mr. Ng
Yat Cheung and Mr. Wong Ping Yuen and two executive Directors,
namely Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The duties,
roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

1. to review the structure, size, composition and diversity
(including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, experience, skills,
knowledge, independence and length of service) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations to the Board
on any proposed changes to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

2. to identify and nominate individuals suitably qualified to
become Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships. In identifying suitable individuals, the
Nomination Committee shall consider individuals on merit
against the objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board;

3. to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors and review the independent non-executive Directors’
annual confirmations on their independence and make
disclosure of its review results in the corporate governance
report of the Company;

4. to regularly review the time required for a Director to perform
his/her responsibilities;

5. to review the balance between executive and non-executive
Directors and the blend of skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity on the Board;

6. to keep under review the leadership and succession needs of
the Group with a view to ensuring the long-term success of
the Group;

7. to review the Board diversity policy, as appropriate, and

review the measurable objectives that the Board has set for
implementing the Board diversity policy, and the progress on
achieving the objectives; and make disclosure of its review
results in the corporate governance report annually;
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10.

11.

12.

to ensure that all Directors offer themselves for re-election
every three years by Shareholders;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment or re-designation of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the chairman/chairwoman
and the chief executive, taking into account the Company’s
corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity needed in the future;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board, every Director
should receive a formal letter of appointment or enter into a
service contract with the Company, as appropriate;

where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual
as an independent non-executive Director at the general
meeting, the Nomination Committee should set out in the
circular to Shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting why
it believes the individual should be elected and the reasons
why it considers the individual to be independent; and

the chairman or another member of the Nomination
Committee shall attend the Company’s annual general
meetings and be prepared to respond to questions raised by
Shareholders on the Nomination Committee’s activities and
responsibilities.

During the financial year under review, the Nomination Committee
held two meetings and the attendance of each member of the
Nomination Committee is set out below:

10.

11.

12.
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Attendance
Members of the Nomination Committee REZEERE HEBR
Mr. Lau King Lung (chairman) B FE S () 2/2
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung RBELE 2/2
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen FRIREE 2/2
Mr. Tang Ching Ho (appointed on 1 October 2022)  BNE A LA (R=FE = =—F+A—HZ(E) N/A i3 A
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond RInELE 2/2
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During the financial year under review, the Nomination Committee
(i) reviewed, inter alia, the policy for the nomination of Directors,
the nomination procedures and the process and criteria to select
and recommend candidates for directorship and the Board diversity
policy; (ii) proposed the re-designation of director and change of
composition of Board Committee; and (iii) recommended the re-
elections of Mr. Yau Yuk Shing and Mr. Wong Ping Yuen in the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 26 August 2022.
The nominations of re-election were made in accordance with the
objective criteria (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge, independence and length of service), with due
regard for the benefits of diversity, as set out in the Board diversity
policy adopted by the Company. As a good governance practice,
Mr. Yau Yuk Shing and Mr. Wong Ping Yuen had abstained from
voting at the Nomination Committee and/or Board meeting on their
nominations for election by the Shareholders. Mr. Tang Ching Ho, a
brother-in-law of Mr. Yau, had abstained from voting at the Board
meeting on Mr. Yau's appointment and re-election.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy which sets
out the approach to diversify the Board and for which the
Nomination Committee has reviewed annually. The Nomination
Committee reviewed and assessed the Board composition and
made recommendations (if any) to the Board pursuant to the Board
diversity policy and the nomination policy.

The Nomination Committee will consider, when designing and
reviewing the Board’s composition, from a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge,
independence and length of service. The Nomination Committee will
also consider candidates on merit against the objective criteria, with
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

As at 31 March 2023, the Board comprises six Directors, including
three executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process. The Board is also characterised by significant
diversity, whether in terms of professional experience, skills and
knowledge. As at 31 March 2023, all the Board members are males,
while there is approximately 41% of our workforce (including senior
management) comprising of females.
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The Company values gender diversity and will continue to take steps
to promote gender diversity at all levels of our Company, including
but without limitation at the Board and senior management levels,
to enhance the effectiveness of our corporate governance as a
whole. Taking into account of our existing business model and
the background and experience of our Directors, the Nomination
Committee considered that the composition of the Board satisfies
the Board Diversity Policy. The Company’s measurable objective is to
achieve not less than one female Director by 2024 and not less than
35% of our workforce (including senior management) comprising of
females.

Having reviewed the Board diversity policy and the Board’s
composition, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the
requirements set out in the Board diversity policy had been met.
The Nomination Committee considers that the current Board
composition has provided the Company with a good balance and
diversity of skills and experience appropriate for the business
of the Company. The Nomination Committee will review the
implementation of the Board diversity policy from time to time to
ensure its effectiveness on determining the optimum composition of
the Board.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy which sets out
the guidelines for the Nomination Committee to nominate
suitable candidate(s) to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to the Shareholders for election or re-
election as Director(s) at a general meeting of the Company or
recommendations to the Board for appointment or re-election as
Director(s).

1. Selection Criteria

1.1 In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate,
the Nomination Committee will consider the factors
(as reference), including but not limited to reputation,
integrity, accomplishment and relevant experience in
relation to the principal businesses of the Company
from time to time, commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest, diversity in all its aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age (18 years or
above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. These factors are for reference only, and are not
meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person,
as it considers appropriate.

2023 Annual Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

ARRERMERZ T - WS EEREUE R
ARBMBERENMERNZ T - BFRETRNE
FERSRERERER  UREARMEEERN
EREMM - EEIRMBANEBREARES
MESRER REZEEAREEIHANT
BEZEEZIEEK - ARFANAGERRAR
“TONFERER TR —RLMEEENE
RALR3s% Rt ET(BRESRERE) -

REBEFGZLMBRRNEFG 2EKR - 12
LR EMEZTEC EIEES S LLBRM
HOBE - REZEGRA - BEFEF AKX
RARRBREHE RS T MBS AR B EBHR
TR &SR - REZEERTHBRNESS
ZALRE 2 BHIEN - AERE LA WETE
RABEZEEGHENX

RAEE

ARRIEHRMBERERR - EPHIREZEEM
EESREBEAENES - UEEZBRAXR
REBREZZFNAARBRAEG LERRE
BEEIHEZAABREFTAEETIRIMER

2
2

1. EEEE

1.1 REEERRIEEARSEER @ BA
ZEgBEERENRAZ(EALE)BE
BRRRES - #HE - KBERERR
AR T EXBRBBRLS - ATF
R EREEF S &R - SHER
ZEM  BREETERMER - Fik
(18 AL) ~ EFFE RS - 1E
PR~ B - BRE - MEBANRBE
H - 2EREREHS2E - WIEFRE
ENEATEE - REEZESHRRAER
ERNERINERAERNAL -

o

49



50

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREARE

2.1

2.2

Retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the
Board to stand for re-election at a general meeting. For
those serving as independent non-executive Directors
for a period of 9 years (or above), the Nomination
Committee will consider the independence of such
Director for nomination by the Board to stand for
election at a general meeting and state the reason in a
circular to the Shareholders for the re-election. For those
serving as independent non-executive directors for 7 (or
more) listed companies, the Nomination Committee will
consider why they would still be able to devote sufficient
time to the Board for nomination by the Board to stand
for appointment or re-election at a general meeting
and state the reason in a circular to the Shareholders for
election or re-election.

Candidate(s) is required to submit the necessary
personal information pursuant to the applicable laws,
rules and regulations, together with their written
consent to be appointed as Director(s) and to the public
disclosure of their personal data on any documents or
the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to
their standing for election as Director(s).

The Nomination Committee may request the
candidate(s) to provide additional information and
documents, if necessary.

Nomination Procedures

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call
a meeting of the Nomination Committee and invite
nominations of candidate(s) from members of the Board,
if any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee.
The Nomination Committee may nominate candidate(s)
without nomination by a member of the Board.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee
shall make recommendations for the Board's
consideration and approval. For proposing candidate(s)
to stand for election at a general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the
Board for its consideration and recommendation.
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2.3 Information (including names, brief biographies
(including qualifications and relevant experience),
independence, proposed remuneration and any other
information, as required pursuant to the applicable laws,
rules and regulations) of the candidate(s) nominated by
the Board to stand for election at a general meeting will
be stated in a circular to be sent to the Shareholders.

2.4 The Shareholder can serve a notice to the Company’s
company secretary to propose a resolution to elect a
person as Director, without the Board’s recommendation
or the Nomination Committee’s nomination pursuant
to the applicable laws, rules and regulations. The
particulars of the candidate(s) so proposed as required
pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations
will be stated in a circular to be sent to the Shareholders.

2.5 A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at
any time before the general meeting by serving a notice
in writing to the Company’s company secretary.

2.6 The Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to its recommendation of candidate(s) to stand
for election at any general meeting.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee pursuant to Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules with specific terms of reference, which are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
The Audit Committee consists of all of the independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Ping Yuen (chairman), Mr. Ng
Yat Cheung and Mr. Lau King Lung.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for, inter alia,
reviewing the interim and annual financial statements and making
recommendation to the Board, reviewing the terms of engagement
and making recommendation to the Board regarding the
appointment of external auditors of the Company, monitoring and
assessing the independence of external auditors and effectiveness of
the internal control and risk management systems and oversight of
the Company'’s financial reporting, controlling, accounting policies
and practices (with external auditors and management of the
Company) and risk management and internal control issues.
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During the financial year under review, the Audit Committee held
three meetings and the attendance of each member of the Audit
Committee is set out below:

REBEVBRFERN  BEXEZERERTZRE
& BRZEESKBZHEBREAIINT

Attendance
Members of the Audit Committee EREESEHRE HEBR
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen (chairman) TR E(EE) 3/3
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung REBELE 2/3
Mr. Lau King Lung Rl kA 3/3

During the financial year under review, the Audit Committee
reviewed and discussed with the senior management and the
external auditors of the Company the annual results for the year
ended 31 March 2022, the interim results for the six months ended
30 September 2022 and the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Company. In addition, the Audit Committee also
reviewed with the senior management and/or professional advisers
of the Company, among other things, internal control and risk
management, the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit
function, the continuing connected transactions of the Group and
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the Group’s accounting and financial reporting functions as well as
their training programmes and budget.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation
and timely publication of the financial statements and ensure that
they are prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. In preparing the financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Directors
have adopted suitable accounting policies which are pertinent to
the Group’s operations and relevant to the financial statements
and have presented an understandable assessment of the Group's
position and prospects.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is
set out in the independent auditor’s report.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the remuneration
paid/payable to the Company’s external auditors, HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB"), in respect of audit services and other
services is set out as follows which had been reviewed and approved
by the Audit Committee based on the scopes of their works:
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Audit services
Non-audit services

1,980
280

Total 5T

2,260

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems during the financial year
under review. Regular review is set to be conducted once per year.
While the management of the Group is responsible for implementing
and maintaining sound risk management and internal control
systems that safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholders’ interest
in aspects including operation, financial and compliance, the systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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Risk management process

The Group has established risk management manual to formulate
the risk management process and management is committed to
fostering a risk aware and control conscious environment. The staffs
in all levels within the Group are also required to take the relevant
responsibility on the risk management process. The structure and
procedures for the risk management are as follows:

Risk ) The Board
management review & Audit Committee
[\ SR AR A E=aK
BEREEY
Risk Risk
monitoring identification
i B R i Lo E gl
i B Business R 5] Accounting
objectives Team
XBER BaTERK

Control Risk
activities assessment
RS [\ BRAT S

Both internal and external factors
including economic, political, social,

Risk identification

technology and environmental factors,
laws and regulations, business objectives
and stakeholders’ expectation would be
considered.

The risk identified would be assessed
and rated based on the likelihood
and impact to the achievement of the
Group’s objectives.

Risk assessment

The internal control procedures have
been designed and implemented to
address the risks.

Control activities

Risk register has been maintained and
updated regularly to monitor risks on
an ongoing basis.

Risk monitoring

The Board and the Audit Committee
would perform a review on any
change of significant risks of the
Group.

Risk management review :
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Internal audit function

For the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Company appointed
external advisers to perform the ongoing monitoring of the systems
of internal control of the Group and report their findings and
recommendations to the Audit Committee and follow up the status
of implementation of the recommendations to ensure all significant
control activities are properly in place within the Group.

The Group has adopted a risk-based approach in developing the
annual audit plan to cover business activities with material risks
across the Group. The rotation basis would be applied to operations
with similar risk associated so as to enhance the efficiency and
effectiveness of the internal audit.

All findings and recommendations on internal control deficiencies
for the financial year under review have been communicated to
management, who are required to establish remedial plans to
correct those internal control deficiencies within a reasonable time
period. Post-audit review is performed to monitor those agreed
recommendations having been implemented as intended and on a
timely basis.

Based on the audit result and post-audit review, the advisers
reported that no significant deficiency on the internal control system
of the Group for the financial year under review had been noted.

Review on risk management and internal control systems

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.

The Board conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems for the
financial year ended 31 March 2023 and confirmed that the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems in respect of financial,
operational, compliance controls, risk management functions and
adequacy of resources, were effective and adequate.

Inside information policy

The Group always emphasises the importance of transparency of
communication between the stakeholders and the Group and has
established policies and procedures for timely disclosure of inside
information to the public when available. The senior management
of the Group will take all reasonable measures from time to time to
ensure that the disclosure of inside information is in compliance with
the requirements of all applicable laws and regulations.
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Whistleblowing policy

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate
the achieving of highest possible standards of openness, probity
and accountability. Procedures are formulated to assist individual
employee to disclose internally and at a high level, information
which the individual believes that it shows malpractice or
impropriety within the Group. Such policy is made available on the
website of the Company.

Dividend Policy

The Board adopted a dividend policy in order to promote greater
dividend policy transparency. In deciding whether to recommend
the payment of dividend to the Shareholders, the Board will take
into account of a number of factors, including but not limited to the
Company'’s operation and financial performance, liquidity condition,
capital requirements, future funding needs, contractual restrictions,
availability of reserves and prevailing economic climate, subject to
the applicable rules of Bermuda and the bye-laws of the Company.
Based on these factors, the determination of dividend distribution,
the amount and frequency, will be made at the discretion of the
Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary is accountable to the Board for ensuring that
Board procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently
and effectively conducted. These objectives are achieved through
adherence to proper Board processes and timely preparation of
and dissemination to the Directors comprehensive Board meeting
agendas and papers. Minutes of all meetings of the Board and Board
committees are prepared and maintained by the company secretary
to record in sufficient details the matters considered and decisions
reached by the Board or Board committees, including any concerns
raised or dissenting views voiced by any Director. All draft and
finalised minutes of the Board meetings and meetings of the Board
committees are sent to the Directors or Board committee members
as appropriate for comments, approval and records. All records are
available for inspection by any Director upon request.

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond, as the company secretary of the
Company, has resigned on 1 October 2022, and succeeded by Ms. Ng
Yee Man, Fiona. The company secretary reports directly to the Board
and is responsible for, inter alia, providing updated information to all
Directors from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, Ms. Ng complied
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and took no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is conscious of its role as an environmentally and
socially responsible group of companies. It has made donations for
community wellbeing from time to time and has environmentally
friendly policies in place. We support the communities and
encourage our employees to participate in charitable events and
environmental protection activities. The environmental policies and
performance of the Group are disclosed in a separate Environmental,
Social and Governance Report of the Company to be published on
the Company’s website at www.cnagri-products.com and the Stock
Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shareholders Communication Policy

The Company aims at promoting and maintaining effective
communications with shareholders and investors (both individuals
and institutions) to ensure that the Group’s information is
disseminated to stakeholders in a timely manner and enable
them to have a clear assessment of the enterprise performance.
A shareholders communication policy has been adopted by
the Company and the same is available on the website of the
Company. During the year under review, the board has reviewed the
shareholders communication policy and considered it effective.

Based on above, the Company considers the above communication
policy by way of regular updates on the business and financial
information of the Group through the publication of annual
and interim reports, meetings with investors and face-to-face
communications at annual general meetings are effective and
adequate.
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Convening of Special General Meeting

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to require a special
general meeting (the “SGM”) to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition.

Pursuant to bye-law 62 of the bye-laws of the Company, a SGM shall
be convened on requisition, as provided by the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), and, in default, may be
convened by the requisitionist(s).

Pursuant to bye-law 63 of the bye-laws of the Company, a SGM may
be called by notice in writing of not less than fourteen days.

The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned would be
responsible for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto
in accordance with the requirements under Section 74 of the
Companies Act once a valid requisition is received.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholder(s) representing not less than one-tenth of the total
voting rights at the date of the requisition may put forward a
proposal at a Shareholders’ meeting, pursuant to the Companies
Act, by sending a written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong. The proposal should be stated in the written
requisition and such written requisition should be submitted as
early as practicable to enable the Company to make necessary
arrangement (in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution,
not less than six weeks before the meeting; and in case of any other
requisition, not less than one week before the meeting).

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must provide their full
name, contact details and identification, in the originally signed
written requisition, notice or statement (as the case may be), in
order to give effect thereto. Information of Shareholder(s) may be
disclosed as required by law.
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Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Board and/or the
secretary of the Company, either by post, by facsimiles or by email,
together with his/her contact details, such as postal address, email
or fax number, via the following channels:

For corporate affairs:
Address: China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
Suite 3202, 32/F, Skyline Tower

39 Wang Kwong Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon
Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2312 8288
Fax: (852) 2312 8148
Email: pr@cnagri-products.com

For shareholding or entitlement affairs:
Address: Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong

The Company encourages the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s annual general meetings and/or other general meetings,
at which the Directors are on hand to answer questions raised by the
Shareholders on the Company’s business operations.

2023 Annual Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

R

BRETHLTHXERRS  BEAREH 25
REAEBRHE MBS0 EHAEAR
®) AEFER/FALANERLETS
M

BEAGEE -
ok - FREEERRZPERAT
BB
e
TLEEE
TR IE395R
RRIE5321E3202F
ESr (852) 2312 8288
B5E (852) 23128148
B pr@cnagri-products.com
BRRESIEER -
ok - BEBLAEREBRAT
BB
ERB16%

BRSEP 178

ARRSBRRZERNRBRBFARE R K
HBERAE - AEFNERLRARERRS
ERNNCIES S (orard ik

59



60

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREARE

Corporate Website

A dedicated “Investor Relations” section is available on the
Company’s website (http://www.cnagri-products.com). Information
on the Company’s website is updated on a regular basis.

Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange, if
appropriate, is also posted on the Company’s website immediately
thereafter. Such information includes financial statements,
announcements, circulars and notices of general meetings and
associated explanatory documents etc.

All presentation materials (if any) provided in conjunction with the
Company’s annual general meeting and results announcements
each year will be made available on the Company’s website as soon
as practicable after their release.

Constitutional document

Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting held on 26 August 2022 to approve to
amend the bye-laws of the Company by way of adopting of the new
bye-laws of the Company in order to conform to the latest changes
of the applicable laws and regulations (including Appendix 3 of
the Listing Rules). The major amendments to the bye-laws of the
Company include the following:~

1. adopting the requirement to hold an annual general
meeting in each financial, rather than calendar, year and
correspondingly revising the maximum time that may elapse
between such annual general meetings;

2. clarifying that Shareholders with the right to require the
Company to convene a special general meeting may specify
resolution(s) in such requisition;

3. revising the provisions relating to a Director’s abstention from
voting at a meeting of the Directors in light of latest Listing
Rules provisions;
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4. specifying that all Shareholders have the right to speak and
vote at general meetings, unless specifically required to
abstain from voting by the Listing Rules;

5. requiring approval by two-thirds of votes cast by Shareholders
at a general meeting to remove the Company’s auditors;

6. permitting meetings of the Shareholders of the Company to
be held through electronic facilities or as a hybrid meeting
with both physical and electronic participation; and

7. updating, modernising and codifying provisions of the
existing bye-laws to better align with the wording under the
applicable laws of Bermuda and the Listing Rules, and other
consequential/consistency changes and typographical edits
and corrections.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other change in the
memorandum of association and bye-laws of the Company during
the financial year ended 31 March 2023.

The memorandum of association and bye-laws of the Company are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

CONCLUSION

Going ahead, the Board will continue to review regularly its corporate
governance practices to maintain high level of transparency, to
enhance the Company’s competitiveness and operating efficiency to
ensure its sustainable development and to generate greater returns
for the stakeholders of the Company.
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and the Group for the financial
year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of management
and sales of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets
in the PRC. Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at
31 March 2023 are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), including a
fair review of the business and a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties faced by the Group, particulars of important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the
year under review, an analysis of the Group’s performance using
financial key performance indicators, an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business and a discussion on the
Group’s environmental policies and performance and compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group, can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report. In addition, a discussion on relationships with its
key stakeholders is included in the sections headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report” of
this annual report. These discussions form part of this report of the
directors.

Structured Contracts

Shenzhen Gudeng Technology Limited (“Shenzhen Gudeng”),
the direct wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of Shenzhen Zhibo Tianyu
Trading Development Limited (“Shenzhen Zhibo"), an indirect
wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of the Company, was incorporated in
September 2015 and received the Internet Content Provider (“ICP”")
license on 7 September 2016. It held one website and two mobile
applications for the Group and was principally engaged in online
provision of agricultural products in the PRC.
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Shenzhen Zhibo (i) entered into a disposal agreement on 11 July
2016 with Yu Hui Jun (the “Nominee Shareholder”) and (ii) further
entered into the exclusive business cooperation agreement, the
exclusive call option agreement, the equity pledge agreement,
the power of attorney and the ancillary documents (collectively
the “Structured Contracts”) with the Nominee Shareholder and
Shenzhen Gudeng on 9 October 2016 (other than the exclusive
business cooperation agreement which was entered into by and
between Shenzhen Zhibo and Shenzhen Gudeng only and the
power of attorney which was executed by the Nominee Shareholder
in favour of Shenzhen Zhibo) such that the Group is entitled to
acquire the rights and ability to control the business of Shenzhen
Gudeng and to obtain the economic benefit (the “Contractual
Arrangements”).

The exclusive business cooperation agreement and the exclusive
call option agreement had an initial term of 3 years commencing
from the date of the relevant agreements which were renewed for
another 3 years on 8 October 2019. As security for the payment of
service fees under the exclusive business cooperation agreement
and the performance of the exclusive call option agreement and
the power of attorney, the equity pledge agreement executed in
favour of Shenzhen Zhibo would only be terminated when all the
said obligations of the Nominee Shareholder contemplated under
the Contractual Arrangements were fulfilled. Similarly, for protection
of the Group, the power of attorney executed in favour of Shenzhen
Zhibo would be valid so long as the Contractual Arrangements were
in place. The Company would keep exploring various opportunities
in building up its ICP services operations for the purposes of being
qualified as early as possible, to acquire the entire equity interest of
Shenzhen Gudeng if and when the Foreign Shareholding Restrictions
were lifted. For details of the Structured Contracts, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 11 July 2016 and 11
October 2016, respectively.

On 20 December 2021, Shenzhen Zhibo exercised the Call Option
and entered into an equity transfer agreement with the Nominee
Shareholder to acquire the entire equity interest in Shenzhen
Gudeng at the consideration of RMB100. The Contractual
Arrangements were unwound and the operation of the Group’s
e-commerce platform in online agricultural products trading as
supported by the Contractual Arrangements ceased accordingly
upon the completion of the transfer of the entire equity interest in
Shenzhen Gudeng. For details of the unwinding of the Contractual
Arrangements, please refer to the joint announcement of, inter
alia, the Company dated 20 December 2021. During the year under
review, the Group has launched a new electronic trading platform
for energising the efficiency of agricultural products market.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2023
and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to
224 of this annual report.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil). No interim
dividend was paid to the Shareholders during the year under review
(2022: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

Details of the dividend policy of the Company are set out in the
section headed “Dividend Policy” in the Corporate Governance
Report of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital and share options of the
Company during the financial year ended 31 March 2023, together
with the reasons therefor, are set out in notes 30 and 32 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year under review, other than the Share Option Scheme
as set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and note
32 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has not
entered into any equity-linked agreement.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years
is set out on page 228 of this annual report. This summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the financial year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in
note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the financial year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in note 17
to the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS

Details of movements in the financial assets of the Group during the
financial year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in notes 22 and 28 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year under review, the Company completed the
repurchase and the cancellation of the outstanding Listed Notes
in the aggregate principal amount of HK$140,000,000 under the
HK$1,000,000,000 medium term note programme on the Stock
Exchange. Following the repurchase and the cancellation, the
Listed Notes in the principal amount of HK$150,000,000 remained
outstanding as of 31 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
securities of the Company during the year under review.

The Company further repurchased part of the Listed Notes in an
aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000 of the outstanding
Listed Notes on 12 April 2023.

After cancellation of the repurchased notes and as at the date of
this report, the principal amount of the Listed Notes remaining
outstanding was HK$140,000,000.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the financial year ended 31 March 2023 are set out
in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company had no reserves available
for distribution to equity holders of the Company calculated in
accordance with the Companies Act.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
Annual Report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Tang Ching Ho (Chairman)
(re-designated from a non-executive director to
an executive director on 1 October 2022)
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Yau Yuk Shing
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Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ng Yat Cheung
Mr. Lau King Lung
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen

In accordance with bye-law 99 of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr.
Tang Ching Ho and Mr. Ng Yat Cheung will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

All independent non-executive Directors’ terms of office will be
renewed automatically after the re-election, unless prematurely
terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of their
respective letters of appointment, the bye-laws of the Company, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and the Listing Rules. The Company
has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors
an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the existing
independent non-executive Directors to be independent as at the
date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 32 to 34 of
this annual report.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR

The change in the information of Directors since the publication of
the 2022 interim report is set out below pursuant to Rule 13.51B of
the Listing Rules:

Mr. Tang Ching Ho was appointed as a deputy director of the
Committee on Education, Science, Health and Sports of the
National Committee of CPPCC in March 2023.

Details of the change in remuneration of Directors, if any, were
disclosed in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with any company in the
Group which is not determinable by such company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with him had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the year under review.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors
is currently in force and was in force throughout the financial
year under review. The Company has taken out and maintained
appropriate insurance coverage in respect of potential legal actions
against its Directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company and/or any of their
respective associates in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")), which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required to be entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”), were as
follows:
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(A) Long positions in the ordinary shares (the “Shares”) and (A) RARRIEBER(RS]) RAEEKG,
underlying shares of the Company: AR
Total Number Approximate
of Shares and percentage of
underlying the Company'’s
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares involved total issued Shares
FFRHR 1hAREE#RTRE
EEER ERME HEROGES BB
(Note a)
(Kizta)
%
Mr. Tang Ching Ho (“Mr. Tang") Interest of controlled 7,320,095,747 73.54%
BB S (B4 D) corporations (Note b)
RiEH AR R (Fiztp)
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond Beneficial owner 50,000,000 0.50%
(“Mr. Leung”) BEmEAA (Note c)
RInE S E((REE]D (Fiztc)
Notes: et

(a)

The percentage(s) were disclosed pursuant to the relevant
disclosure form(s) filed under the SFO.

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the
website of the Stock Exchange, among of the 7,320,095,747
Shares, 2,007,700,062 Shares were held by Onger Investments
Limited (“Onger Investments”) and 5,312,395,685 Shares were
held by Goal Success Investments Limited (“Goal Success”).
Onger Investments was directly wholly owned by Loyal Fame
International Limited (“Loyal Fame”, a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of Easy One Financial Group Limited (“Easy One”")
which is in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Tang). Goal Success
was directly wholly owned by Biomore Investments Limited
(“Biomore Investments”) (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of Total Smart Investments Limited (“Total Smart”) which is
directly wholly owned by Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings
Limited (“WYT"). WYT is owned as to approximately 67.26% by
Rich Time Strategy Limited (“Rich Time") which is wholly owned
by Wang On Enterprises (BVI) Limited (“WOE"), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Wang On Group Limited (“WOG”) which was
owned as to approximately 48.69% by Mr. Tang, together with
his associates.

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the
website of the Stock Exchange, Mr. Leung held 50,000,000
underlying Shares, representing interests in share options
granted to the Director under the share option scheme of the
Company to subscribe for the Shares, further details of which
are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”.

Z AN LIRERGER LIRGHEIDER
FV AR IR R RIGINEE -

AR EE AT T8 SRR
F1& 0 107,320,095, 747 MH 2 F -

2,007,700,062f% f% 15 FROnger Investments
Limited([Onger Investments|) & A
$25,312,395,685 % % {7 F1Goal Success
Investments Limited ([ Goal Success|)#¥
A ° Onger Investments i REE R HR A
A(RE] Z255epEBEERARIS
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HEEELEHBE)EE2ERE © Goal
SuccessFiBiomore Investments Limited
(IBiomore Investments]) (Total Smart
Investments Limited([Total Smart]) 9 &
E2EWBAT - MTotal SmartfAfzT
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HEVEEEEHA © LT = HRich Time
Strategy Limited ([Rich Time )% B 4
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Interest in the shares and underlying shares of associated (B) MAEEEEE 2 Bty KRR D 2 #E
m -

corporations:

Mr. Tang WYT Interest of controlled
B fITE corporation
SEHEE R

Wang On Properties Interest of controlled

Limited (“WOP") corporation
RERMEBRAR  REHEERER
(ERBE])
WOG Interest of controlled
RIS corporation

S A

Beneficial Owner

BEREBA

Interest of spouse

NP 5

Founder of a
discretionary trust

2REEFERIZA

Total
“eEt

810,322,940 67.26

11,400,000,000 75.00

2,734,664,306

28,026,339

28,026,300

4,989,928,827

7,780,645,772 48.69
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Notes:

(d) The percentage(s) were disclosed pursuant to the relevant
disclosure form(s) filed under the SFO.

(e) With reference to note (b) above, 810,322,940 shares of WYT
were held by Rich Time; 11,400,000,000 shares of WOP were
held by Earnest Spot Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of WOE). Amongst the 2,734,664,306 shares of WOG held
under interest of controlled corporation, 432,475,200 shares
were held by Suntech Investments Limited (a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of Total Smart), 1,284,273,800 shares were
held by Hearty Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
Total Smart), 486,915,306 shares were held by Caister Limited
(a company wholly owned by Mr. Tang) and 531,000,000 shares
were held by Billion Trader Limited (a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of Loyal Fame).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company and/or any
of their respective associates had any other interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 3 May 2012, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“2012 Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group.
During the Year, 15,000,000 share options were lapsed in December
2022. Save as disclosed above, no share options under 2012 Scheme
were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed. The 2012 Scheme
was terminated on 2 May 2022, the last effective date of the 2012
Scheme, no further share options was granted under it since then
but the share options granted prior to such termination will continue
to be valid and exercisable during the prescribed exercisable period
in accordance with the terms of the 2012 Scheme.
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The Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “2022
Scheme”) with the approval of the shareholders of the Company at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 26 August 2022
for the primary purpose of providing incentives and recognition for
the eligible participants (the “Participants”) for their contribution or
potential contribution to the Group with the same terms as the 2012
Scheme as detailed below. During the Year, no share options were
granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the 2022 Scheme.
Participants include directors of the Group, including independent
non-executive directors and employees, who work for any member
of the Group and/or any person or entity that provides services to
any member of the Group. The 2022 Scheme became effective on 26
August 2022 and will remain in force for a period of 10 years to 25
August 2032.

Under the 2022 Scheme, the Board may grant share options to the
Participants to subscribe for the Shares. The offer of a grant of share
options must be accepted by the relevant Participants within 14 days
after the date of grant upon payment of a consideration of HK$1
for each lot of share options granted. The exercise price is to be
determined by the Board and shall not be less than the highest of (i)
the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a
business day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of a Share.

The number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted to
any Participants in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue at any point in
time, without prior approval from the Shareholders. Options granted
to substantial Shareholders or independent non-executive Directors,
or any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares
in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must
be approved in advance by the Shareholders. There is no specific
requirement that an option must be held for any minimum period
before it can be exercised but the Board is empowered to impose
at its discretion any such minimum period at the time of grant of
any particular option. The period during which an option may be
exercised will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion,
save that no option may be exercised for a period of more than 10
years from the date of grant.

Subject to the approval of the Shareholders at general meeting, the
Board may refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the date of approval by the Shareholders at
general meeting. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the 2022 Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of
the Shares in issue from time to time.
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Details of the movements of the share options under the 2012
Scheme during the financial year ended 31 March 2023 were as
follows:

TR CFHBZBREREE T _=F=H
=t BLMBEFEEZEHFENT

Number of share options
BREHA
Closing
price
immediately
Outstanding Outstanding before date
asat Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed asat Exercise of grant
1 April during during during during  31March Date of price Validity during
2022 the year the year the year the year 2023 grant  pershare period the year
R=B==
R=B== £=f ERRE
Name or category SHERE £MA—A RER RER RER RER  =t-A RS
of Participant  ZERI W RATE B i EH A% HAGE  RHER SROEE s WmE
HKS (Note)
BT W)
Director 3
Leung SuiWah, 2% 50,000,000 - - - - 50,000,000 3.1.2022 0.118 3.1.2022- 0.117
Raymond 212032
Otheremployees  £#1{EE 176,000,000 = - - 15,000,000 161,000,000  3.1.2022 0.118  3.1.2022- 0.117
2.1.2032
Total st 226,000,000 = = - 15000000 211,000,000
Note: Btet -

The share options granted under the 2012 Scheme were vested as follows:

On the 3rd anniversary of the date of grant: 20% vested
On the 4th anniversary of the date of grant: Further 20% vested
On the 5th anniversary of the date of grant: Further 20% vested
On the 6th anniversary of the date of grant: Further 20% vested
On the 7th anniversary of the date of grant: Remaining 20% vested

On 31 May 2023, 25,000,000 share options owned by other
employees of the Company have been lapsed.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of the
Shares available for issue under the 2012 Scheme is 186,000,000,
representing approximately 1.87% of the existing issued share
capital of the Company.

As at 31 March 2023, the total number of shares available for issue
under the 2022 Scheme is 995,306,782 Shares, representing 10% of
the Company’s total issued share capital.

Other particulars of the 2012 Scheme and the 2022 Scheme are set
out in note 32 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” as set
out above and in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements, at
no time during the year ended 31 March 2023 were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of,
the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouses or
minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, as at 31 March 2023, the
following corporations or persons (other than the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company) had, or was deemed or taken to
have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Long positions in the Shares: N Epa g SO
Approximate
Total number  percentage of the
of Shares Company’s total
Name of Shareholders Nature of interest involved issued shares
AR EBTRG
RER S8 EatE SRS AHZBANEI
(Note a)
(Ktzta)
%
Easy One Interest of controlled corporation 2,007,700,062 20.17
S25= RiEH AR R (Note b)
(Ktztp)
Goal Success Beneficial owner 5,312,395,685 53.37
EREAA (Note b)
(Ktztp)
Biomore Investments Interest of controlled corporation 5,312,395,685 53.37
G EE R (Note b)
(Ktztp)
Total Smart Interest of controlled corporation 5,312,395,685 53.37
RS EE R (Note b)
(Ktztp)
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Approximate

Total number  percentage of the

of Shares Company’s total

Name of Shareholders Nature of interest involved issued shares

HAQRE BITRG

BRRER EEME RGO EE HABzZBOEIL

(Note a)

(Hista)

%

WYT Interest of controlled corporation 5,312,395,685 53.37
AT E Rt EEE R (Note b)
(Hi7tb)

WOG Interest of controlled corporation 5,312,395,685 53.37
LREHE Rt EEE R (Note b)
(Hi7tb)

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin Family interest 7,320,095,747 73.54
b= g ERi (Note c)
(Htatc)

Notes: Bt -

The percentage(s) were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure
form(s) filed under the SFO.

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website
of the Stock Exchange and the best knowledge of the Directors, among
of the 7,320,095,747 Shares, 2,007,700,062 Shares were held by Onger
Investments and 5,312,395,685 Shares were held by Goal Success.
Onger Investments was directly wholly owned by Loyal Fame, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of Easy One which is in turn wholly-owned
by Mr. Tang, being the spouse of Ms. Yau Yuk Yin. Goal Success was
directly wholly owned by Biomore Investments (a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of Total Smart which is directly wholly owned by WYT. WYT
is owned as to approximately 67.26% by Rich Time which is wholly
owned by WOE, a wholly-owned subsidiary of WOG which was owned
as to approximately 48.69% by Mr. Tang, together with his associates).

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website
of the Stock Exchange, Ms. Yau Yuk Yin was taken to be interested in
the 7,320,095,747 Shares in which her spouse, Mr. Tang, was deemed
to be interested under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, there were no other
persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company) who had any interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

(@) HESLIRERGES RS IR AR
BRI -

(b) AREBRERFEETIE 2 ESEBETRESNE
41+ 727,320,095,747 B & - 2,007,700,062
A% F% 15 FOnger Investmentsi® A 525,312,395,685
A2 A% 17 B3 Goal Success#$ 4 © Onger Investments
AR (H5SNEEZENBRAR 5558
HEEE(RERLZT 2B 2EHER EES
E¥EA ° Goal SuccessfiBiomore Investments
(Total SmartMEZ2EWNE QA F © MTotal
SmartfI TEHEZE2EHE) BB EHE -
fiZ 7T E HRich Time## A #)67.26% ' Rich Time
AWOE(RLEE (ML EERERBEARE
48.69%) N EMBAR) 2 EHS -
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

All of the Group’s subsidiaries are equal opportunity employers,
with the selection and promotion of individuals based on suitability
for the position offered. The salary and benefit levels of the
Group's employees are kept at a competitive level and employees
are rewarded on a performance related basis within the general
framework of the Group’s emolument policies.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group and the
Directors are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee on the basis
of their merit, qualifications and competence. The Company has
adopted the share option schemes as an incentive to the Directors
and eligible participants. Details of the share option schemes are
set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this annual
report and note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
The employees of the subsidiaries established in Mainland China
are members of the Central Pension Scheme operated by the
Mainland China government. There were no forfeited contributions
(by employers on behalf of employees who leave the retirement
benefits scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) be
used to reduce the existing level of contributions during the year
ended 31 March 2023. As at 31 March 2023, no forfeited contribution
under the retirement benefits schemes of the Group is available
to reduce the contribution payable in future years. Particulars of
these retirement schemes are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

With regard to the environmental policies, the Group aims
to minimise the Group’s environmental impact. The Group is
committed to promoting awareness and decisions that contribute to
achieving environmentally sustainable development. The Group will
comply fully with all applicable environmental laws and regulations.
We will use fuel, water and other natural resources efficiently and
conservatively. We recognise this to be a continuous process of
improvement and we seek to actively look for environmentally-
friendly options and carry out environmentally-friendly practices
whenever appropriate and possible. The environmental policies and
performance of the Group are disclosed in a separate Environmental,
Social and Governance Report of the Company to be published on
the Company’s website at www.cnagri-products.com and the Stock
Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the percentages of sales and
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest customers and five
largest suppliers, respectively, were both less than 5%.

At no time during the year under review have the Directors or any of
their close associates or any Shareholders (which to the knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the issued Shares) had any
interests in any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group made charitable donations
of approximately HK$6,291,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2022:
approximately HK$3,033,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the transactions as disclosed in note 38(c) to the
consolidated financial statements, no controlling Shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries has any contract of significance with the Company
or its subsidiaries during the year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance practices. Information on corporate
governance principles and practices adopted by the Company and
any deviation to the code provisions of the CG Code, if any, during
the year under review is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 36 to 61 of this annual report.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 1 October 2022, the Group and WOG entered into a master
licensing agreement which sets out the general principles and key
terms governing the definitive licensing agreements under which
relevant members of WOG may grant license of, and the Group
may take up the license of the premises from 1 October 2022 to 30
September 2025. Details were disclosed in the joint announcement
of, inter alia, the Company, WYT and WOG dated 1 October 2022.

Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the master
licensing agreement constitute continuing connected transactions
of the Company under Rules 14A.55 and 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
The aggregate amount of license fee paid by the Group to WOG
and its subsidiaries was approximate HKD1,234,000 for the year
under review, and the aggregate amount of the right-of use assets
recognised by the Group upon entering into individual licensing
agreements with WOG and its subsidiaries was approximate
HKD?9,644,000 for the year under review.

The Directors (including all of the independent non-executive
Directors) have reviewed and confirmed that the mentioned
continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of the Group’s business; (ii) in accordance
with the terms of the respective agreements governing such
transactions on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole; (iii) either
on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable to the
Group than those available to or from independent third parties; and
(iv) have not exceeded the respective caps.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB"), the Company’s auditor,
was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and
with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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HLB have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed, confirming that (i) nothing has come to their attention
that causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have not been approved by the Board; (ii)
for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor
to believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects,
in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group; (iii) nothing
has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions; and (iv) with respect to the aggregate amounts of the
disclosed continuing connected transactions, nothing has come to
their attention that causes the auditor to believe that the amounts
have exceeded the annual caps as disclosed in the announcement
dated 1 October 2022. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total
issued Shares as required under the Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 12 April 2023, the Company repurchased outstanding Listed
Notes in an aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000 via open
market. The repurchased notes had been cancelled on 21 April 2023.
Details of repurchase were disclosed in the announcement dated 12
April 2023.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended
31 March 2023 have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited, whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. A resolution to re-appoint
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the external auditors of
the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

BE &3t 6 F H A R A F
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Agri-
Products Exchange Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 87 to 224, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

RRERSEE

Valuation of investment properties

REYEZ1GE

Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements
F2BHmEE B RERMTE17

Management has estimated the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties to be approximately HK$2,933,376,000 as at 31 March 2023,
with net loss in fair value for the year ended 31 March 2023 recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of approximately HK$4,651,000. Independent external valuations were
obtained in order to support management’s estimates. The valuations
are dependent on certain key assumptions that require significant
management judgement, including market selling price, market rental and
plot ratio of land use right.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMESFKHNERS X

Our procedures in relation to management’s
valuation of investment properties included:

B EREHRENEZCHEETHEFE
7

Evaluation of the independent valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

B ERR R R EEBRE

Assessing the appropriateness of the
methodologies used and the key assumptions
based on our knowledge of the property
industry and using our valuation experts; and
IRRF P M EE 1T SR A AN R M R IR0 5
EFEXEME  FAERANTEREERE
WEBERE &

Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

RS PTER A 6V 8 A BUR ) TR N AE
BE -

We found the valuation of investment properties
were supported by the available evidence.
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Key audit matter

HRERSEE

Carrying value of stock of properties

WRFEZREE

Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements

E2RER A MR M 19

The carrying values of stock of properties was approximately
HK$1,323,709,000 as at 31 March 2023, with HK$6,400,000 written down
for the year ended 31 March 2023 recorded in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The management
estimated the net realisable values of the stock of properties by reference
to sale proceeds received after the end of reporting period less selling
expenses and available market selling price, which involve management
judgements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRMESHHNEES X

Our procedures in relation to management’s
determination of the carrying value of stock of
properties included:

B EEEEE 2 DEFTERAEE
(25

TR

. Assessing the appropriateness of the
methodologies used by management for the
assessments of the net realisable value of stock
of properties; and

. FHEE R ERF Y ET e 2 A E R R ER
FIERA R AN & ERE - &
. Comparing the management’s estimates of

selling prices for similar properties to market
data.
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We found the carrying value of the stock of properties
were supported by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’
report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or errofr.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group'’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
B 2B AR E

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Yau Wai Ip.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yau Wai lp
Practicing Certificate Number: P07849

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023

. AAEEMBRRNBEERIR - BER
NE - BEKEEH  UREAWBHRRE
BRERRIBERXSHMER -

. # BEEANERAEBZPNUHERE
RARRBEENENRE - NEHFEEHB
BEREXRBR - BMBEKERFANAR
EBMNHT HMRBEREAAEZNTE
£ -

BMEEZZESR(Eh B Bt algE -
KRZHEREARTERER  ZSERERM
FERETHBED BRI AR E N EAIERERK

BATAREZZESERER  BHEMENAS
BB M ARRERER  WHRRSBRAREKS
BRREZERMBUMOMBEREREREMER
AR A EBR VB BRI 1T B S8 R ROBD #8487 o

RERRZEGEBNFESD  RMEE L NG
RAMBRRNBITEHEENTIE - AMEKE
RERFIR - AMERBEREPHMZSER
BOPERIVERTIAFLAFREZ S ER - RER
MERNBERT  WEEBRPERMRETERE
FIHENNBEERRBHEEN IR - BIEM
REDEERSPEEZEE -

HARBI RN HRENETHAERERIPESE

BEEMEBAERAR
HEEF D

EREE
HEBEZRNE : P07849

B8 —T-_=FA=+/\H



—EC=FFR

2023 Annual Report

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT ORL0S5 AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FmeEmRkAEMEEIRER
nv \ E
Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -=F=A=+—HILFE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B2 FER FAET
Turnover =E 32 5 596,400 868,685
Cost of operation KRR (265,635) (412,500)
Gross profit EF 330,765 456,185
Other revenue and other net income H b U et B HAth7F A 6 24,918 26,669
Gain on litigation judgment SRR HR M 36 - 48,572
General and administrative expenses —REITBRAX (163,702) (148,828)
Selling expenses HERX (47,053) (61,067)
Profit from operations before fair value 3 7 {8 % B & j5 & Al
changes and impairment REHR 144,928 321,531
Gain on early redemption of bonds REEEES 2 W 15,556 =
Allowance for expected credit B 5 K H e kI
losses on trade and other receivables REWER 2 BHEE
and loan receivables, net B iR 5 (2,936) (2,522)
Allowance for expected credit losseson & A F{EFIBR REE M2 HE
financial assets at fair value through WammE (RO FEIERE
other comprehensive income Hth2EBEEE]) 2 2/
(“FVTOCI’) BEZEREEHRREEG - (5,566)
Net loss in fair value of investment REMHERNTEFER
properties (4,651) (53,477)
Loss on disposal of financial assets at HERATESRRIEEA
FVTOCI PHWREE SREE
Z 1R - (22,190)
Loss on fair value change of derivative ?ﬁi%ﬁﬁ‘ll,ﬁz/&:ﬁﬁ
financial instruments & EE)EE (159) (59)
Unrealised gain on financial assets BRATESRRERRREE
at fair value through profit or loss Zirﬁﬂﬁ?Zﬂi“fﬁuﬂZm 11 46
Written down of stock of properties Y E T EM (6,400) -
Profit from operations REER 146,349 237,763
Finance costs RE R A 7(a) (118,446) (131,970)
Profit before taxation BRBE AT i F 7 27,903 105,793
Income tax PS8t (9,402) (68,757)

87



88

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

RERBERHEMZERER

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -_=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt i FERT FA&T
Profit for the year AEERF 18,501 37,036
Other comprehensive (loss)/income,  Hft 2 (1) Uk (3B
net of income tax R %)
Items that may be reclassified HIgRAEH o HEBER
subsequently to profit or loss: A :
Exchange differences on translating WMEIRINERS S| B2 FE K =5
foreign operations (242,568) 120,361
Loss on fair value of financial assets at BATESREREREMEE
FVTOCI WaRRBt 8 oRERE
NTEEE - (27,756)
Reclassified adjustment for allowance for 5 1% A F{EZIBR R EE A
expected credit losses on financial PHWSEEGTTEZH
assets at FVTOCI BEZEHEEEREHZ
BHORRE - 5,566
Release on disposal of financial assets at &% A FEIIR R E M2
FVTOCI W IEst 8 2 SR & ER
AR - 22,190
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for  ZN5 & H (b 2 (E538) /W25
the year, net of income tax (FBRFT1S L) (242,568) 120,361
Total comprehensive (loss)/income AEEEZEEGR),WEEHE
for the year, net of income tax (FOBRFF1E8L) (224,067) 157,397
Profit attributable to: BT AR
Owners of the Company KAREA A 6,836 6,401
Non-controlling interests JEVERR R = 11,665 30,635
18,501 37,036
Total comprehensive (loss)/income LT ATEERE(ER),
attributable to: Weis 458
Owners of the Company RAEHER A (206,327) 117,255
Non-controlling interests FEIERR S (17,740) 40,142
(224,067) 157,397
Earnings per share SREF
- Basic (HK cents) - EARGEAL) 13(a) 0.07 0.06
- Diluted (HK cents) - E5E (AL 13(b) 0.07 0.06
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated  B&Mf 2 M s At 5474 BTSSRk 2 AR SR D -

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

4= AN
w3

BF R AR 3R

For the year ended 31 March2023 A =—ZE - =F = A =+—H

2023 2022
—E-= —E-_F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E F#ET FHIT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W% - BEREE 15 57,853 59,200
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16(a) 24,555 15,303
Investment properties KRB 17 2,933,376 3,178,403
Loan and interest receivables EURE KB 21 17,209 18,525
3,032,993 3,271,431
Current assets REBEE
Stock of properties mMEEFE 19 1,323,709 1,534,063
Trade receivables B S rEW A 20(a) 1,964 1,888
Prepayment, deposits and other AR FRIE - PR R E AU
receivables FIE 20(b) 205,351 199,533
Loan and interest receivables EURE FR KA 8 21 9,870 12,913
Financial assets at fair value through BATFEIEREER KRR
profit or loss L EREE 22 355 112
Pledged bank deposits BERIRITFER 23 28,517 30,820
Bank and cash balances RIT MR L% 23 312,434 440,328
1,882,200 2,219,657
Current liabilities REBEE
Deposits and other payables B& REMERN IR 24 386,641 456,307
Contract liabilities AREE 25 166,096 233,727
Receipts in advance TEWRIE 200,089 243,927
Bank and other borrowings BRITREMES 26 229,173 809,122
Lease liabilities HEAE 16(b) 6,436 4,912
Land appreciation tax payable FER M IBER 30,864 31,346
Income tax payable e FTIS L 29(a) 51,384 97,073
1,070,683 1,876,414
Net current assets RBEERE 811,517 343,243
Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBERE 3,844,510 3,614,674
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China Agri-Products Exchange Limited FEHEERXZERAT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBRRE

Asat31March2023 A —ZE-=F=H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FHET FET
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Bonds E% 27 124,146 216,542
Bank and other borrowings BITREMES 26 1,048,555 466,553
Lease liabilities HEAE 16(b) 23,198 15,035
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEBE 29(b) 521,199 565,012
1,717,098 1,263,142
Net assets FEE 2,127,412 2,351,532
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital &N 30(a) 99,531 99,531
Reserves s 30(b) 1,638,495 1,839,782
Total equity attributable to owners AAEEB AEILERERE
of the Company 1,738,026 1,939,313
Non-controlling interests AR 2 389,386 412,219
Total equity DB 2,127,412 2,351,532

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for A MBEREAEN T -_=FA-_+/\HEE=S
issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2023 and are signed on its behalf ~ S #L/&REEFZE - WHATALTREES
by:

Leung Sui Wah, Raymond Tang Ching Ho
Director Director
BE BE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated  B&M ~ M sE B Atk F 474 IS RER 2 4HR S D -
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQE%”%Y

i A=t—HItFE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B £ — &

|‘l-_|_\

Attributable to owners of the Company
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=N /7
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KDTREARE
Captal Convertible Share Non-
Share Share  redemption  Contributed  Shareholders’ Other  Exchange bonds FTOC  option  Statutory  Accumulated controlling Total
aapital  premium reserve surplus  contribution Teserve reserve reserve resenve reserve Teserve losses ~ Sub-Total interests equity
BAYE
EREER
Bt &AAE £ BR i B TERR: 2k
s #E i i & Ei] ik Ei RERE RBEEE  ieHE  EHER Nt RERER  EREE
HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS000  HKS000 HKS 000 HK§000 HKS 000 HK§000 HKS 000
Tin Thn Tin ThT T Thn Tin Thn T T T Tin TEL Thn ThL
Asat 1 April 2001 Ho3Z-5mA-A 9531 39347 945 2015409 664 (15001) (%128) 4045 - - 16652 (43734 1808148 397,705 2205853
Bchange difeences ontranstionimto~~ AEAZHEKERER
presentation curency - - - - - - 110854 - - - - - 110854 9307 120361
Lossonfairvalue ofirancil RATESIRREL2 NG
asetsat 00 REZERAROVEER - - - - - - - - (27756) - - - -
Recassfiedadjustmentforalowancefor —~ EERLTEAERELLEE
epected credtlosseson fiancialassets  WEREZ SRAE BEE
0 KFRBR ENIRAR - - - - - - - - 5560 - - - 5566 - 5566
Relesseon disposalof finnclassetsat ~~ HERATEIERELNZE
ATOd HERE SRAERER - - - - - - - - 219 - - - 19 . 219
Othercomprehensive ncome fortheyeer ~ AEEEHAENA - - - - - T8 - - - - - T8 95 13
Puoftortheyear RERaH - - - - - - - - 6401 6401 NEE A%
Tota comprehensiveincomefortheyear ~ AEE2ENNEE o ° o ° o 110854 o = = = 6401 1755 AT 157397
Redemption of convertble bonds EBTARRS - - - - (40495 - - - 40495 - - -
Equityransactionvithnon-<ontrling ERARER I RERS
interests - - 16,669 (38%8) - - - - - 1m (127m) -
Recogriton f equity-settedsharedbased ~ BRMBREENRA ERR L
payment LS - - - - - - 1139 - - 1139 - 1139
Tranfertotatutoryresenve ERTITHE = = = S S o S = = = 1688 (1,688) - - -
Divdend padtonon-controlinginterests 21 TR ER 7B = = = = = = = = = = = = (12857) (12657)
Asat31 March 2022and 1 Apil 2022 RZFZZ£=f=1-HR
ZE-2EMA-R 9331 393147 945 2215409 664 1648 10828 - - 1139 18340 (4332338) 1939313 mny 2351532
Bichangeiffrences ontrniatoninto. ~~ HEE2HEH7EHZR
presentation curency - - - (213,163) - - - - - (213,163) (29,405) (242,568)
Othercomprehensive lossforthe year KERR2ERA - - G - - - - S e os) (e
Proftortheear AEREH - - - - - - - - 6836 6636 Mes 18501
Totalcomprehensive ncomefoss rEgeEh)/(FREE
forthe year - - - (213,163) - - - - 6836 (206327) (17,40) (224067)
Adjustment forbushess combinationunder - SR EH TR EA AR
common controlNote 33) (F333) - - m - - - - - 303 208 601
Recogiton o equiysetedsharecbased. BN EEEEMRAAERL
payment 3 - - - - - ) - - 464 - 4647
Lapse ofshareoption BREXH - - - - - - (1) - 3 - - -
Tranfertotatutoryresenve BRTITRE - - - - - - - 258 (253) - - -
Diidend paidtonon-contolinginterests B FEERER RS - - - - - - - - - - - (301) (5301)
Asat31 March 203 R-B-=E=A=1+-A 9531 39347 945 2215409 664 204 (202335) - - SATS 0863 (4327714 1738026 389386 2127412
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated FEM 7 M s L S5 8 8RR 2 KIS -

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/-.r\ IE%/)H:E)J %

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -_=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FER FHAT
Operating activities R
Profit before taxation R 258 AT g A 27,903 105,793
Adjustments for: BMUTREZRAE :
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% - BE RFETE
equipment 7(c) 14,227 13,317
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERELETE 7(c) 4,264 3,685
Allowance for expected B 5 REMENRIERERE
credit losses on trade and other R BB EEREFE
receivables and loan receivables, net 2,936 2,522
Allowance for expected credit losseson  1&Z/A F{EFIBR K& 7E H b 2 UKL
financial assets at FVTOCI mREZEHEERREER
E R - 5,566
Unrealised gain on financial assets BATESRERNERRERE
at fair value through profit or loss L EREE 2 AR 7(c) (11) (46)
Loss on fair value change of derivative EESMIT A AT EEZES
financial instruments g 7(c) 159 59
Loss on disposal of financial assets HERATEIIEREEME
at FVTOCI ENEERIE & BB E 2 B8 - 22,190
Net loss in fair value on investment REYME RN EFER
properties 17 4,651 53,477
Written down of stock of properties L EERE Vi 19 6,400 -
Gain on early redemption of bonds IREEOES 2 W (15,556) =
Finance costs AR 7(a) 118,446 131,970
Bank and other interest income RITREAFSUA 6 (5,946) (8,518)
Gain on disposal of investment properties H & E Y% 2 Wz 6 - (63)
Equity-settled share-based payment AR A E ARMD RER 2
(NEN 7(b) 4,647 1,139
Gain on lease modification HE SRS 6 (2,112) (76)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant  [HEY % * BiE R&E 2
and equipment (k) /B8 7(c) (539) 5,533
Operating profit before changes in EEESEBHA 2 KE RN
working capital 159,469 336,548
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables & 5 & U FRIE (38 H0) R (1,213) 7,785
(Increase)/decrease in prepayment, TERIE -~ e REAEUGK
deposits and other receivables g (358 DD)/?}E@ 2 (19,164) 99,698
Decrease/(increase) in loan and interest  [EUCE F N FI SR, (38 40)
receivables 2,489 (8,946)
Decrease in stock of properties MEFERD 87,946 229,920
Decrease in receipts in advance TEUGRIE R (25,368) (851)
Decrease in contract liabilities BB ERD (49,873) (371,976)
Decrease in deposits and other payables 4% & E b & < FR T8 i, (41,763) (59,099)
Cash generated from operations ‘&é%iﬁﬁﬁ SZHE 112,523 233,079
Income Tax paid B TS (48,993) (72,863)
Net cash generated from operating REXBRB2REFH
activities 63,530 160,216
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n‘/-.r\ IEI ﬁ JIL EJJ ;E

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-= ke
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B3t FER FAT
Investing activities REXEWR
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant H&¥% « BE & &E 2115
and equipment KIB 1,244 454
Proceeds from disposal of investment HEREYE 2 B RIE
properties 20,853 15,751
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets &% AF{EFIBR R EE M2
at FVTOC! W R I8 2 & B E B 2 P
(2] - 11,118
Payments for investment properties B Z [ (17,506) (51,558)
Payments for purchases of property, plant fEE¥13 - BE L& E 243
and equipment, net FE 15 (17,974) (19,300)
Payments for purchases of financial assets 8% & &2 B8R R EE M Z
at FVTOC! EREHERIE 2 © B EENK - (39.252)
Consideration paid for common control E’Jt?i\ﬂT HlE P ITRAE -
combination, net of cash and cash MRFTUBEIR & MR & 55
equivalents acquired (175) -
Placement of pledged bank deposits FEBEMRITFR - (30,357)
Bank and other interest received 2 YR TT R EAth I S 3,035 7,489
Net cash used in investing activities REXKFIAZESFE (10,523) (105,655)
Financing activities mMEEK
Proceeds from new bank and other FTILIRTT REAAE TR FTE
borrowings KIE 1,172,476 531,982
Repayment of bank and other borrowings 1832 8877 J& E A f& 53X (1,117,368) (322,949)
Redemption settlement of convertible AR & 25 [B1 3K
bonds 28 - (134,800)
Early redemption of bonds IRRER &5 (95,937) =
Dividend paid to non-controlling SANE L Ed) o
interests (5,301) (12,857)
Repayments of leases liabilities EREERE (5,964) (6,661)
Interest paid EAHLE (93,543) (98,542)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEKMAZRETE (145,637) (43,827)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRBESZHECGD) &
cash equivalents R (92,630) 10,734
Cash and cash equivalents at the REPNZREREEEH
beginning of the year 23 440,328 424,675
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXEHTE
changes (35,264) 4,919
Cash and cash equivalentsattheend REXRZHEERFESEE
of the year 23 312,434 440,328

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated  BEFT 2 B ZEIE A I 4R & B IS $haR 2 AR 01D ©

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A

nvj\

CRELE T E s

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -_=F=A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries the “Group”) is incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office is
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and the
principal place of business is Suite 3202, 32/F, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang
Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The immediate
holding company of the Company is Goal Success Investments
Limited and the intermediate holding company is Wai Yuen Tong
Medicine Holdings Limited (“WYT") (Stock code: 897). In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the ultimate holding company of the
Company is Wang On Group Limited (“WOG”) (Stock code: 1222).

The Group is principally engaged in the management and sales of
properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") and food and agricultural by-products
merchandising in Hong Kong. The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") which is also the
functional currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (“HK$’000") except otherwise indicated.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”"). For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“CO").

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to the periods
presented, unless otherwise stated.

*
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M B|RME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -=F=A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b)  Basis of preparation of financial statements

(i)

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties and financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16 Lease, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories
or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the
results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of financial statements (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Basis of measurement (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly

or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's subsidiaries are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company is HKS. For the purposes of
presenting the consolidated financial statements, the
Group adopted HKS as its presentation currency for the
convenience of the readers. The directors consider HKS,
being an internationally well-recognised currency, can
provide more meaningful information to the Company’s
investors.

All values are rounded to the nearest thousand unless
otherwise stated.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(b)

Basis of preparation of financial statements (Continued)

(iii)

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk
of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in
note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the

Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the

Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with investees; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one

or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(0

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

0} Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets
which includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce
with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience
to perform the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs
and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the
ability to continue producing outputs.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c)  Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisitions of businesses other than business
combination under common control are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair
value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition
date is on or after 1 April 2022, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in
June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) except for
transactions and events within the scope of HKAS 37 or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the Group applies HKAS 37 or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework
to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(0

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)
assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5
Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured
at the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if
the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of
low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared
with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c)  Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in
a business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period”
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or
a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates
in accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as
appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group'’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised
in other comprehensive income and measured under
HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had disposed directly of
the previously held equity interest.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(0

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination
is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports
provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period (see
above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised,
to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that,
if known, would have affected the amounts recognised
at that date.

Merger accounting for business combination
involving businesses under common control
Business combinations of entities under common
control are accounted for using the principle of the
pooling-of-interests method. The assets and liabilities
of the acquiree are stated at their historical book values
carried in the consolidated accounts of the controlling
shareholder at the date of acquisition. The difference
between the consideration transferred for a business
combination under common control and the total
of (i) the acquisition date historical net asset values
of the acquiree attributable to the Group; and (ii) the
pre-acquisition reserves of the acquiree combined by
the Group is accounted for as a contribution from or
a distributed to, as appropriate, holding companies
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Accordingly, there is no goodwill or a gain on bargain
purchase as a result of a business combination under
common control. The results of the acquiree under
a business combination under common control are
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date such control ceases.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c)  Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(iii)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(“CGUs") (or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent
the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU
within the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of
an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a group of
CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured
on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or
the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the
group of CGUs) retained.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(0

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(iv)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution
of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group’s and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/ permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation (including properties under
construction for such purposes).

Investment properties also include leased properties which are
being recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the
Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from
use and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. A leased property which is recognised as a right-of-
use asset is derecognised if the Group as intermediate lessor
classifies the sublease as a finance lease. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the property) is included in profit or loss in the
period which the property is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any (see note
2(9)).
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Buildings in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management, including costs of testing whether
the related assets is functioning properly and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceed and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the
date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 30 years
after the date of completion.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the
shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 5 years after
the date of completion.

Furniture, equipment and motor vehicles are
depreciated over 5-10 years.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the items is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(f)  Leasing
Déefinition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a leasee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead account
for the lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of staff quarter and office premises that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a leasee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Except for these that are classified as investment properties
and measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful live. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful live and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment

property are presented with “investment properties”.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a leasee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognizes
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily

determinable.
Lease payments included:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the

commencement date;

the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under

residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a leasee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modification

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for
a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease
incentives receivable, based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a leasee (Continued)

Lease modlification (Continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use assets. When the modified contract contains one
or more additional lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component. The associated non-lease components are
included in the respective lease components.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected
to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the
change is a lease modification if all of the following conditions
are met:

the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes
in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same
way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the
changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment
recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the event

occurs.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other

leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised
as receivables at the commencement date at amounts equal to
the Group’s net investment in the leases, measured using the
interest rate implicit in the respective lease. Initial direct costs
(other than those incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors)
are included in the initial measurement of the net investments
in the leases. Interest income is allocated to accounting
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the
Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model. Variable lease
payments for operating leases that depend on an index or a
rate are estimated and included in the total lease payments
to be recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as income when they arise.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both lease and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers ("HKFRS 15”) to allocate the
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease component.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component
on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional

lease payments from lessees.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment; and
right-of-use assets.

In any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for goodwill and intangible assets
with finite useful lives, the recoverable amount if estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

. Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. In
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e., a cash-generating unit).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(g) Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generated unit (or group of units) and then,
to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying amount of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs to sell, or value-
in-use, if determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if these has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is
not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Allocation of corporate assets

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h)

Stock of properties

Stock of properties, which are held for trading, are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value and classified as current
assets. Net realisable value is determined by reference to sale
proceeds received after the end of reporting period less selling
expense, or by management estimate based on the prevailing
market conditions.

Costs necessary to make the sale includes incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
measured subsequently at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business

Combinations applies.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a

financial asset that is required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting

mismatch.

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured
at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned
on the financial asset and is included in the “other
revenue and other net income” line item.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amounts of financial assets that are

denominated in a foreign currency are determined in

that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at

the end of each reporting period. Specifically:

for financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are recognised
in profit or loss; and

for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profit or
loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables and loan and
interest receivables and bank balances) which are
subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experiences, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessments of both the current conditions
at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
condition.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group'’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if
the credit risk on the financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBE®

(Continued)
()  Financial instruments (Continued) (i) =@_IE®E
() Financial assets (Continued) () ETEHEEGE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) B EERE(E)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk 0) ZERE AR

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that are reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that are available
without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking
information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic
expert reports, financial analysts, governmental
bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar
organisations, as well as consideration of various
external sources of actual and forecast economic
information that relate to the Group’s core
operations.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular
financial instrument, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor, or the
length of time or the extent to which the
fair value of a financial asset has been less
than its amortised cost;
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if
the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if:

1) The financial instrument has a low risk of
default;

(2)  The debtor has a strong capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term; and

3) Adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset which
has low credit risk when the asset has external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance
with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means
that the counterparty has a strong financial
position and there is no past due amounts.

For loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is
considered to be the date of initial recognition
for the purposes of assessing impairment. In
assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition
of a loan commitment, the Group considers
changes in the risk of a default occurring on
the loan to which a loan commitment relates;
for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
considers the changes in the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount

becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as
constituting an event of default for internal
credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that financial assets that
meet either of the following criteria are generally
not recoverable:

when there is a breach of financial

covenants by the debtor; or

information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data

about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or

past due event (see (ii) above);

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has
been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over
two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a
provision matrix taking into consideration
historical credit loss experience and forward
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate

determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the debtor in accordance with
the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for
a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that
the Group expects to receive from the holder, the
debtor or any other party.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available,
the financial instruments are grouped on the
following basis:

Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group's trade receivables are assessed as
a separate group);

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through
aloss allowance account.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have
to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEETHE®
(Continued)
()  Financial instruments (Continued) i =SMITE®E
(i) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) (i) ZEEERER (&)
Financial liabilities THEE

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised
cost

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business combination,
(i) held-for-trading, or (iii) designated as at FVTPL, are
measured subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Financial liabilities including bank and other borrowings,
deposits and other payables, bond and lease liabilities
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter
period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end
of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains
and losses are determined based on the amortised
cost of the instruments. These foreign exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss for financial
liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognised and redemption value being recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective interest
method.

Deposits and other payables

Deposits and other payables are initially recognised and
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Bank and cash balances

Bank and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and
restricted deposits arising from pre-sale of properties
that are held for meeting short-term cash commitments.
Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-
term borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to third
party contractual restrictions are included as part of cash unless
the restrictions result in a bank balance no longer meeting the
definition of cash. Contractual restrictions affecting use of bank
balances are disclosed in note 23.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m) Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the period in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in share options reserve within equity. The fair
value is measured at grant date using the option pricing
model, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the
total estimated fair value of the options is spread over
the vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years
is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the period
of the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share options reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted
to reflect the actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the
Company'’s shares. The equity amount is recognised
in the share options reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium
account) or the option expires (when it is released
directly to accumulated losses).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m)

Employee benéefits (Continued)

(iii)  Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale, except for freehold land, which
is always presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n)

Taxation (Continued)

For lease transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of the
initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising
from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement
of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

(i) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received
and the amount of the receivable can be measured
reliably.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(o)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

(i) Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognised because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected
to be met by other parties is treated as a contingent
liability and it is not recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
has become probable. If it becomes probable that an
outflow of future economic benefits will be required for
an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability,
a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare
circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(p)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It
is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer. A contract asset and a contract liability
relating to a contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(p)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service

underlying each performance obligation is determined at

contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group

would sell a promised good or service separately to a customer.

If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, the

Group estimates it using appropriate techniques such that

the transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance

obligation reflects the amount of consideration to which the

Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the

promised goods or services to the customer.

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income from properties leasing under operating
leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Revenue from properties sale

For property development and sales contract for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in
time, revenue is recognised when the customer obtains
the legal title of the completed property and the Group
has present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

Revenue from property ancillary services
Revenue from property ancillary services are recognised
when the services are rendered.

Commission income from agricultural produce
exchange market

Commission income from agricultural exchange market
are recognised when the services are rendered in
accordance with the terms of the agreement signed.

Food and agricultural by-products merchandising
Revenue is recognised when the control of the
goods are considered to have been transferred to the
customers.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(p)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(vi)  Otherincome
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to

receive payment is established.

Government subsidies that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as revenue in profit or
loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which

the expenses are incurred.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the period/year
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and
losses are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost on a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transactions dates.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the date the fair value was
determined.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the results of the Group’s operations not
denominated in Hong Kong dollars are translated into Hong
Kong dollars, i.e., the presentation currency of the Group, at
the average rates for the period/year. The items of statement of
financial position, including goodwill arising on consolidation
of foreign operations acquired, are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end
of the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised directly in a separate component of equity.
Goodwill arising on consolidation of a foreign operation
acquired is translated at the foreign exchange rate that applied
at the date of acquisition of the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences recognised in equity which relate
to that foreign operation is included in the calculation of the
profit or loss on disposal.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(r)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1) A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

2. FEESHBE®

(r)

BEEKA

HERBRIE  BEREESERE

EMUEL—BREEBEIENELE

TEARSEENEE)NEERA »
ANZSEENKAN  EEEEAR E

BEEHETETERRNEE AL -

RAARIE E P fEBE Mg s b &R DR
BENEABEREES A —RIEEA
& UAtE—REENEAREE -

HEEEE  RABEEREENIH
MR E MR ERA - BEEE
RE AR E B A I

FBEEMEERAEELEBANRES

BEAL
i IR TFIER - Bl—5 A5 R AL
A REE

M MEEBATAL  BIZALHZA
TOMREASEARE

0] e RS AEE

(i) HAKEEEAFEN:
%

(i) ARAEEIAEEFAF
WEEEREKE -

139



140 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MB|ERME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -_=F=A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s)  Related parties (Continued)

(2)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary is related to the others);

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member);

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

One entity is joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers also
related to the Group;

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (1)(i);

A person identified in (1)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction

when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between

related parties.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(t)

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that
is engaged either in providing products or services (business
segment), or in providing products or services within a
particular economic environment (geographical segment),
which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from
those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group'’s internal financial reporting
system, the Group has chosen business segment information
as the primary reporting format and geographical segment
information as the secondary reporting format for the
purposes of these financial statements.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities
include items directly attributable to a segment as well as
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to that
segment. For example, segment assets may include stock of
properties, trade receivables and other receivables and right-
of-use assets and property, plant and equipment. Segment
revenue, expenses, assets, and liabilities are determined
before intra-group balances and intra-group transactions are
eliminated as part of the consolidation process, except to the
extent that such intra-group balances and transactions are
between group entities within a single segment. Inter-segment
pricing is based on similar terms as those available to other
external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during
the period to acquire segment assets (both tangible and
intangible) that are expected to be used for more than one
period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate
assets, interest-bearing loans, borrowings, tax balances,
corporate and financing expenses.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other revenue and other net income”.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(v)  Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

The Group regards its financial guarantee contracts in respect
of mortgage facilities provided to certain property purchasers
as insurance contracts.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL,
are subsequently measured at the higher of:

the amount of the obligation under the contract, as
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and

the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

3. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 3.
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or after
1 April 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(”H KF RSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments

to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the October

2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts'

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)*

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates'
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction’

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all

new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the

consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors
of the Company are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumption about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-

of-use assets

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs to sell and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset, which requires significant judgement
relating to level of revenue and amount of operating costs. The
Group uses all readily available information in determining an
amount that is a reasonable approximation of the recoverable
amount, including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of revenue and
operating costs. Changes in these estimates could have a
significant impact on the carrying amount of the assets and
could result in additional impairment charge or reversal of
impairment in future periods.

(i) Valuation of investment properties
Investment properties are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position at their fair value, which is
assessed at the end of each reporting period by independent
qualified valuers, after taking into consideration all readily
available information and current market environment.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Net realisable value of stock of properties

Valuations of stock of properties are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value at the end of the reporting period. Net
realisable value is determined on the basis of the estimated
selling price less the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale. The directors of the Company estimate the net realisable
value for stock of properties based primarily on the latest
invoice prices and current market conditions. In addition, the
directors of the Company perform an inventory review on a
product-byproduct basis at the end of each reporting period
and assess the need for written down of stock of properties.

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables and loan
receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.

Income tax and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes. Significant judgement is
required in determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and certain tax losses are recognised as management considers
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
Where the expectation is different from the original estimate,
such differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax
assets and tax in the period in which such estimate is changed.

4.

BEXSTHERMAFTTIREM
ZEERFR @)

BT HEE L2 T2 RIRE)

(iii)

(iv)

v)
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Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -_=F=A=+—HILFE

5. TURNOVER

Turnover represents revenue from (i) property rental income, (ii)

property ancillary services, (iii) commission income from agricultural

produce exchange market, (iv) property sales and (v) food and

agricultural by-products merchandising. The amount of each

significant category of revenue recognised during the years, net of

discount and sales related tax, is analysed as follows:

EXREB

EXBEHEODEEZWA - (VWERER
B i ERERR IS ZAEHEA - (iv)
MEHERVRMMEREIEREERT W
7o AFERRAZEBEERKEEII 2R
(ORI RAHERBBO T

2023 2022
—EZ= —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers: BEEAKE
Recognised at a point in time R B (2 B T a8
Revenue from property ancillary services YRR ERTS 2 Wk 97,576 101,389
Commission income from agricultural produce K& EZERRHH5H 2
exchange market EEAON 94,915 94,909
Revenue from property sales YIRS 2 s 169,020 418,564
Food and agricultural by-products RmMBREIEREE
merchandising 14,715 11,429
376,226 626,291
Revenue from other sources: H AR 2 Was
Property rental income PRSI A 220,174 242,394
596,400 868,685
6. OTHER REVENUE AND OTHERNETINCOME 6. H Utz R EMFWRA
2023 2022
—Z-= —FE-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&xT FHET
Bank and other interest income RITREMF S M A 5,946 8,518
PRC government grants (Note) Hh B B 4 B (T 5E) 8,975 4,907
Gain on disposal of investment properties HEREME 2 W - 63
Gain on lease modification HEER 2 Es 2,112 76
Others At 7,885 13,105
24,918 26,669
Note: PRC government grants represent various form of subsidies  Bff&E : A7 B0 BT 8 B 5 7 B0 4 75 BT 50 P 1e) AR 42 [ 3% AR

granted to the Group by the local governmental authorities in the
PRC for compensation of expenses incurred by the Group. These
grants are generally made for business support and awarded to
enterprises on a discretionary basis. The Group received these

government grants in respect of COVID-19 and its investments in

the agricultural products exchange market in the PRC. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

ZEEMHE - UREAREMELZRY - %%
R —RERRFEBERMEMR - WIRHEE
BRI - REEFIEMA R EAEFRER
BREMXSMSERZERFREE - WEFH
FEREH AR ZR Z IR AR -
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Forthe yearended 31 March2023 il ZE T - =F - A =+—HItFE

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 7. BRFBADREF

BB A a A AEBGEA)

Profit before taxation is arrived after charging/(crediting):

(@)  Finance costs (@) FEMAR
2023 2022
—E-= —ET-__F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiExT FET
Interests on bank and other borrowings A L& RNAEHEE 2 BT R
wholly repayable within five years HiEEZFE 94,231 95,990
Interests on bank and other borrowings 7B A RHERE ZIR1T M
wholly repayable over five years HiEEZFE 1,504 1,339
Interests on convertible bonds AR EHFI B - 8,974
Interests on bonds BHF A 20,995 23,812
Interests on lease liabilities HEaBME 1,716 1,855
118,446 131,970
(b)  Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) by BIRAK(BREREZ=HD)
2023 2022
—EZ= —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Contributions to defined contribution MR T FERARGT S 45K
retirement plans 4,105 3,985
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENREMEF 62,135 61,345
Equity-settled share-based payment LA A E UMD BER Y
(NEN 4,647 1,139
70,887 66,469
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Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -_=F=A=+—HILFE

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 7. BRBIADEF )
Profit before taxation is arrived after charging/(crediting): (Continued) BB A= Rk GEA) © (8)
Other items (0 HfIEAH
2023 2022
—EB-=F —E-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FA&T
Property rental income LIE AL N 220,174 242,394
Less: Outgoings oA (27,860) (19,977)
Net rental income HE WA FE 192,314 222,417
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BEREETE
equipment 14,227 13,317
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 4,264 3,685
(Gain)/loss on disposal on property, HEME  BERREZ
plant and equipment (W z5) / Eta (539) 5,533
Auditors’ remuneration ZHA S
- audit services - AR 1,980 1,980
- other services - B AR % 280 280
Expenses relating to short-term lease EHIFREEEY . 394 2,505
Loss on fair value change of derivative ~ $TA SR T A 2 A FEE
financial instruments &8 159 59
Unrealised gain on financial assets at fair 22 F{E5IBR L E B R RIS
value through profit or loss 2 e A ERSR WG
—investment in listed equity security - EMRAFBHIRE (11) (46)
Total unrealised loss on financial assets %A F(EFIBR KB =R EE
at fair value through profit or loss, net 2 & @& = A S IH EEERE
FE 148 13
Cost of stock of properties L/ EZERYIFN 124,310 266,413
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Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -=F=A=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8. MeERRHMEAWERZ
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND FR&%t
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(i) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and (i) CEBETEREMEEmBERATIER
other comprehensive income represents:
2023 2022
—E=F —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Current tax B EA B 18
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEEMFH 220 =
PRC Enterprise Income Tax FRERFH 27,015 90,680
27,235 90,680
Overprovision in prior years BAEFEEBERE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR EFE (16,668) =
Deferred tax EERE
Reversal of temporary difference By ZR 2 80 (7E29(b))
(note 29(b)) (1,165) (21,923)
9,402 68,757

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profit for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: No
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group had no estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong). PRC Enterprise Income Tax is computed according to
the relevant legislation interpretations and practices in respect
thereof during the year. PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate is 25%
for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

BHEZT-_=F=A=+—HIFE  &EFNEH
BT ERPEM16.5% T E(ZEZZ2F : ARA
SEMEREBEEMTERTIER - FAb &t
BANEHIELERE) - FR2PRESEMEBIIIR
BHEEEVZERENGE -BHE_T_=F K=
f**i R=+—RIEFE  FRGEMBHZ
X B25% o
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Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -_=F=A=+—HILFE

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8.
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

Hft2ERmERZ

¢ﬁﬂb
D) BI

b
SEAC

3

(i)  Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting profit at (i) REAMERFTEZHERY RS a2
applicable tax rates: ZHER
2023 2022
—EC=HF —E-—F
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
THET FAET
Profit before taxation B R A 27,903 105,793
Notional tax on profit before WIRE RN B R EE
taxation calculation at the rates &5 M S B 18 2 B &
applicable to profits or losses in STEZBBRTRFZ
the jurisdictions concerned BERIE 6,984 25.0 26,448 25.0
Effect of different tax rates in Hi B el EER R
other tax jurisdiction =ML 7,852 28.1 2,760 26
Tax effect of non-deductible TAHMBRAE R EGEE
expenses and temporary ROBRBEE
difference (3,563) (12.8) 17,162 16.2
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERRTRART LS
7% 3 (1,913) (6.8) (3,839) (3.6)
Tax effect of tax loss not RERZHBEEZ
recognised Mse e 22,382 80.2 46,226 437
Utilisation of tax losses previously B 2 BIARRER 2 1%
not recognised BB (5,672) (20.3) - -
Overprovision in prior years BEFE E%E%ﬁ (16,668) (59.7) - -
Withholding tax on distributable BB AR A SR
profits of PRC subsidiaries /MJZ%EW %ﬁ - - (20,000) (18.9)
Income tax expense for the year REEFERHAY 9,402 33.7 68,757 65.0
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 9. EEM<
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to Section 383 of the RR(EBRARI(HBRESMNEERD B (F
Hong Kong Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of 622GE) E38ERBNFANESMEAT ¢

Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) during the years are as follows:

For the period ended 31 March 2023 BE-_Z_=f=A=1+—HLFE

Salaries,
allowances  Retirement Equity-settled

Directors’ and benefits scheme  share-based
fees inkind contributions payment Total

NEREE

EE He 2R RAGHE ARG AER
we REWAR e PANEA B

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER

Executive directors: HTES:
Tang Ching Ho (Chairman) (note 9(a)) BE (E%) (B EE9() 6,120 775 9 - 6,904
Leung Sui Wah, Raymond i (TR ER)

(Chief Executive Officer) 1,939 949 18 1,045 3,951
Yau Yuk Shing AR 300 - 15 - 315

Independent non-executive directors: B FHTES :

Ng Yat Cheung RHE 164 - - - 164
LauKing Lung Bz 164 - - - 164
Wong Ping Yuen FRR 164 - - - 164

8,851 1,724 42 1,045 11,662
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were paid by the Group to the directors of the Company as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office. No directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

152 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited FEHEERXZERAT
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE BRI
Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -_=F=A=+—HILFE
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 9. EEMEw
For the period ended 31 March 2022 BE—_ZT-_—_F=A=+—H
Salaries,
allowances Retirement  Equity-settled
Directors’  and benefits scheme  share-based
fees inkind  contributions payment Total
PEREE
BEE He 2R RIRETE] DR AER
we  REWHE 3K PASEN B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THET T
Executive directors: HTES:
Leung Sui Wah, Raymond DI (TTHEAH)
(Chief Executive Officer) 1912 968 18 252 3,150
Yau Yuk Shing HER 300 25 15 = 340
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Tang Ching Ho (Chairman) (note 9(a)) g (£ f8) (izE9(a) 240 = = = 240
Independent non-executive directors: B FHITEE :
Ng Yat Cheung RAE 164 = = = 164
Lau King Lung 2ligpE 164 - - - 164
Wong Ping Yuen TR 164 - - - 164
2,944 993 33 252 4,222
During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no emoluments REZE T -_=FF T -_—F=F=+—HILHF

B AEEMERARRNESINEAME - 55
FREMNBE kN B AL B 2 B e A BB E -
REBE-_T-_=FN-_T_-__F=-A=+—HItF
B BEAANAQRESREXRBRETMNH
B o

During the year ended 31 March 2022, certain director was granted EHZE—_ZT-_—F=FA=+—HIFE ' BEAQF
share options, in respect of their services to the Group under the share ~ BEAR#EETE] - B TESHFE SR AEE R RS

option scheme of the Company. Details of the share option scheme
are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

Note:

(a) Mr. Tang Ching Ho, a non-executive Director, was re-designated as

an executive Director with effect from 1 October 2022.

BB - BIRET B ZFBRENEZE
BiEE32 ©

B K

BisE

FERTEEMBENLERATAENTES A=
T _Ft+A—HRBEM -

(a)
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10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -=F=A=+—HILFE

(@)  Ofthe five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2022: (a)
one) are directors whose emolument are disclosed in note 9.

The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining

three (2022: four) individuals who are neither a director or chief

10. REHFMA L
AEBRSHEMATENME (=
£ -R)REE BEIMESEE

2023 Annual Report

MisEoEE - Ep=%(ZF_—

mE) AL (HAEIFARBEEHITHAE

= —

=

executive officer of the Company are as follows: H) e RBAOT -

2023 2022

—E=F —E-_F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHT

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERHMET 6,674 6,459

Retirement schemes contributions RIRETEIHEER 45 72
Equity-settled share-based payment LAl 4 B AR D REE 2

(NEN 209 277

6,928 6,808

(b)  The emoluments of three (2022: four) individuals with the b) =FCE_—F:NR2)EaxHMAL
highest emoluments are within the following bands: ZEHENFATEE :
2023 2022
—E=-= T

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z%1,000,0007 7T - -

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T % 1,500,000/ 7T - 1

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001% 7T £ 2,000,000/ 7T - 2

Over HK$2,000,000 i#3#2,000,000/8 7T 3 1

3 4

(0  The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior (0 BERNFENTEREREKE(TEE

management (excluding the directors as disclosed in note 9)

are within the following bands:

BIFEOPT IR EE 2 EH) 2 HH N F LA T 86

:

2023 2022
—EB-=F —E-F

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,000/%8 7T 1 =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7L % 1,500,000/ 7T 1 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £ 2,000,000/5 7T 1 1
Over HK$2,000,000 852,000,000/ 7T 1 1
4 5
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10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)
() (Continued)

The remuneration shown above represents remuneration
received and receivable from the Group by these members
of senior management in their capacity as employees to
the Group and/or in their capacity as the members of senior
management of the Company during the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the senior
management as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, certain non-director
and non-chief executive highest paid employees were granted
share options, in respect of their services to the Group under
the share option scheme of the Company. Details of the share
option scheme are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

11. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENTS BENEFITS

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes
(the “Schemes”) organised by the relevant local government
authorities whereby the Group is required to make contributions
to the Schemes at certain percentage of the eligible employees’
salaries, pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the
PRC. The local government authorities are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to retired employees. There were no
forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of employees who
leave the retirement benefits scheme prior to vesting fully in such
contributions) be used to reduce the existing level of contributions
during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. As at 31 March 2023,
no forfeited contribution under the retirement benefits schemes of
the Group is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group has no other obligation for the payment of postretirement
benefits beyond the contributions described above.

10.

(0

11.

BaHEMA LT
)

EXAREFAERE T =F R T
FZRA=tHILFEZSSREEENKE
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BB Z 0 B M MBI A SR B O A

BE—_ZT-_=fRKR-_FT-_—F=A=+—H
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| 1% B S Sk B R4 18 -
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AR R M TE32 ©
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12. DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in

respect of the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 respectively.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$6,836,000 (2022: approximately HK$6,401,000) and the
weighted average number of 9,953,067,822 ordinary shares
(2022:9,953,067,822 ordinary shares) in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2023
was the same as basic earnings per share because the impact
of the Company's share options had no dilutive effect (2022:
same as basic earnings per share because the impact of the
company'’s share options had no diluted effect and convertible
bonds during the year had anti-dilutive effect).

14. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group has two reportable segments under HKFRS 8, (i)

agricultural produce exchange market operation and (ii) property

sales. The segmentations are based on the information about the

operation of the Group that management uses to make decisions

and regularly review by the chief operating decision maker for the

purpose of allocating resources to segments and assessing their

performance.

12.

13.

14.

o)
EFTRBENAARE-S-=FR=-F
—=E=A=t-RLEEZEARS -

FRER
@ FREKRF

BREARNBF IIREARARES AEMN
2 71 496,836,0008 TT(ZEZZF : 49
6,401,000/8 70) & F N B 21T N F 15
T mAY B E 9,953,067,822f (— T — —
F : 9,953,067,822/% L@ 5+ E -

(b) EREZRF

HE_Z-_=F=-A=+—HLFEZ
BRESBINESRERNBZFER
REAAAAIBRE 2 2L EHE
HE(ZE-—F  AFRELRRTE
B REARFAERNRBREZ 2T
BEREYERARREFAAREEY

&) o
DR E
RIBBBVEMERED TN AEBEER
BERDE : (WEERBRERRHME LY

FHE - LD MDEREERRERRELR
R ARATBEEERREER R - AR
BT OEEDBNEREHRELFFHER
Bz AEBEREER -
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14. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 14. DEPE®E @
Segment revenue and results 7 abl s K 4R
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AEERAFER E—FEREHHBE S
reportable segments for the current and prior year: ZWEREEATHT
Agricultural
produce exchange
market operation Property sales Unallocated Consolidated
BERERRATS NEHE FOR &&
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“EC-ZE | Z3-CF | ZECZE | ZE-C “E-ZE | Z3-CF | ZECZE | ZE-C
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TEn Thr Tén Thn TEn Thn Tén Thn
Tumover B5E
External sales e 47380 | 40121 | 169020 | 418564 - - | 59400 | 868685
Results E+
Seqment result GEES | 166,649 202777 33523 91,303 - - | 200172 304,080
Other revenue and other netincome R R FRA 15,744 10953 - = 9,174 15716 24,918 26,669
(Gain onitigation judgment FirlAkE - 48572 - = - s - 857
(ain on early redemption of bonds REEDZE Wa - = - = 15,556 = 15,556
Allowance for expected creditlosseson 25 R EM UGB J: &
trade and other receivables and loan WERBEREEER
receivables, net EF8 (1,513) (426) - - (1,423) (2,09) (2,936) 252))
Allowance for expected creditlosseson AT EFIEREEZE
financial assets at FVTOCI WaRE e HAEES
[EEFRRE - - - - - (5,566) - (5,566)
Net loss i fair value of investment RENFLATEFER
properties (4,651) (53477) - - - - (4,651) (53477)
Lossondisposal offinancial assetsat (K ERATAFIEREEM
FrToC FEUERE SHAE
B - . - = - (22,19) - (22,1%0)
Loss on far value change of fTEERIAZATERD
derivative financial instruments 5! - - - - (159) (59) (159) (59)
Unrealised gain on financial assets at fair ~ ZAFEFIRREERR
value through profitorloss REZEBAEIRER
Y - . - = 1 46 1 46
Written down of stock of properties MEFEHE - - (6,400) - - - (6,400)
Unallocated corporate expenses AOROERT (80,162) (57,790)
Profit from operation =l 146,349 37763
Finance costs RERA (45396) | (38541) - S| (m30s0) | (93429) | (118.446) | (131970)
Profit before taxation HATER 27,903 105793
Income tax it (9402 | (68757)
Profit for the year AEREH 18,501 37,036
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14. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies describe in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements. Business segment represents the profit from
each segment without allocation of certain other revenue and
other net income, loss on fair value change of derivative financial
instruments, unrealised gain on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, certain allowance for expected credit losses on trade
and other receivables and loan receivables, gain on early redemption
of bonds, allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets
at FVTOCI, loss on disposal of financial assets at FVTOCI, central
administrative costs and directors’ salaries, certain finance costs
and income tax expenses. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance.

Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external
customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group'’s assets and liabilities by
reportable segment:

14.

2D G BR AL S M BFIMRM T2
Ptz AE B G RERER - EB D BEER
DECE T HE b deas K EAMFRA - ITES R
TAZAVEEHER BAFEINKRE
SRXREECEMEEZARER KL BH
K E A Y FIEAR R ER 2 AREEE
BzETRE REBERESR 2%z B
FEINEREEMEEKGEREEZ SMEE
BHEEEERE HERQITFEIKREAE

HitemPaRE c eMEERE - B RTT
BEA - EEHH - B TRERRRAEHR

A& ED #8287 o thHsEIR D B R
DERBFEMAEELEERRAERZT
He

ERERBEBRINAEFPEEZ WS - B

BT _=HFR-T-__F=A=+—HL
FEI D FLEHE o

AEEREHROMBED ZEERABEZ7W0

Property sales Consolidated

Agricultural
produce exchange
market operation
RERERRZT S
2023 2022
“B-z=F | ZT-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER THT
Assets &E
Segment assets DEE 3,398,330 3,653,129
Unallocated corporate assets AN ECEEE
Consolidated total assets mRAERE
Liabilities afs
Segment liabilities ok =N 1,661,121 2,048,190
Unallocated corporate liabilities KD E % EE
Consolidated total liabilities ~ 4FA B EHE

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating

resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and

corporate assets.

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than

bonds and corporate liabilities.

MEHE &e
2023 2022 2023 2022
—BC=E | ZE--F | ZBZZE | ZZ-—-F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THIT THT THT
1,323,709 1,534,063 4,722,039 5,187,192
193,154 303,896
4,915,193 5,491,088
196,960 233,727 1,858,081 2,281917
929,700 857,639
2,787,781 3,139,556

RERDHBZOBRERDRERME

BRIRAFESIRRERGREE 2 S/
BEMPREEZIN  IBEEHASEK

FE2H/HE

7]

BREZREEEEZIN
%)

5]

T2

B o

FrERESD
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14. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 14. DEPE®E @
Other segment information HibH &R
The following is an analysis of the Group's other segment information: AEBEMDHBERSTOT :
Agricultural
produce exchange
market operation Property sales Unallocated Consolidated
BERERRATS NEHE L) &8
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZECcZE | ZZCCF | ZBozE | CECCF | ZBZzZE | CEZCCF | ZBozE | -
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Tén T T ThAT Tén Thn T AT
Capital expenditure (Note) BRRR () 37,492 70524 - = 869 3% 38,361 70,858
Depreciation of property, plant and 0% BERRENE
equipment 11,883 10,298 - - 2,384 3019 14,227 13317
Depreciation of right-of-use assets PREAERE 4,264 3,685 - - - - 4,264 3,685

Note: Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and
equipment and investment properties.

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no other single
customers contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenue.

Geographical information

As at the end of the reporting period, over 90% of revenue of the
Group were generated from external customers located in the PRC
and over 90% of non-current assets of the Group were located in the
PRC. Accordingly, no geographical segment analysis on the revenue
from external customers and carrying amount of segment non-
current assets is presented.

M BARAXBEDE  BEEREBAREE
WMEZRE -

HE-_T-_=Fk-FT-_—_F=A=+—H
ILFE - WEEME —FF 5 EASEE10%3K
LA E Z Uk 2E -

ol B FY

RE|EHR - RNEEB0% R TIEE BN
REZINERP - RAKEEONIFREE E
fIARE - Bt - WEZIFRR B EBEP
ZWaE R DR BER B A EREEETILED
EBAT
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Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -=F=A=+—HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y% - MERRE

Furniture,
equipment
and motor Leasehold
Buildings vehicles improvements Total
&E - HE
By BRERAE e ko]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT THT FAT
Cost: B :
At 1 April 2021 RZZ=Z—FMA—H 7,954 126,675 15,518 150,147
Exchange adjustments b R 298 5,261 648 6,207
Additions NE 1,225 18,075 = 19,300
Disposals HE (3,740) (7,622) (539) (11,901)
At 31 March 2022 and RZZEZZF=A
1 April 2022 =+—HERZZTZ=F
mA—H 5,737 142,389 15,627 163,753
Exchange adjustments BEE 34, R B (433) (10,708) (1,177) (12,318)
Additions NE - 17,943 31 17,974
Acquire on acquisition of I BEHT B A A)
subsidiaries - 23 48 71
Disposals HE - (9,606) - (9,606)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZB-=%=8
=+—H 5,304 140,041 14,529 159,874
Accumulated depreciation: REE
At 1 April 2021 RZZE=—FWA—A 1,949 84,417 6,981 93,347
Exchange adjustments BEE 34, 89 3411 303 3,803
Charge for the year REZME 386 12,342 589 13317
Disposals HE - (5813) (101) (5.914)
At 31 March 2022 and N-B-—F=A
1 April 2022 =+—BRZT==F
MA—H 2,424 94,357 7,772 104,553
Exchange adjustments BE 4, A B (181) (7,093) (584) (7,858)
Charge for the year AEEMR 410 13,111 706 14,227
Disposals & - (8,901) - (8,901)
At 31 March 2023 R-BZ=%=A4
=t+—H 2,653 91,474 7,894 102,021
Carrying amount: BREIME
At 31 March 2023 R-ZB-=%=A
=+—H 2,651 48,567 6,635 57,853
At 31 March 2022 RNZE-__F=A
=+—H 3,313 48,032 7,855 59,200
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES 16.

ERELSE HESE

Right-of-use assets

@ EREEE

Leased land
and premise
HEWHE
HK$’000
FHET
Costs 5%
Asat 1 April 2021 R-ZE-_—FMmA—AH 27,811
Modification E=T (1,796)
Exchange adjustments e H AR 1,149
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZZEZ—F=A=1+—HBR=ZZT=_=F
MmA—H 27,164
Addition mﬁ 25,140
Modification I(EH) (23,113)
Exchange adjustments E)ﬁ‘f = (2,065)
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZZBZ=5=ZA=+—H 27,126
Accumulated depreciation 2t E
As at 1 April 2021 RZE-_—FMmMA—AH 8,179
Depreciation provided during the year FRITERE 3,685
Modification 1&&] (399)
Exchange adjustments bE AR 396
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZEZZF=RA=+—HRZZ==F
MA—H 11,861
Depreciation provided during the year F W TERE 4,264
Modification ©&z (12,637)
Exchange adjustments ﬁﬁ'ﬁ = (917)
As at 31 March 2023 R-B-=%=ZH=+—H 2,571
Carrying amounts IREE
As at 31 March 2023 R=ZZBZ==ZA=+—H 24,555
As at 31 March 2022 RZZE-_—F=A=+—H 15,303

The right-of-use assets represent the Group's rights to use

underlying leased land and premises under operating lease

arrangements over the lease terms, which are stated at cost

less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease

liabilities.

ERAREEEASERBEEHELTHNE
HAEAERESE LR YEZERN - EI
RABRANE R RFDREBETIR - Wit
EREEREENRFTETIAAE -
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES

(Continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

On 1 October 2022, the Group and Wang On Group Limited
entered into the master licensing agreement which sets out
the general principles and key terms governing the definitive
licensing agreements under which relevant members of Wang
On Group Limited may grant license of, and the Group may
take up the license of the premises from 1 October 2022 to
25 September 2025. A non-cash addition of approximately
HK$9,644,000 was made to both right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities on commencement date. As at 31 March 2023,
the relevant right-of-use assets amounted to approximately
HK$7,427,000 and the corresponding lease liabilities amounted

16. FHEESE HEA&Ew

(a)

EREEE®E)

R-Z-—F+A—H FAEERZELY
SEER AR AR - P

FJIREREESFE L —RRA R EER
G mik - RREEBR AT ZERE

ﬁE“TTﬁ_E::¢+ﬂ—H§
ZE-RAFNAZTHRBHEELY
¥3rA  MASKEABSES - B
Fis A E AL E R E A EED
IEIR SR E 49,644,000 c R=_FT =
=F=RA=+—08 " HBEFEAEEEL
#47,427,000% 7T - MAAEHEES BN A

to approximately HK$7,631,000.

7,631,000/ 7T ©

Lease liabilities by HEEE
2023 2022
—EZ= —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Analysis as DITR
- Current - e 6,436 4912
- Non-current - IERE 23,198 15,035
29,634 19,947
Lease liabilities payables: ENEERE -
- Within one year -—%R 6,436 4,912
- More than one year but not later than - — & {BfR4F A
two years 6,601 4,299
- More than two years but not later than — R & 1412 T 4F A
five years 11,378 7,949
- Over five years -RENRE 5,219 2,787
29,634 19,947
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 A AEIEREE 2 HIE
12 months shown under current (B/Q\/)\Libg\1ﬁ—|?§”/j—\)
liabilities (6,436) (4,912)
Amount due for settlement after 2@ A& IR 2 B (R IE
12 months shown under non-current mEAETIR)
liabilities 23,198 15,035

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to

lease liabilities was 8.1% (2022: 8.3%).

ERARNEEREZ NETFHZEER

FIR A8.1%(=

T :83%)
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES

(Continued)

17.

(b)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

Total cash outflow for leases amounted to approximately
HK$5,964,000 (2022: HK$6,661,000) for the year ended 31
March 2023.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

16. FHEEE HEAEw

B

(b) HEBE®

HE-_ZT-_=F=-A=t+—HLFE"
HER ML %4 45,964,000 7T
(ZZF=—4 : 6,661,000/87T) °

\r

17. BEYE

2023 2022
—E-=F — T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Completed investment properties BEIEKIRE Y 2,933,376 3,178,403

At the beginning of year REH] 3,178,403 3,069,723
Additions RNE 20,387 51,558
Disposal HE (20,853) (15,688)
Transfer to stock of properties BERYEFE - (3,205)
Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss RERERZ A THEERE (4,651) (53,477)

Exchange adjustments T 5 3 B (239,910) 129,492

At the end of year RER 2,933,376 3,178,403

(@)  Valuation of investment properties @ H‘EWHEZMHE

The investment properties amounted of approximately RZEZ_=F=ZA=+—H  &t&

HK$2,933,376,000 of the Group were stated at fair value as at
31 March 2023 (2022: approximately HK$3,178,403,000). The
fair value were arrived at based on the valuations carried out
by an independent firm of qualified professional valuer, RHL
Appraisal Limited (“RHL"), who has among their staff members
of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience
in the location and category of the properties being valued.
The valuations conform to the Valuation Standards 2020
Edition published by the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

#492,933,376,0008 L (Z T =_=F : &
3,178,403,0007 7T) 2 & & W) 2 = A FE
B o ATFEDNREARBY S EEBEMGER
KT ERER AR A R ([KFT]) e
EmMETE - kFTHEREANEMBEE
B WHEBITHEMEZME RERNESR
B ELESR - ﬁfﬁﬁi{éﬁéiﬁ%“ﬂU%%%%
HE 2 EEEN(CTZZTFR) °
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(a)

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

RHL has valued the properties on the basis of capitalisation
of the net income derived from properties rental. In the
course of their valuation, RHL has also made reference to the
comparable market transactions as available. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held between the Group
and valuers at least once every six months, in line with the
Group's interim and annual reporting dates. As at 31 March
2023 and 2022, the fair values of the properties have been
determined by RHL. At each financial year end, the Group (i)
verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report; (ii)
assesses property valuations movements when compared to
the prior years valuation input; and (iii) holds discussions with
the independent valuer.

The valuation assumptions, unless otherwise stated, RHL
assumed that:

(a) all necessary statutory approvals for the properties or
the subject building of which the property forms part of
their use have been obtained;

(b) no deleterious or hazardous materials or techniques
have been used in the construction of the properties;

(c) the properties are not subject to any unusual or
especially onerous restrictions, encumbrances or
outgoings and that good title can be shown; and

(d) the properties are connected to main services and
sewers which are available on normal terms.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used
in the prior years. In estimating the fair value of the properties,
the highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

The valuation of investment properties is determined by
various major inputs:

The major key inputs applied in valuing the investment
properties were market unit rental per each square meter
per month (the “s.q.m. per month”). The ranges of s.q.m. per
month of various locations were from RMB9.72 to RMB70.6
(2022: RMB8.74 to RMB67.2). A significant increase in the s.q.m.
per month used would result in a significant increase in fair
value, and vice versa.

17. BEWH w)

(a)

REWMRZHE@E

KAFTIRB Y EA S FRABTER
2 EAEE R ETTINE - REGERIE
o KFATE2RBABRETERS °
AEERGEMEDENER — X
HEARRKER  BAEEZPHRF
EHREAHR B - NZT=FR=T
ZZH=A=+—H WEZATEE
HKFMITERE - REEMBFER - K
SEHOREHBE L GERSZFMEEXR
BABR ¢ ()RT(AERBEFEAERA
IR 2 WEGEEE) - (i) BB
S ERMEITR R ©

BB FEHAIN

.
B

HKAATEHIA T A ER

@ EWEIZMEBK B RE
MR T RSB L ENE
EHLE ¢

b) ZENMERBRBYMRBEE
SRR YR SR

(@ ZEVELITIZRNEFARER
EEFNRG ERBEIX
o AARRCEMEE &

d) ZEVREERERRIGETIRM
ZEBRBRMBLITRER °

RBEFERRANEEATEBAT
WEH - NMEFTWENLFER - WX
EkERREREREENAE -

KEMENLERZIEE Z[ ABIEE
B

HEREMEMRAZEEZHAZER
BABERAMGEMNES (AT
FR]) o TRME 2T AT FHAKEE
NFERARB72TEARE70.67T(Z
To—F: AR%874tE ARK67.2
TL) °c FTERAZ B AETFE R KEIE KR
NG - HEERLTEREELN - R
ZINER e
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

17. BEWHE»

The analysis of the carrying amount of investment (b) WEWMEZEREEBEITWT :
properties is as follows:
The term yield and reversionary yield were one of the key FHRBREREFBHRE TN EERE
inputs used in valuing the investment properties. The ranges MEMFERZ EBEIE - FHRHRE
of term yield was from 7.0% to 8.0% (2022: 7.0% to 8.0%) NFR7.0%ZE8.0%(—Z = —4F : 7.0%
while the ranges of reversionary yield were from 7.5% to 8.5% £8.0%) * MEHFEIREN FTR7.5%E
(2022: 7.5% to 8.5%). A slight increase in the term yield and 8.5%( =T = —F : 7.5%%£8.5%) ° FTR
reversionary yield used would result in a significant decrease in FA 4F B [0 3 % % 18 B [0 ¥R & A4 (045 AN
fair value measurement of the investment properties, and vice B BeEsukEMELATEFER
versa. ERMD - RZTRK e
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAET
In the PRC a3
- medium-term leases - R HETE A 2,933,376 3,178,403
Details of the Group’s investment properties and (00 AREEBR-_ZT_=FK-_ZFT__
information about the fair value hierarchy as at “HA=T—RZEBEVEFEBERE
31 March 2023 and 2022 are as follows: BARFEER2ERNT :
Fair value as at
Level 1 Level 2 Level3 31 March 2023
R-B-=F
ZA=t-H
F—R -t 1} =8 ZAYE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FET FAT TER
Investment property unit RR Bz BB MEEN
located in the PRC - - 2,933,376 2,933,376
Fair value as at
Level 1 Level 2 Level3 31 March 2022
R-B-F
=A=1+—H
£ E St E= ZRAYE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR THT TR
Investment property unit MR B2 REMEEN
located in the PRC - - 3,178,403 3,178,403
There were no transfers into or out of level 3 during the year. RER » B=RABTFAEALEL -
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(d)

Investment properties leased out under operating
leases

All of the Group's property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals are measured using the fair value model
and classified accounted for investment properties.

The Group leases out its investment properties which is
agricultural exchange markets to various tenants. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 1 year to 5 years
for both years, at the end of which period all terms are
renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
For the year ended 31 March 2023, the rental income from
investment properties less direct outgoings of approximately
HK$27,860,000 (2022: approximately HK$19,977,000)
amounted to approximately HK$192,314,000 (2022:
approximately HK$222,417,000).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/
or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease
term.

The Group’s total future minimum lease payments under
noncancelable operating leases are receivable as follows:

17. REWHE »

(d)

RELEHELHEZREME

AEEMAENERRREKERER
B URBUZAFEERGECHES
WA ERRFFAREDE -

AEEMZLZHEFHBEKRENE - &
BEMRRSMIE - BO—RYZ HEH—
FERF @ HRESEFERATE R -
MO IS AEE HE_T—_=
F=A=+—HILFE KaREWE
Z e AR A B E X 4927,860,000
BIT(—Z = — 4 : #919,977,00078 7T)
#)/192,314,0008 L (ZE=—F : 49
222,417,000 7T) ©

HAMEEENNEEERES A 25
BH¥EHE E&$¢@I4ﬁlfﬂi§§§tﬁﬁ
EERIMNE R - HEA NI EEA TR
EEEREEBAREERERE
BEWEEEE -

A58 B R 55T G 2R SR S
LR BET

2023 2022
—E-= T

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FET

Within 1 year —ER 174,444 214,862
More than one year, but within —F A ETBAMRF

two years 58,073 78,760
More than two years, but within MEA EBTBR=F

three years 10,670 22,427
More than three years, but within =F U HETBBMNF

four years 3,662 9,632
More than four years, but within LA LB BRRSF

five years 2,989 5116

More than 5 years HEME 5,038 12,762

254,876 343,559

Pledge of investment properties (e) IREWHEZHEA

As at 31 March 2023, the land use rights in respect of
investment properties with a total carrying amount of
approximately HK$1,770,881,000 (2022: approximately
HK$1,574,129,000) were pledged to banks for the Group’s bank
borrowings, details of which are set out in note 26.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group had been applying
for the relevant certificates in respect of the buildings erected
on the land included under investment properties owned by
the Group.

RZZTZ=F=R=+—80 ' BEYH*
IR (E 4 41,770,881,000/8 L (==
— 4 #91,574,129,00078 7T) 2 t i
FREEHAEB 2 RITERMER T
RIT - FHIEEHRMIEE26 ©

RZZE—=FR=ZF-_—_F=A=+—
A AEE—EREEREASEMEES
WEWMENZ Tib EEZMEFRER
F‘aﬂ&a
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18. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(@)  General information of subsidiaries

Particulars of
Place of issued and fully
incorporation/ paid ordinary
registration and share capital/
Name of Company operation registered capital
BRAREBAR
AL/ LERRE/
AIER BRREEHE HRERFE
Novel Talent Limited British Virgin Islands/ usp1
Hong Kong
RERgEE/ E9
B
BMFEHEERERAA  ThePRC RMB61,220,000
(note 18(a)(i))
BIFEERERERAA  4E ABH61,2200007
(Htz18(a)0)
REODMNBEERATS  ThePRC RMB180,610,000
ER A (note 18(2)i)
REapiggER TS $E AR1806100007C
BRA (K 18())
IHEEREERNEMSE  ThePRC RMB34,85,700
ER A (note 18(2)(i)
INCEREERNETS  $E ARH34285,7007C
BRA (K 18()0)
THEENRERERAT  ThePRC RMB320,000,000
(note 18(a)(i))
INEENRERERAA  AE ABR3200000007C
(B2 181a)i)
NNEEERERHETS  ThePRC RMB160,000,000
AR (note 18 (3)i)
PNTERIERNETS  HE AK160000,0007
BRA (K 18()60)
FATEERERNETS  ThePRC USD23,230,000
& [R/2E(note 18(a)i)
RitkEAERNETE  HE BB000ET
BRAR 186
RETERERHETS  ThePRC RMB 208,182,500
&R/ E(note 18(a)i)
AGLERIERNETS  HE 20818250070
BRAR 186
ERTERREGHETS  ThePRC RMB140,000,000
AR 2\ 7note 18(a)i)
ERTERIERNETS  HE AR%140000,0007C
ERAR (180
ERTERIEGHETS  ThePRC USD10,000,000
ER A (note 18/a)(i)
ERTERIEGHETS HE 1000000057

B (K3 18()6)

18. TEMBEAF

@ MBRRZ—KRER

Proportion of ownership interest

and voting power held
Group's effective interest Held by the Company Held by subsidiaries
RERERERERLA
AREZ

ERER ARRRE KEARRE
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZE-CE | 2B ZECCE | ZECC “B-CE | CEocCE
100% 100% 100% 100% - -
51% 51% - - 51% 51%
100% 100% 7.23% 1.3% 92.77% 92.77%
51% 51% - - 51% 51%
100% 100% - - 100% 100%
100% 100% - - 100% 100%
100% 100% - - 100% 100%
100% 100% - - 100% 100%
75% 75% - - 75% 75%
100% 100% - - 100% 100%

Principal activities

IEEH

Investment holding

RAER

Agricultural produce exchange market
operation

BERERR ST

Agricultural produce exchange market
operation

BERERRSTS

Agricultural produce exchange market
operation and property sales

BERERRATARNERE

Agricultural produce exchange market
operation and property sales

EERERRATARNZEE

Agricultural produce exchange market
operation and property sales

EERERRATARNZEE

Agricultural produce exchange market
operation and property sales

BERERZATARNERHE

Agricultural produce exchange market
operation and property sales

BRRERRATARNEEE

Agricultural produce exchange market
operation and property sales

BRERRATARNEHE

Agricultural produce exchange market
operations and property sales

BERERRATARNEHE
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18. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(@)  General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of
Place of issued and fully
incorporation/ paid ordinary
registration and share capital/
Name of Company operation registered capital Group's effective interest
BRTREHAR
HeL/ LERRE/ A5E2
AIER BEREEHE HMERFE BERESR
2023 2022
ZECCE | ZEoC
EREEREERNR The PRC USD30,299,805 100% 100%
ER A (note 18/a)(i)
*;‘Ez??L%E\EEuM HE 3029980550
BRAR M8
BRNTEBIREERME  ThePRC RB12820,000 58.58% 58.58%
T35 B & (note 18(a) i)
RRTEERIRAERYE 4B ARE128200007
TEARA (H8a)i)
RNESNREERDRE  ThePRC RB3,000,000 51% 51%
B note 18()i)
ElEpNEEERNRE 4B AR300000070
BB (P 18()i)
ERTERBERHETS  ThePRC RMB2,000,000 80% 80%
AR 227 (note 18(a)i)
ERLEREEREETS 9B ABH200000070
BRAF (K 18())
Notes:
(i) Registered as a sino-foreign equity joint venture under the

(i)

(iii)

laws of the PRC.

Registered as a wholly-owned foreign enterprise under the
laws of the PRC.

Registered as a domestic-funded enterprise under the laws
of the PRC.

18. T EM B2 T @

(a)

Proportion of ownership interest

(ii)

(iii)

and voting power held
Held by the Company Held by subsidiaries
RERARRAZRLA
ALRRE KEARRE
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZBCZE | ZEC ZBCZE | CRoCF
- - 100% 100%
- - 58.58% 58.58%
- - 51% 51%
- - 80% 80%
BtsE
(i)

REFBEEAEELRTICESR

MELRZ —RER#®)

Principal activities

IZER

Agricultural produce exchange market
operation and property sales

EERERRATARNEHE

Agricultural produce exchange market
operation
BEEERRATS

Agricultural produce exchange market
operation

Agricultural produce exchange market
operation

BEEERRSTA

AT o

RIBFREZRECRINGBELE -

REFBEAEELRANEDLE
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18. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at

the end of the year or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in

the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or

assets of the Group. To give detail of other subsidiaries would,

in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

lengths.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have

material non-controlling interests

Name of Company

G

HEFRERRERAR

INTERIERHETS
ARAT

Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests

RRFERERZ
[ERIFERMBAR

Proportion of

ownership interests

and voting rights

held by non-

Place of incorporation/ controlling

registration and operation interests

HRAL ERR FERERS

gene BAELA

The PRC 49%
T

The PRC 49%
T

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the

Group'’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests

is set out below. The summarised financial information below

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

18. TEM B AR @

(a)

Profits allocated to
non-controlling interests

PREFERBRER

2023
—E-cE
HK$'000
T#Ex

10,246

4,965

MELRZ —RER#®)

BRI SR BN FR R F R ERE
BA EAERHES

FRINNEEFRREIEZBAREREE
FEEZREHWNBAR - EFRRM
EREMHBERRFBEREFBBNE
& -

e E AR 2 R BB
NGPE

Accumulated
non-controlling interests

2023
—EC-ZE
HK$'000
FET

2022
—E-CF
HK$'000
THT

2022
—E-CF
HK$'000
THT
9,445

177,582 181,044

18,165 183,330 197,143

28,474 34,032

389,386 412,219

BRREEEREASERER 2 XM B QB M
AHMEHNTX - TXHBEHRE2HREEAN
HIHATFOA
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18. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18. TEMB AT @
(b)  Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) BAEARFEZERERZIEZENB
material non-controlling interests (Continued) NAEZFFE ')
MR FEEER BRI A] )  FINRFEEZEREEFRI A
2023 2022
—EB-=F —E_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET
Current assets mBEE 70,475 65,829
Non-current assets ERBEE 430,386 461,522
Current liabilities mEBE 56,840 59,367
Non-current liabilities ERBERE 81,583 08,481
Equity attributable to owners of AR EHEA AEEE TS
the Company 184,856 188,459
Non-controlling interests IEFE AR HE 2 177,582 181,044
2023 2022
—E-=F =B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET
Turnover EERH 49,232 50,639
Other income Hiblzs 2,623 2,034
Net gain in fair value of KEMERN T ERS
investment properties FEE 4,544 4,857
Expenses 53 (35,489) (38,255)
Profit for the year F AN 20,910 19,275
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18. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18. TEMBEA A @
(b)  Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) BAEARFEZERERZIEZENB
material non-controlling interests (Continued) NEIZ B
() FRINEF E B %R F R 2 Al (Continued) ()  BINEFEEREERAFE)
2023 2022
—EZ= —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Profit attributable to ownersof ~ ANARIEA A FE1L )G F
the Company 10,664 9,830
Profit attributable to FEPE R 2 R 5 A
non-controlling interests 10,246 9,445
Profit for the year F A 20,910 19,275
Total comprehensive (loss)/ AAREE AEIEEE
income attributable to owners (&518) WA 5
of the Company (3,603) 17,542
Total comprehensive (loss)/ JEERE R G EE
income attributable to (&518) WA %58
non-controlling interests (3,462) 16,854
Total comprehensive (l0ss)/ FREE(BE),WALE
income for the year (7,065) 34,396

Dividend paid to non-controlling = {5 JE{ZRR% #E 25 2 B 8.

interests - 8,961
2023 2022
—EZ= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Net cash inflows from KEEFIREMAFE
operating activities 15,564 25,387
Net cash (outflows)/inflow from & EEEE RH),HA
investing activities S (6,313) 5,952
Net cash outflows from BERBIR M FEE
financing activities (12,217) (32,150)

Net cash outflows B R (2,966) (811)
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(b)  Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have

material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(i)

18. TEM B AR @

(b) HEEAFERERZIFZENE
DR Z B )

EMEEREERHET S BRA A (i) EMEEEEERAETS
BIR A A]
2023 2022
—E-= —ET-_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiExT FET
Current assets MENEE 640,829 718,048
Non-current assets FEREEE 1,490 1,637
Current liabilities nBBE 229,566 273,305
Non-current liabilities EREBAR 40,342 45,780
Equity attributable to owners of ARG #EA AEEE D
the Company 189,081 203,457
Non-controlling interests IEFE AR HE 2 183,330 197,143
2023 2022
—E-= T
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FExT FET
Turnover EHERE 84,645 161,138
Other income H b e 490 295
Expenses A (75,002) (121,042)
Profit for the year FREF 10,133 40,391
Profit attributable to owners AARHA AELRF
of the Company 5,168 22,226
Profit attributable to FEPE AR 25 FE A VR T
non-controlling interests 4,965 18,165
Profit for the year F A 10,133 40,391

171



172 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -_=F=A=+—HILFE

18. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b)
material non-controlling interests (Continued)

FMEEREERIMET SR A]

18. FEM B AT
WA EAIEEIRIER Y 2 ANE
AT 2 EE )

F L REEmM RS

(Continued) BR A (#E)
2023 2022
—E-=F —ET-_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHIT
Total comprehensive (loss)/ RN AEEZE(EE),/
income attributable to LNk
owners of the Company (14,376) 27,609
Total comprehensive (loss)/ PR (G 2 (B51R)
income attributable to LNk
non-controlling interests (13,813) 21,206
Total comprehensive (loss)/ FREE(BE),WALEE
income for the year (28,189) 48,815
Dividend payable to FE IEFE Rt 2 2 IR B,
non-controlling interests - 2,157
Equity transaction with LRIk i s 2 IRBERR B
non-controlling interests - 12,771
Net cash (outflows)/inflows ESEEIRS (), mAFE
from operating activities (526) 24,522
Net cash (outflows)/inflows JEEERS (), mAFE
from investing activities (156) 43,924
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from B ESEENIR &R A (R H) F5E
financing activities 1,009 (100,169)
Net cash inflows/(outflows) BERA CRit)F58 327 (31,723)
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19. WEEFE

2023 2022
—E-= —ZE-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Completed properties BRI 1,194,108 1,491,852
Properties under development EREAPYE 136,001 42,211
1,330,109 1,534,063
Less: written down of stock of properties B MEFERR (6,400) =
1,323,709 1,534,063
As at 31 March 2023, the stock of properties of approximately R -_ZT - =F=A=+—H WEFEY

HK$366,550,000 (2022: approximately HK$382,532,000) were pledged
to bank for the Group’s bank borrowings, details of which are set out

in note 26.

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(a)

366,550,000/ 7T (ZF = —4F : %7382,532,000/5 1)

BB RITE R T RTT

B5E26 ©

BRFERR

20. BE5 RHEMEWRE

Trade receivables (@ EBZEWFIE
2023 2022
—EB-=F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBx FAT
Trade debtors, gross RN E SRR B 10,548 10,096
Less: allowance for expected W REEESREE
credit losses (8,584) (8,208)
1,964 1,888
Ageing analysis BREC T

Trade receivables, net of allowance for expected credit losses,

with the following aging analysis presented based on the

FEUE 5308 FIRR TR E R B IRERS)
IRIRAE & 1 19 T IEK

i 25 R & 5

payment terms on the tenancy agreement as of the end of the RZEBOHTHT :
reporting period:

2023 2022
—E-= —E -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Current to 30 days BIEAZ30H 1,335 703
31 to 90 days 31HZE90H 313 470
91 to 180 days 91HZ=180H 51 322
Over 180 days 180H LA | 265 393
1,964 1,888
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(@)  Trade receivables (Continued)

Ageing analysis (Continued)

The Group generally allows an average credit period of 30
days to its trade customers. The Group may on a case-by-case
basis, and after evaluation of the business relationships and
creditworthiness of its customers, extend the credit period
upon customers’ report.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set
out in note 35(a).

EZRHEHMEWRFIE®

(a)

B 5 RWRIA ()

Rl 2 (48)
AEE—RETEESEP308 2T
EEH o ALE N E RE(ER BN MR
FHEEEER Z XBHEREEE R
BEPHMEMEREEH -

EHE S EEIBERENGZFEEHN
BI5E35(a) ©

(b)  Prepayment, deposits and other receivables (b) TERIFKIA - HE KHEMEWFKIE
2023 2022
—EB-=F T

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Deposit for land acquisition TR RS 55,337 59,855
Other deposits Hiniz & 9,299 10,405
Prepayments TERIE 82,108 88,498
Other receivables H o e sk IE 59,361 42,090
206,105 200,848

Less: allowance for expected B TEEE B SRR
credit losses (754) (1,315)
205,351 199,533

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other
receivables are set out in note 35(a).

EREe R E KRG IBRERE 2 5
BEEAKIFE35@) °
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21. EWEREFE

2023 2022
—E-= —ZE-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

FiExT FHET

Loan and interest receivables, secured BREZEFE - EEA 60,720 63,031
Loan and interest receivables, unsecured EWERRFE - EEKR 9,945 12,945
Less: allowance for expected credit losses B BEEEEEEE (43,586) (44,538)
Loan and interest receivables, net U E TR K A SR 5 27,079 31,438

Analysis as: DR

Current portion BIHRE8 5 9,870 12,913
Non-current portion SERNHAES 5 17,209 18,525
27,079 31,438

The average effective interest rates on the Group’s loan receivables

are 5.8% (2022: 5.8%).

Details of impairment assessment of loan and interest receivables are

set out in note 35(a).

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

35(@) °

—_ N

AEBEZEBRERFHEERNEA58% (2T ==
1 58%) °

B BE P Y R K M BOR B Y il 2 R IR B B R

22. EAFEIBRERRERKRER
4 BE

2023 2022
—EZ=F —F-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Listed investment held for trading: BIEEBZ LTHRE :
- Equity securities listed in Hong Kong -RBEB LT 2 RAES 123 112
Derivative financial instruments: PTHESRTIA :
- Put option in relation to acquisition of - BB E A R 2 R E
subsidiaries 232 -
Fair value ~NEE 355 112

All financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at
fair values. Fair values of the listed investments are determined by
reference to the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant
stock exchanges. Fair value of derivative financial instruments was
arrived on the basis of valuation carried out by a firm of independent

professional valuers. Details of fair value measurement are set out in

note 35(f).

FBERATFEINEENERREE 2 SMEETR
RFEIIE - EHREZATFELZERBRRE
RHHEH

HBEABMER - TEERTAZA

FERBBIEEGEMTETZHEZER - RAF
BErt &2 FHIFHNIRES
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE —F

T=FZA=t—HIFE

23. BANK AND CASH BALANCES/PLEDGED
BANK DEPOSITS

Cash at banks and in hand
Pledged bank deposits (Note b)

RITHEBREFRES
BB MRITF R (FEEb)

23. (RITRBE S CEHBIT
T?-H'A

2023 2022

—E-= —E_F

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ET FHT

312,434 440,328

28,517 30,820

Notes:

Cash at bank and in hand comprise cash held by the Group and
bank balances that bear interest at prevailing market rates ranging
from approximately 0.001% to 1.95% (2022: approximately 0.001%
to 1.76%) per annum and have original maturity of three months or
less.

Included in cash at banks and in hand as at 31 March 2023 is an
amount denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) of approximately
RMB239,318,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$272,763,000)
(2022: approximately RMB325,233,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$400,947,000)). Renminbi is not freely convertible
into other currencies.

Included in cash at bank and in hand as at 31 March 2023, restricted
cash of an amount of approximately RMB5,018,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$5,720,000) (2022: approximately RMB5,804,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$7,155,000)) represents certain
companies of the Group which are required to place in designated
bank accounts certain amount of pre-sale proceeds as guarantee
deposits for the constructions of the related properties. The
deposits can only be used for payments for construction costs
of the relevant properties. Such guarantee deposits will be
released after the completion of construction of the related
properties, and restricted cash of an amount of approximately
of RMB49,000(equivalent to approximately HK$55,000) (2022:
approximately of RMB49,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$61,000)) is the restricted cash held at banks as receipt on behalf
of tenant in agricultural produce exchange market.

Deposits amounting to HK$28,517,000 (2022: 30,820,000) have
been pledged to secure short-term bills payable and bank
borrowings and are therefore classified as current assets.

BEE

RITEBRETFERERCBREANERFE 2R
& UREEFEN T40.001%E1.95%(=
7__¢ #90.001%%1.76%) 2 B 1TH 5
FEABAERIBAA=EAHIATZIR
‘ﬂ'ml:l Z N

RZZT-_=F=ZA=+—8 " BIE8K
FHESHFE—BUARE(TARE]D
B2 HEH AR%239,318,0007T (FHE
#9272,763,0008 ) (ZT==F : HAR
#325,233,0007T (FHE 7 £7400,947,0007%
7)) e ARBETEEBHREBRARMER -

RZZEZ_=F=RA=+—8 " RT&&%
RFIHERELBE—IBLHARES5018,0007T
(FEE 495,720,000 ) (ZE==F : 4
AR #5,804,0007T (F8E 7 497,155,000
L)) BRI FRREAEENE T AR
AREERITEF T RE TEENEEY
¥FTSRUE - (EREBMERETEMNR
B ARBEEVTENINEBEMED
BETREER - ZREBSBNEEYER
FTIRRTEERBREZRERSSELD
/\Eﬁ%w,oooﬁﬁa%ﬁé #4155 oooi%ﬁ)(*
T F  HARKE49,0007T (FHE 4

61,0005%75))2%1&%%Ef‘%mx%miﬂﬁ)f'
IER B0 SR TRR B METF 3K ©

o

17#28,517,0008 T (=T = =
30,820,000/%5 7T) B WM AR RN &
FMARTTEREER - YRS EAREDE
E °
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BANK DEPOSITS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
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23. ﬁEiT&iﬁﬁﬁﬁ,%/EféfﬁﬁEﬁ
FRe
i ()

(© Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: (0) REEETELAMEBEYHER
Lease Bank and Convertible
liabilities other borrowings Bonds bonds Total
HEEE SROREMES &% TRRES Ft
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#x Tix Tix Tx T#x
(note 16(b) (note 26) (note 27) (note 28)
(FzE16(0)) (FiizF26) (BzE27) (FizE28)
Net debt as at 1 April 2021 RZZ-Z-FmA—AH
ERHER 25,254 1,044,309 195,630 131,363 1,396,556
Changein cash flow, net ReRERY 38 (6,661) 118928 (2,900) (140337) (30,970)
Foreign exchange differences ERER 972 2333 - = 23,305
Modification &7 (1473) = = = (1473)
Other non-cash movement A EREE 1,855 90,105 23812 8974 124,746
Net debt as at 31 March 2022 and W-ZE-_—#=f=1+-H
1 April 2022 RZB--FMA-AH
(et 19,947 1,275,675 216,542 - 1,512,164
Change in cash flow, net ReRERY F8 (5,964) 55,108 (98,537) - (49,393)
Foreign exchange differences ERER (1,498) (53,055)) - - (54,553)
Modification {Ba7 (12,588) - - - (12,588)
Other non-cash movement Hipknss 29,737 - 6,141 - 35,878
Net debt as at 31 March 2023 R-B-=§=fA=1-H
WEREE 29,634 1,277,728 124,146 - 1,431,508
=)
24. DEPOSITS AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. RERHMENRIE
2023 2022
—ECZ= —E__F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Accrued charges EstE R 28,240 31,514
Construction payables FEEREFUR 41,608 47,123
Deposit received BiiES 86,809 100,836
Interest payable e AR 17,488 22,397
Other tax payables H A e TR 15,926 13,896
Other payables H b FETRE 196,570 240,541
386,641 456,307

177



178 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -_=F=A=+—HILFE

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25.

The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to:

Revenue from contracts with customers: BEE&HWE
Contract liabilities relating to sale of HEEMESNEBHELN
properties contracts at&

BRNAE

AEBCDHERETIISBABNELE :

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHIT
166,096 233,727

The contract liabilities relating to sale of properties contracts will
be recognised as revenue when the Group satisfies its performance
obligations by transferring the control of the properties to the
customers.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognized
in the current reporting period relates to carried-forward contract
liabilities relating to sale of properties contracts.

Revenue recognised that was included FAETAGHAERERTN
in the contract liability balance at the B R U R

beginning of the year

EAREEAERMEEHRTEPETH
BHEMER  BHENEANBHENADNA
B R Ak aR -

TRATRARSHMERREHHENE
AEHMNEBEARNAEERNKEGEER -

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHT

169,020 418,564




—EC=FEFR
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26. RITREMERK

2023 2022
—E-= — =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET
Secured bank borrowings (note (a) and (b)) B iﬂﬁ B (Hi7E(a) b)) 882,029 699,675
Unsecured other borrowings (note (d) and (e)) 4K 3 £ 4th & X (M 5E(d) K (e)) 395,699 576,000
1,277,728 1,275,675
Carrying amount repayable: JAEEAREE :
Within one year —FR 229,173 809,122
More than one year, but within two years —F A L BETBAMF 148,818 134,930
More than two years, but within five years MEA LB BRRF 879,221 294,639
More than five years RAFEE 20,516 36,984
1,277,728 1,275,675
Less: amounts due within one year shown B BB EE TR
under current liabilities —FREBIHFA (229,173) (809,122)
1,048,555 466,553

Included in the above balances are bank borrowings of variable-
rate of approximately HK$351,613,000 (2022: approximately
HK$215,740,000), being denominated in RMB, which carry interest
adjustable for changes of borrowing rate offered by The People’s
Bank of China. The average rate charged by the banks during the
year ranged from approximately 4.9% to 5.5% (2022: approximately
4.9% to 5.2%) per annum. Interest is repriced every 30 days.
Bank borrowings of fixed-rate of approximately HK$184,776,000
(2022: approximately HK$483,935,000), being denominated in
RMB, carry interest fixed from approximately 4.5% to 7.4% (2022:
approximately 2.6% to 7.4%) per annum. In addition, included in
the above balances are bill payables of fixed rate of approximately
HK$16,150,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$61,640,000).

Bank borrowings of variable-rate of approximately HK$335,040,000,
being denominated in HKD, carry adjustable interest at HIBOR plus
0.5% per annum. The interest rate is repriced monthly. In contrast,
bank borrowings of fixed-rate of approximately HK$10,600,000,
being denominated in HKD, carry fixed interest rate at 2.5% per
annum.

Except bank borrowings of approximately HK$345,640,000 are
denominated in HKD, all other bank borrowings, in an aggregate
amount of HK$536,389,000, are denominated in RMB as at 31
March 2023.

AR IEAARKEEZZERT
1 M’J351 613,000 (=T ==
#9215,740,000%87T) * ZEBRZFE
‘H;zEPI/\Efﬁﬂkﬁiwﬂ*ﬁufi“
M#AE - FA - |RITWREZ FHF| =
T EFE4.9%E5.5%(-F = —4F : #@
4.9%FE5.2%) c M EEFR=THENTE
B—R- LARBFTEZESRITHE
K #)184,776,0008 L (Z T —F : 4
483,935,000/ 7T) & & [E & F|  494.5%
B74%(ZT - —F : H2.6%=7.4%)5
Boltihr FliEBRFPRER-2T ==
FZA=1+—HZETHNEERERLD
16,150,000/ 7T (ZZE = = : 61,640,000
/%713)

LA TTEHE 2 0% B IR1T1E 5049335,040,000
P IR BB IRITRI ZE IR B NG F1%K0.5%5T
8 o FIRGASIMEE - R - BT
B2 E B IR1T1E5X4710,600,0007% T 1% [E
TEFEF)EL2.5%:1 8 ©

RZTEZ=F=A=+—8 " KBH
345,640,000 ;T AR 1T & SR IA B T
STEN  MBEHMRTEE(BREAR

536,389,000/ 7T) ¥ AN RIEEHE ©
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26. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

(d)

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has unsecured borrowing
with carrying amount of approximately HK$84,000,000 and
approximately HK$306,000,000 from Wai Yuen Tong Medicine
Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wai Yuen
Tong Medicine Holdings Limited, and Luxembourg Medicine
Company Limited, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Wai Yuen
Tong Medicine Holdings Limited, respectively. These unsecured
borrowings are denominated in HKD and carry fixed interest rate at
10% per annum with maturity date in May 2027.

In addition, unsecured other borrowing of approximately
HK$5,699,000, being denominated in RMB, carry fixed interest rate
at 7.3% per annum with maturity date in April 2023.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has unsecured borrowing with
carrying amount of approximately HK$70,000,000 from Double
Leads Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang
On Group Limited and unsecured borrowing with carrying amount
of approximately HK$506,000,000 from Winning Rich Investments
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine
Holdings Limited. The unsecured borrowings carry fixed interest
rate at 10% per annum with maturity date on September 2022. All
other borrowings are denominated in HKD. The above unsecured
borrowings were settled during year ended 31 March 2023.

(d)

BITREMER®

R-TZBE-=F=F=+—H8 AEEHK
B TEEEERERARZEZENEA
AT E SR AR R T AT E BEEER
BRARIZIIZEMBRARIEREEER
R 2 A BR EE 5 511 4) £84,000,000/% 7T &
306,000,000/ 7T 2 IR (EFN o ZFEIK
BERABITE  BEFHNEHE10%
RZZE-+FRAZHE -

BEAI - 4 45 3R A £ 5K 405,699,000 7T LA
AREE  BEFMNERII%  R=F
—=FARIE -

NR-ZTE-—F=A=+—H  "EBAK
BERREBERARIZZEWE R REF
KREBRARRMITEZEEITERAR AR
ZIEEWBRARGNKEEERARRE
B Bl 9 470,000,000 7T 52506,000,000
PETT 2 IR (G SR o IR E SR E T FF
KE10% R-E__FNAZH - B
HERABITEHE - il EIRBERE
RZE-=F=A=+—HER-

The ranges of effective interest rates (which equal to contracted ® AEBBERZEBEMNEFEERE LT
interest rates) on the Group’s total borrowings are as follows: R)EEMT -
2023 2022
—E-= —_=E=——
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHAT
Effective interest rate: EERF= -
Fixed-rate borrowings ERER 2.5% to 10.0% 2.6% to 10.0%
2.5%%10.0% 2.6%%10.0%
Variable-rate borrowings FEER 4.9% to 7.3% 4.9% t0 5.2%
4.9%%E7.3% 4.9%%5.2%
The secured bank borrowings are secured by the in investment (9 HBEMRITEREME7  19R23FHR

properties, pledged bank deposits and stock of properties with
total carrying amount of approximately HK$2,165,948,000 (2022:
approximately HK$1,987,481,000), which are set out in notes 17, 19
and 23 respectively.

BREIE41/52,165,948,0008 L (==
F : #491,987,481,00087T) 2 EWHE - B
BRBIIFARMEFTEER -
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27. B

Listed bond

maturity in 2024
(“Listed bonds 2024")
R-ZB-WFIHZ
thESF(==2=mF

tHmES])

HK$'000

FHET

(Note a)

(GED)

At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-_—FWMA—H 195,630

Add: Interest charge m:FEER 23,812

Less: Interest paid/payable BB EAFE (2,900)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZZBZZF=A=+—HK

—T__FMmMA—H 216,542

Add: Interest charge m:FEEA 20,995

Less: Early redemption A RRREE (111,493)

Less: Interest paid/payable o BT RS RLE (1,898)

At 31 March 2023 RZZEZ=F=RA=+—H 124,146

Non-current portion FEENEAER
At 31 March 2023 R-ZZBZ=5=ZA=+—H 124,146
At 31 March 2022 RZE-__F=A=+—H 216,542

Notes:

G

a. On 19 May 2014, the Company established a HK$1,000,000,000

medium term note program. The bonds issued under the program
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited by way
of debt issue to professional investors only. The Company further
announced that interest on the notes will be payable annually in
arrears at the interest rate of 1% per annum.

The Company has totally issued 40 batches with the principal
amount of HK$400,000,000 with 1% interest rate per annum on
30 May 2014, 11 June 2014, 25 June 2014, 2 July 2014, 10 July
2014, 18 July 2014, 28 July 2014, 29 July 2014, 26 August 2014, 30
September 2014, 6 October 2014 and 7 October 2014 respectively.
The entire of the Listed bonds 2024 will be matured on 30
September 2024.

RZZE—MFERATNHE  KRRIRY
1,000,000,0007% 7T 2 B IR AT &) © 1BIE
FTEIBITZEFURABEREERITE
BHAAREBHERSGMERAE L
e ARBIE—TEMERFEBEETFE
~F FRIER1%

ARABERRIR=ZTE—WOFRA=T
A - —T—NmNFE~A+—H ZF—
MEXNA-+HE  —ZE—WFEL A
“H -ZZE—WmFEtLA+H - ZF—NQ

FLA+N\B  ZZE—UFLA=-FTN
A —Z2—NFt/=+NB - =F—
WMENAZ+AH  —ZE—WFNLA=

+B - ZE—mFE+ARNAR=ZZ—
ME+AERAERBITIOMAETEA
400,000,000/ 7T F F & A 1%H) &5 ©
ZZWF EMEFBEPNR =TT
FAA=1THT|H -
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27. BONDS (continued) 27. BF @)
Notes: (Continued) MisE : ()
a. (Continued) a. (#&)
The information of Listed bonds 2024 are presented as follows: ZENF EMEFZERZIAT ¢
Principal amount: HK$400,000,000 REHa - 400,000,000/ 7T
Interest: 1% p.a. payable annually FA FF1% ' BHFEX
Issue date: 40 batches issued from ZITAE: BHIE-NFRA=+HZE
30 May 2014 to 7 October 2014 —Z-MOE+AEHET
40fEH#LIR
Maturity date: 30 September 2024 FHE - —ZE-WFENAA=TH
Redemption period by Three specified redemption dates RATRE B AR = EEENED
the Company: from 31 December A= —=%F
2023 to 30 June 2024 +ZA=+—HZ%
—T-mEXNA=TH
Redemption period for Four specified redemption BHFRE AR PEHEE D
the bond holders: dates from 30 September 2023 fEEHAM : HEf—Z =%
to 30 June 2024 NA=+RZE
“E-MOFEANA=TH
Redemption amount HK$387,400,000 REIBARRER S : 387,400,000 7T
on maturity date: (96.85% of principal amount) (A 4 %E#996.85%)
As at 31 March 2023, the Company has completed the purchase R-ZT-_=F=A=+—H A7
of and cancelled the Listed bonds 2024 in the aggregate principal SRk B [ [ 3T 4 7N 4 48 58 5250,000,000
arr]nocunt of HK$250,000,(|)IO(L. The Llst(:]d :\Jotr:diZi)Zj I:;J)ur:jhazsoezd“loy ST =B UE FTES o ANT]HE
t " ich t i in e — S g g NN
e Company was cancelled, upon which the Listed bonds BT PIE AT T

the principal amount of HK$150,000,000 will remain outstanding. A 458 5150,000,0005% 7T #) — B — pu 4
Sz AR ) ) /BJCHY —= —

EHEHNIAREE -

The fair value of the Bonds 2024 is approximately HK$129,989,000 R MFEEWEFR_E_=F=A

as at 31 March 2023 (2022: approximately HK$239,134,000). The =+—H®RTFEL £129,989,0007 7T

Bonds 2024 were classified as level 2 of fair value hierarchy. (ZZ = : 49239,134,000/87T) © —
T_MF FHESSERATEERE
& e

The imputed interest expenses on the Listed bonds 2024 were — T E AN EN AR

calculated using effective interest method by using the effective EREEN RS G TEANEA

interest rate of 11.6%.
11.6% °
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28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 19 October 2016, the Company issued 7.5% denominated
convertible bonds with the aggregate principal amount of
HK$500,000,000 (the “Convertible Bonds"). Each bond entitles the
holder to convert into the Company’s ordinary share at a conversion
price of HK$0.4 and maturity on 19 October 2021.

The Company issued the Convertible Bonds for the principal amount
of HK$500,000,000 to raise additional funds for the general working
capital and repayment of indebtedness of the Company.

The Convertible Bonds may be converted into shares of the Company
at any time on or after issue date up to the close of business on the
maturity date.

Unless previously redeemed, converted, purchased and cancelled, the
Company will redeem each Convertible Bonds at its principal amount
with accrued and unpaid interest thereon on the maturity date.

The Company shall, at any time before the maturity date, have the
option to redeem the Convertible Bonds in whole or in part by giving
not less than seven clear business days’ prior notice. The amount
payable for any redemption shall be the relevant amount of the
principal amount of the Convertible Bonds so redeemed.

The Convertible Bonds bear interest from and including the issue date
at 7.5% per annum in arrears every six calendar months after the date
of issuance of the Convertible Bonds. The interest payable amount is
calculated by 7.5% to outstanding principal amount of such Bonds.

The Convertible Bonds contain three components: redemption
option derivative, liability and equity elements. The redemption
option derivative and term extension derivative components are
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss. The equity element is presented in equity heading “convertible
bonds equity reserve”. The effective interest rate of the liability
component on initial recognition is 12.31% per annum. The valuation
of Convertible Bonds was performed by an independent qualified
professional valuer of the Company.

On 6 April 2017 and 19 April 2017, 380,000,000 shares and
115,500,000 shares have been converted. On 19 December 2017,
the Convertible Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$37,000,000 were used to set off the consideration of rights shares
of the Company.

28. M[AKRES

REZZB—X"F+ATIA  RARETEAS
42 %H 500,000,000/ 7T 89 7.5% A] 32 J% & 75 ([ 7]
BEREHR]) - BNEFE TIFE AERNILE
BREOABTEBRAQAZ LB R=FT =
—F+A+hBEE-

RN B)EE 1T R4 58 5500,000,0005% 7T & AT 32
BRES  UWERHEIINESER—REEELESD
REEXRRNBER -

BIREF N EIT A E B 32 & E R
Eéﬂﬁﬂﬁii?ﬁ#*i—fﬁv R BARRBIRD °

BIEERCER - 8 BERiEHE - BRI
RRBERENH B R A BER EET B
MEEE S0 MR ES -

REEI A ATERER - NRARARES DK
BBy BB E AT AR A 5 TE&E?‘HjT\Q‘Eé‘tT
EEAELBM - pEQEMNRENEES
B AKEQ AR ESNA S

BmRESFBETH(BEZA) BIRFF X
7.5%:T B RAJREHFEITEPEE R
BAX - BRFESEIREBES KT
FEAREEZ7.5%:TE ©

BRREFBE=BD BRBERETET
ﬂ BERERDS  BRERETETR
REEBRITET BT ik A FEERN B
EROATFEZEAE - EaxH SDATATR
BEHEEREEINERZY - IPHERAERE
BHBERFFRE12.31%  AlERESFZ
HEBRARF —RBILEERBEGERME

7 -

|: m

RZE—tEtFWONARNABER=-_T—tFHWNA
+NB ' 25 5##380,000,0008% 1%
115,500,00008f& 5 - R=—ZT—+F+=-_A+
hB le/i\ﬁﬁ*ﬁi%n 000,000/ 7T #Y A] #2 % f&
FANEHEARRHRAORE -
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28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

On 9 December 2020, the Convertible Bonds with the aggregate
principal amount of HK$130,000,000 were redeemed early with loss
of HK$5,067,000 recognised in the consolidation statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income.

On 19 October 2021, the Convertible Bonds with aggregate principal

amount of HK$134,800,000 were fully redeemed.

28. AR ESF @)

RZEZTF+=ZANA
130,000,000 LA Al R EHFEIRFER -

TREGAERREM2E KRG R ERER

CAEHRBR

5,067,000/ 7T °

RZB-_—F+A+ThB XAEHEH

134,800,000 7L 2 AI R EHEE BEED -

The Convertible Bonds information are presented as follows: AIRRES 2 ERZ2FMT -
Principal amounts: NEEE - HK$ 134,800,000
134,800,000/ 7T
Interest: HE in HKS settlement 7.5% p.a.
payable per six calendar
months after the date of
issuance
AREITEHRERENE
B RALAB T AEN
BFEXN7.5%
Issue date: FHITHE 19 October 2016
—E—XE+A+TNH
Maturity date: EH3R - 19 October 2021
—E_—Ft+A+ANH
Conversion price per share: BARERE : HK$0.4
047 7T
Risk free rate: 42 [ P 1) = 0.64%
Discount rate: PraEx 12.39%
HK$’000
FHET
Liability component =N E:i5
As at 1 April 2021 RZZE-_—FWA—H 131,363
Redemption fE o (134,800)
Imputed interest charge (note 7(a)) HEF 2 (MEE7@Q) 8,974
Interest paid BRFLE (5,537)
As at 31 March 2022 R-B-_—_F=A=+—H -
Equity component EEBD
As at 1 April 2021 R-ZEBE-_—FMA—H 40,495
Redemption fE o] (40,495)
As at 31 March 2022 R=-ZB-_—_F=A=+—H -
Redemption option derivative component BEERESTETAERS
As at 1 April 2021 R-ZE-_—FWA—AH (59)
Change in fair value NEEZS 59

As at 31 March 2022

R-B--#=A=+—H
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29. INCOME TAXIN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Income tax payable in the consolidated statement of financial (a)
position represents provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax
and Hong Kong Profit Tax.

(b)  Deferred taxation recognised: (b)

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the year ended 31 March 2023 and 2022

29. HEMBRRRZFFEB

RAEPBIRARENMSHIETRBERE
PSR BB SR -

BRERELERIE

BHE_Z-_=FR-_FT-_—_F=A=+
—HLIFE ERGARBRAERER
ZEERIBE E 2 AR E D Rk H & BN

are as follows: T~
Fair value
PRC adjustments
withholding of investment
taxon  properties and
distributable stock of Convertible
profits properties Bonds Total
ARRENZ  RENERDE 0k
TEENR FEZATERER RES am
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET FHEL FET
Deferred tax arising from: EEREELR
At 1 April 2021 RZE-—4mA-A 20,000 542,860 1,141 564,001
Exchange adjustments B 5 R = 22,934 = 22,934
Credit to profit or loss AR (20,000) (782) (1,141) (21,923)
At31March2022and 1April 2022 RZZTZ=%=AH
=t+—Ak
“Z-_FMA-HR - 565,012 - 565,012
Exchange adjustments EECE - (42,648) - (42,648)
Credit to profit or loss FAER - (1,165) - (1,165)
At 31 March 2023 RZZE-=%=f
=t-H - 521,199 - 521,199
2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised TEEREMBARRRER
in the consolidated statement of RIEHIEB EFE
financial position 521,199 565,012
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29. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 29. REMBRRRZFAB/R @
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)
(c) Deferred taxation not recognised () KRIERZELEFIA
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax RBEHRR  AEEERFERABEZE=Z=
losses of approximately HK$334,706,000 for the year ended 31 =F=A=+—HIEF/E4334,706,00075 T
March 2023 (2022: approximately HK$383,483,000) available (ZZE == : #383,483,000/5 J0) T TEE 1B
for offset the future taxable profits. No deferred tax asset has A] A LA SH R SR FE SR B s ) o BRI 2 DATEORIR
been recognised due to the unpredictability of the future Hos MR - A EERBELERIBEE - Lk
profit stream. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses MEEeEEEEFEZ RERNIBEELQ
of approximately HK$287,779,000 (2022: HK$339,924,000) 287,779,000 7T (=T = — 4 : 339,924,000/%
arising from the PRC which may be carried forward for five T AR B NAEE o B hE5184946,927,000
years. Other losses of approximately HK$46,927,000 (2022: BIL(ZZ == : 43,559,000/% 7r) 7] £&BR HP
HK$43,559,000) may be carried forward indefinitely. The Group Ee o NIEMKR  AEETEEMEAR
had no other significant deferred tax assets/liabilities not RZBELEFIEEE AfE -
recognised as at the end of the reporting period.
30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 30. EXRK G
(@)  Authorised and issued share capital (@ FEERBEITRA
2023 2022
—EC=F —T-—F
Number Nominal Number Nominal
of shares value of shares value
RAEE [ERED RHEE [EE)
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 SREEOTET
(2022: HK$0.01) each (ZZBZZF 0018
L@k 30,000,000,000 300,000 30,000,000,000 300,000
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: ~ Z&ER @ ERTRARE
Atthe beginning and the end of the year AT R 9,953,067,822 99,531 9,953,067,822 99,531

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally in regard to the Company’s residual assets.

BRI AT 2R 2 A
BRAERNADRZ &% R ERE—
£ - FEERREAANHSEEST
AR E -
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b)  Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Share premium
The application of the share premium account is
governed by section 40 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda.

Capital redemption reserve

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal
value of the Company’s shares repurchased which
has been paid out of the distributable reserves of the
Company.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents (i) the difference
between the underlying net asset value of the
subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of the
shares of the Company issued pursuant to group
reorganisation in 1995, and (ii) contribution arising from
capital reorganisation in 2003 and 2009.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus is available for
distribution to shareholders. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make distributions
out of contributed surplus if:

- it is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; or

- the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium accounts.

Shareholders’ contribution

The shareholders’ contribution represents imputed
interest expense on the non-current interest-free loan
from ultimate holding company in 2005.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements into presentation currency of the Group
which is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 2(q).

30. EAXAKHE®
(b) fRFEHEZ2EBREH

()  REBE
B EERZERAFAARER
REZ-NN\—FEREARE
FA0GHTE ©

(i) EAEO]E
ERELRBEEARARFREBEAR
D2 EE  DRAREZA DK
PR -

(i) B
ERBBEOFKERBEARY
MEAEFESR - NANAEE
¥ = W EAR P 35 1T AN A B ARAD Y
EEZBEE  Ri)—TT=4F
R_ETEhERABSHMEEY

REBREZE - NN\ —FREDE
(&IEF]) - BHMBHTI DR T K
R o AW ARBERTIERT
PEERIKNEE - B

BERIEH DK :
- B AT s H D KA R AR
BRI 2R : 3K

- BEBAETEREEE
REBERAEBIRA
FRR 153 BER 2 4070 -

(iv) BREHE
BREEREFKIERAFTR-Z
THERBFENPREERZHE
HFBAY -

) [ELFEE
ELFEEREMBELBBIME
HERE  BRHBREZRRBWFE2q)
FrEl 2 5T HRERE -
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(vi)  Other reserve
The other reserve of the Group was the changes in the
Group’s ownership interests in its subsidiaries that do
not result in the loss of control.

(vii)  Convertible bonds reserve
The convertible bonds reserve represents the
conversion option of convertible bonds recognised
in the equity until either the bonds are converted or
redeemed.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of reserves available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company was nil
(2022: Nil).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and
services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to strictly control the debt level. The Group
maintains a strategy on acquiring land only if the project
development can commence within a short period of time
so as to minimise the time period between acquisition and
development of the acquired land, thus the Group’s capital can
be efficiently deployed.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of gearing
ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines net debt as total
debt (which includes bank and other borrowings and bonds)
less cash and cash equivalents. Capital comprises total equity
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

(b)

30. EXRf#EE

R EE LB

i) HE
AEBzEMRERERAAEERE
MEARZHEEERZEH (D
FEYKR AT RE) -

(vii)  FTHRJR (& 5 1
AHRBRESFERETEEFEER
ok 5 B 31 % AT e B 5 A i S T
RHY R IR

et Al Dk BE
R-Z-_=F=A=+—H ' AJRAEXRQ

AEABESREEZREAT (=
T4 fm) o

= _

BERER

FEEEEEAAAEREARERE
EREQEEB RN ERBERR
RIS B ERET R BRI AR 2 KT R iR
BERABERE  EHENEEAR
R B R K A E th ) 2548 B & TR L A

REBERESG S ER RS MNEEENLE
B - ABIRIERIETS KT - AEEMER
ZEEREENENEEPNRFART
EEALHIERBER  BEARER
RWEREREBA LI Z FARESH
F o EASEREARINERER o

REBAAEL R BEEEEHEREE
BBt mE - ARERERFRERE
REBEE(BIFRITREMETIAR
BFRRERERRECEE - EARE
KRR R IR 2 s - AEE
ZBRBREEERFMER o
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(d)

30. EXR#E®

Capital management (Continued) d) EBEXEE#E
The gearing ratio as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 was as follows: R =FR-ZZF__F=A=1—
AzBELEMT :
2023 2022
—E-=H —E-—fF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B3 FHERT FHET
Bank and other borrowings SRIT R E M fE R 26 1,277,728 1,275,675
Bonds [EE2 27 124,146 216,542
Total debt E7% # 5 1,401,874 1,492,217
Less: Cash and cash equivalents  J3 : IR& MIR&E5E 23 (340,951) (471,148)
Net debt 153 1,060,923 1,021,069
Total equity T RTE 2,127,412 2,351,532
Net debt-to-capital ratio BEEFRREE AL 49.9% 43.4%
Neither the Company not its subsidiaries are subject to 7R &) & E Iff &8 A 735 57838 SpHNEL b I 2 & AN 57
externally imposed capital requirements. E °
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31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

31.

RARMBRARRHEERE

(@)  Financial position of the Company @ ARaEZHBEARR

2023 2022
—EZ= —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET

Non-current asset kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR ZIRE 164,855 164,855

Current assets REEE
Amount due from subsidiaries A EENGIE /S 2,244,060 2,235,699
Other receivables H b fE UL KO8 2,223 2,192
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReFRH 32,274 30,395
2,278,557 2,268,286
Current liabilities REEE

Amounts due to subsidiaries XN NGO 786,594 778,875
Other payables H fth - 58 22,690 26,210
Bank and other borrowing R1T R E M IER 92,266 576,000
Income tax payable T PT1S AL 6,079 8,685
907,629 1,389,770
Net current assets nBEEFEE 1,370,928 878,516
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERABEE 1,535,783 1,043,371

Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Bonds &% 124,146 216,542
Bank and other borrowing RITREMIER 643,374 -
767,520 216,542
Net assets FEE 768,263 826,829

Capital and reserves EARR#E
Share capital A& 7S 99,531 99,531
Reserves (517 668,732 727,298
Total equity A 768,263 826,829

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on RZEZ=FAAZt+tNBEESEHER
28 June 2023. RiETE -

Leung Sui Wah, Raymond
RinEE
Director

EE

Tang Ching Ho
BRE
Director

EE
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31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(b) A summary to the Company'’s reserves is as follows:

31. ARAHBRRAREFHEEE

(&)

(b) ARFZFEHEMBLT :

Capital Convertible Share
Share  redemption  Contributed bonds  Shareholders’  Accumulated options
premium reserve surplus reserves  contribution losses reserve Total
Rt EXRE B8 TERER R &t BRE
& e Eh &l il ij ] 1] ]
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T T Tin Tin T T Thn Tin
At 1 April 2021 RZE--£mA-A 3923147 945 588,812 4049 664 (3878055 - 676,008
Redemption of convertible bonds ERTaRES - - - (404%5) - 40495 - -
Profitfor the year KEEER = = = = - 50,151 = 50,151
Recognition of equity-sttled AN EREENRG
share-based payment BEB = = = S = = 1139 1139
At31 March 2022and 1 April 202~ RZFZZE=4
=t-Bk
“Z-"FRA-A 3923147 945 588,812 - 664 (3,787,409) 1,139 721,298
Loss forthe year FEEER - - - - - (63,213) - (63,213)
Recognition of equity-sttled AN EREENRN
share-based payment BREZ AR - - - - - - 4,647 4647
Lapse of share option BIRELT - - - - - 3N (3n) -
At31 March 2023 RZFZEZH
B 3,923,147 945 588,812 - 664 (3850311 5475 668,732

32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

On 3 May 2012, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“2012 Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group.
During the Period, no share options under the 2012 Scheme were
granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed. The 2012 Scheme was
terminated on 2 May 2022, the last effective date of the 2012 Scheme,
no further share options was granted under it since then but the
share options granted prior to such termination will continue to be
valid and exercisable during the prescribed exercisable period in
accordance with the terms of the 2012 Scheme.

2. AREHIR B EE 2%

R-ZE——FHA=ZA ARRFRMN—BEE
RigEtsl((Z2——&F:8) TZEMAR
HASEZRNEL BRI 2 6 EK2HEER
MR o MAHRM - MEERERE - —
ZEFTEIERE - 176 FHEIAKR =T
——FHEEN T —_FRA-_HEI-ZE
——FFEzEBERBERIL - AHBE
B B AE - R AR IEATIRE 2
RIEFEBERN WA RBE-T— —F5+8
Z IR IEEITEAINTTEE o
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32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 32. UEREEURGAER 2R

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “2022
Scheme”) with the approval of the shareholders of the Company at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 26 August 2022
for the primary purpose of providing incentives and recognition
for the eligible participants (the “Participants”) to take up options
for their contribution or potential contribution to the Group with
the same terms as the 2012 Scheme as detailed below. During the
Year, no share options were granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled
under the 2022 Scheme. Participants include directors of the Group,
including independent non-executive directors and employees, who
work for any member of the Group and/or any person or entity that
provides services to any member of the Group. The 2022 Scheme
became effective on 26 August 2022 and will remain in force for a
period of 10 years to 25 August 2032.

Under the 2022 Scheme, the Board may grant share options to the
Participants to subscribe for the Shares. The offer of a grant of share
options must be accepted by the relevant Participants within 14
days after the date of grant upon payment of a consideration of
HKS$1 for each lot of share options granted. The exercise price is to be
determined by the Board and shall not be less than the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which
must be a business day;

(ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii)  the nominal value of a Share.

The number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted to
eligible person in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue at any point in
time, without prior approval from the Shareholders. Options granted
to substantial Shareholders or independent non-executive Directors,
or any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares
in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must
be approved in advance by the Shareholders. There is no specific
requirement that an option must be held for any minimum period
before it can be exercised but the Board is empowered to impose
at its discretion any such minimum period at the time of grant of
any particular option. The period during which an option may be
exercised will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion,
save that no option may be exercised for a period of more than 10
years from the date of grant.

2 ()
KARNBRENR_Z_—_FNAZ+HE
TZARREIREAFRG FiE - KA 7%
m—IEF RO B (2225 8))
EBE’JF%W/\éTu//\%((giﬁ%J)TMBi—r
HAREBEH AT B 2 B BHR 228 [
RE @ EREATXHLZ T ——F:t818
Al RAFE  SEBRERE - _-—F
FTEIERE - 176 - KWk - 2EEQ
ERARECES(BEBIFNTES) R
RAEEETERMKERARIIEZRBER
Sk [Al A8 &= BE A K B 2 RIR AR S B9 A T A
THRER  c T _FHERT__FN
AZ+AB&AE® BRPA+F E=T=
—FNAZTHABILE -

BE-Z-_—Fi3 EFTSARSHEER
FTHERBUARBRD RTFTEREZEZZNS
ARKREASR 4B AT REMRTEHZE
BiEL BT 2 RER - AABSEERE
Mo TEEBBHESSET @ WASERB
TEEZREE

() BRORERLEBRGEREZER)EBRA
BHMERABERMAI 2 EHE

(i) ROVBHER L A HA 0 E 2% R
ZFELOE A RERMAF W HETF
BE &

(i) FROHEE -

RERRFLIE - REER L A B (REX

B)IEEm1218 A Hif A 3% F & B8 A T
PRAEFTH KRR EE - NEBBRNEA R
FEETRGAI% - MIFTEERRLE L
FRTEFRNAMNKESEZHBAZER
EBBAEETRMNZ01% @ REEEATIB
385,000,000 7+ RIZE4CAR R E 58 b o
EANGATEEREEF G TANREER A A
16 - WEFSHRBBNR L M ERE
REREIMEMREHR - EF0] 2 &M
B REE I TT{E AR ARAE 2 BAR - M B AR T
A A B EIAEEH 104 LA BRI 1T o
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32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRA N SACT' ON S (Continued)

Pursuant to the 2022 Scheme, the maximum number of shares in
the Company in respect of which options may be granted when
aggregated with any other share option scheme of the Company
is not permitted to exceed 995,306,782 shares, representing
approximately 10.0% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of this report.

Subject to the approval of the Shareholders at general meeting, the
Board may refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the date of approval by the Shareholders at
general meeting. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the 2022 Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of
the Shares in issue from time to time.

On 3 January 2022, the Company granted share option (“Share
Option”) to the chief executive officer and certain employees of the
Group, the exercise of which will entitle the holders to subscribe for
an aggregate of 226,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each in the share
capital of the Company. Details of the Share Option is as follows:

Details of options granted are as follows:

32. URSHEEURMDAER 2R
7 (&
RE-T=-—F:2  BRAABEMEM
BRET BT ERE 2 BREMS R 2 A QA
B &= 8B TS B 18995,306,782% + BIA
REIRARE BB BT AN4110.0% °

FEERNBRAS Lt - EEFARBR K
REEMEESRBRREBRKRE LHAEE
HE#TRMEEZ10% - BEH LMRE -
RITE—T - —F 3 RARREMEME
MeiERTEIE T E R IERITR ZPIAE MARIT
(EEBRRME I 7] T 31T 2 B 1D - AME(ATRR RS
TSP TR B BT 230% -

NRZTEZ—_F—H=8 " AR RHERE
(BRE)DTFTAEBZTREELETES
TEZSEBRERE FRHE AER - 128
RN RIRE A AR A ££226,000,0000% 5 I EI{E0.01
FETTHIRD -

PR AR Z FEIB AT

Number
Date of grant Expiry date Exercise period Exercise Price of options
etz & 5w B 1765 TEME BREHE
3 January 2022 2 January 2032 3 January 2025 to HK$0.118 226,000,000
2 January 2032
—ZET--F—HA=H —T=_"%—HZH e e e = 0.118/87T

—E=—F—A—H

The vesting dates of the share options are as follows:
Tranche 1:  20% of the Share Options granted is exercisable at any
time commencing from 3 January 2025 up to 2 January
2032;

Tranche 2:  20% of the Share Options granted is exercisable at any
time commencing from 3 January 2026 up to 2 January
2032;

Tranche 3:  20% of the Share Options granted is exercisable at any
time commencing from 3 January 2027 up to 2 January
2032;

Tranche 4:  20% of the Share Options granted is exercisable at any
time commencing from 3 January 2028 up to 2 January
2032; and;

Tranche 5:  20% of the Share Options granted is exercisable at any
time commencing from 3 January 2029 up to 2 January
2032.

BREZSBRSPNT :

F—Ht . 20%MFELBERES =T =R
F—A=ZARRE_T=—"F—~A
Z— B AIBERFTTE

FH . 20MIFTEHEREE =T =N
F-A=ZARBE=-FT==-F—H
— AR BERS1T(E

F=H: 20MFTELEREE T+
F—-A=RARE_E=_"F—F#
Z B ATBERFTTE

FE . 20FTEHEREE TN
F—A=ZARRE_FT=_"F—~A
—BATRERETTIE ¢ &

FRHL:  0%MFIELEREE =T =N

F—A=ZARBRE_ZT=—"F—F#
— B A BEREATAE o
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32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 32.

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The following table discloses movement of the 2012 Scheme during

URREEURMAER 2R
2 (%)
TEEE-T——FHBRERNT 2

the year:
Outstanding Granted  Exercised Lapsed Expired  Outstanding
Date Exercise Exercise Vesting at 1 April during during during during  at31March
of grant price period date 2022 the year the year theyear the year 2023
St R-BZ=E
mA-A =B=1-A
RUAE KR & ] BEES HATE  REREL  RERTE  RERXR  RERER  HAOR
Directors 3
Leung SuiWah, Raymond 5%
Tranche 1 £ 3 January HK$0.118 3 January 3 January 10,000,000 - - - = 10,000,000
2022 2005 upto 2025
2 January
2032
“E-CF ongEr ZE-hf CEChf
—-A=H -B=A% -A=H
Z5oCF
—RZH
Tranche 2 s 3 January HKS 0.118 3 January 3 January 10,000,000 - - - = 10,000,000
2022 2%6upto 2026
2 January
2032
ZEZZF g ZEoAE ZEOAE
—-A=H -A=A% -—A=H
Z5-CF
—RZ=H
Tranche 3 F=H 3 January HKS 0.118 3 January 3 January 10,000,000 - = o = 10,000,000
2022 2027upto 2027
2 January
2032
ZECCF ongEnT ZEotE ZEotf
-A=H —-A=A% -—A=H
“F-CF
—RZ=H
Tranche 4 FEHt 3 January HKS 0.118 3 January 3 January 10,000,000 - - - = 10,000,000
2022 2028upto 2028
2 January
2032
ZECCF ngEn ZEN\E ZEo0E
—-A=H —-A=A% -—A=H
e o3
—-AZH
Tranche 5 FR% 3anvay  HKS0118  3January  3Janvary 10,0000 = = = = 10000000
2022 209upto 2029
2 January
2032
“EoCF gET ZEDAE ZEoNE
—-A=H —-A=A% —A=H
e o3
—RZH
50,000,000 - - - = 50,000,000
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32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

32 UERLEURGAERZR

2023 Annual Report

TRANSACTIONS (continued) 2 (%)
The following table discloses movement of the 2012 Scheme during TREBE T —F:FE8RFRZ2EH :
the year: (Continued) (&)
Outstanding Granted  Exercised Lapsed Expired  Outstanding
Date Exercise Exercise Vesting at1April during during during during  at31March
of grant price period date 2022 the year the year the year the year 2023
RZBZZF R-BZ=f
mA-A =B=1-A
REEH  RE fit:d:] BEES HATE  REREL  RERTE  RERER  RERER  HAOR
Employees =
Tranche 1 £ 3 January HKS 0.118 3 January 3 January 35,200,000 - - (3,000,000) = 32,200,000
2022 2025upto 2005
2January
2032
ZTTCE ngEr ZToRE CTCRE
—-A=H —-A=B%Z -—A=R
Z5-CE
—-AZH
Tranche 2 EZ8 3January HKS0.118 3 January 3 January 35,200,000 - - (3,000000) - 32,200,000
2022 2026upto 2026
2January
2032
ZECCF ogEn ZEoAF 23N
—-A=R —-B=RA% —A=R
:ﬂ:a
Tranche 3 F=H 3 January HKS0.118 3 January 3 January 35,200,000 - - (3,000,000) = 32,200,000
2022 2027upto 2027
2 January
2032
ZRCCE ugEn ZEotE B4R
-A=H -A=H% A=H
Z5-CE
—RZH
Tranche 4 0l 3 January HKS0.118 3 January 3 January 35,200,000 - = (3,000,000) - 32,200,000
2022 2028upto 2028
2 January
2032
ZECCF ongEn ZEN\E ZEo0F
—-A=R -B=A% -—A=R
“E-C
—AZA
Tranche 5 Fhil 3 January HKS0.118 3 January 3 January 35,200,000 - - (3,000,000) - 32,200,000
202 209upto 2029
2 January
2032
ZECCE B ZEDNE ZEONE
-A=H —-A=AZ -—A=H
3
—RZH
176000000 = - (15000000 - 161000000
Total @t 226,000,000 - - (15000000 - 211000000
Weighted average exercise price TR HKS0.118 = = = - HSI1
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32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACT'ONS(Cont/nued)

Options were granted on 3 January 2022. The estimated fair value of
the options granted is approximately HK$21,915,000. The fair values
were calculated using the Trinomial model. The major inputs into the
model were as follows:

Grant date share price HK$0.118
Exercise price HK$0.118
Expected volatility 97.03%
Expected life 10 years
Risk-free rate 1.442%
Expected dividend yield 0%
Exercisable period Tranche 1: 3 January 2025 to 2 January 2032

Tranche 2: 3 January 2026 to 2 January 2032

Tranche 3: 3 January 2027 to 2 January 2032

Tranche 4: 3 January 2028 to 2 January 2032

Tranche 5: 3 January 2029 to 2 January 2032

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of
the Company’s share price over the approximately previous 10 years.
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on the
directors’ best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of approximately
HK$4,647,000 (2022: approximately HK$1,139,000) for the year ended
31 March 2023 in relation to share options granted by the Company.

The Trinomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of the
options. The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate.
The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions.

As at 31 March 2023, the total number of the shares available for issue
under the Scheme is 211,000,000 (2022: 226,000,000), representing
approximately 2.12% (2022:2.27%) of the existing issued share capital
of the Company.

32. UEREEURGAERZR

1)
BREENR-_ZT-_—_F—A=BRH - IR
B AR A 2 (AT A B A %921,915,0008 7T ©
ATFEFEAZBAERNGE - KAEANE
TEAZBET ¢

B B HARRE 0.1188 T
1IfEE 0.118%8 T
TEET I & 97.03%
TEEHFHA 104F
42 [ P ) 1.442%
ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ 0%
1T{E HA —ft: —E-_AF—A=HZE
—E=—"F—H—H

T RF—AZHZE
—E=—"F—H—H

=#: T +F—A=HZE
—E=—"F—H—H

Fmfgt: —T-N\F—A=AZE
—E=—"F—H—H

FR#: —T-AF—A=HZE
—E=—"F—H—H

BEHRIB TR AR BB E + FIREE LK E
MEE - ZRAMFABZAAFHEREE
ERFEENE  TERHIRTAFEERER
LR B ER AR M A EE

NEBBERBRE_ZT_=F=A=+—HIt
FEEAARRIREERENBRAINA
4,647,000 L (=T = =4 : #91,139,000/%
JL) ©

ERAZRRAGEREREZATE - EJr*é
BREATEMAZZ2HRBRTTAARR
EEREREGEMEE - ﬁﬁﬁx%ZEfﬁl
ATIBBRRZIRZEMEE -

WoB-=FZA=+- A HAFTITR
BT 2 D48 205211,000,000 (=T ==
£ : 226,000,0000%) * (AR AFIHRAEEHTR
RE2.12%(ZF =4 : 227%) °
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON

CONTROL

During the year, pursuant to certain sale and purchase agreements,
WOG transferred its 60% equity interests in Kingtex Investment
Limited (“Kingtex”) and Jet Success Development Limited (“Jet
Success”) (collectively the “Acquired Companies”) and loans owing
by the Acquired Companies to WOG (the “Shareholder’s Loan”) to
the Group for total consideration of approximately HK$766,000 and
HK$230,000 respectively. As the Group and Acquired Companies are
under the common control of WOG before and after the transfer, the
transfer has been accounted for as a business combination under
common control. The acquisition were completed on 1 October 2022.

For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, the Group
has elected to account for the common control combination using
the pooling of interests method. Accordingly, the results and cash
flows of the Acquired Companies are consolidated by the Group from
the date of transfer, being the date on which the Group obtained
control, and continued to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases. The consolidated statement of financial position of
the Group as at 31 March 2023 has been prepared to present the
assets and liabilities of the Acquired Companies using existing book
values from WOG's perspective. No adjustments are made to reflect
fair values, or recognise any new assets or liabilities as a result of the
common control combination.

Equity interest in the Acquired Companies held by a party other than
WOG prior to the common control combination is presented as non-
controlling interests in equity in applying the pooling of interests
method.

As a part of the acquisition, the Group entered into put option
deeds that the non-controlling interest of the Acquired Companies
(“Grantor”) agreed to grant put options and the Group agreed to
receive the put options at consideration of HK$1 for both Acquired
Companies. The put options provide the right to require the Grantor
to purchase all shares of the Acquired Companies held by the Group,
subject to the fulfillment of the condition precedent set out in the
option deed agreement. The options may only be exercised by the
Group if the accumulated losses of the Acquired Companies equals or
exceeds certain amounts at any point of time or in a loss position for
the consecutive period of 6 months or inconsecutive 6 months in any
12 consecutive months.

The difference between the consideration paid, fair value of put
options and the carrying amounts of the net assets of the Acquired
Companies and the Shareholder’s Loan, net of the non-controlling
interests, at the date of common control combination amounting to
approximately HK$393,000 is recognised in other reserve.

3. HEEHTHEBEH

FA - RBEETEEHZE  225BEER
BEREARAB(BE) REXNERERA
Al ([HER) (T8 [ 4 W B8 2 B ) 2 60%A% 1 K
WWERARBRELZEE 2 ER(RRER]
HETALE - BRED L A766,0007 7T
1%230,000% 7T - BRANEE R E AR
EIEAEZ R ERERES  HEEE
ABRDIVERRZES TR EBE O o WEFEIE
BER=ZTE__F+H—-HZEX-

MZEREVBEHREME  AREERIER
AiEmEE A B RRESE AR - Bitt
WREARMEERBESREAEEABGED
AEEBBSEHEE B BRAAEEEREA
IR WEBGAANREZEBIEHERLE
AR AEER-_ZT=_=F=A=+—H
MG EMBRARE THRE  ARELEH
MWAEERARAEmESIMKEQARNE
EXkAE - SEELREG S OmIED AR
NRBR AP ESERT AT EERERS -

A RSSO AT B 2 % S BUASM A 4%
AR R R BERAER A AR E
= 25 B IRE R o

ERWBEREN — 80 - AEEET R
g - PTRB AR R SRR S ((RTF AL
RERLRGHE  mMAKER S REM
Ui R A YRR E IR - RERVET - A
HERTRTARN  JERETABEAR
SERERWBATNMMARD - EAEK
HRE IR oA FT B S0 R G 1F » PRURBE A A
B REEENMEARBEEHENLBRE TS
% iEEEelA A BRERNEEMR - HE
EEE12{E A ATNEB6ER - REET A
T REAHE -

ENRE  REHEQATFEEMKBARE
EFERRRERERNERZESE H B AR
EE (B FE1E AR ) 2 [E #9 2= 88 49393,000
BT E A B TERR o
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON 33. HEE4I THXKS 0w

CONTROL (continued)

The Acquired Companies are principally engaged in food and FIRERAREEZERAEBNERMREEER
agricultural by-products merchandising in Hong Kong. Details of HE - REREZEHIEHIAE - FIKRELRFR
the carrying accounts of the assets and liabilities of the Acquired EENMBENEREE BRRERRRGOHE
Companies, the Shareholder’s Loan and fair value of put option at the HAFEFBET :

date of common control combination are as follows:

Kingtex Jet Success Total
BiE ER et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FiEIT FAET
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BE R 26 45 71
Prepayment, deposits and other TENFIE « e REA K
receivables A 344 690 1,034
Bank and cash balance RITRIRE A 821 = 821
Other payables H A T FIE (423) (143) (566)
Income tax payable AN - (154) (154)
Amount due to the immediate holding R EEER A RRIE
company (766) (179) (945)
2 259 261
Non-controlling interests FEFERR SR (1) (207) (208)
Assignment of shareholder’s Loan ERREER 766 179 945
Put option RohHARE 280 1M1 391
1,047 342 1,389
Other reserve recognised BERE A (281) (112) (393)
Total cash consideration RIMERE 766 230 996
Net cash (inflow)/outflow in respect of acquisitions: BRAWEBEE 2 BSCREAN), AL
Kingtex Jet Success Total
BiE K st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FEIT FAT
Cash consideration RERE 766 230 996
Less: Bank and cash balance acquired B BUREEIRTT RIR & R (821) = (821)

(55) 230 175
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34. CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN A

SUBSIDIARY

During the period ended 31 March 2022, Century Choice Limited
(“Century Choice”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and a substantial shareholder (the “PRC Shareholder”) of Yulin
Hongjin Agricultural Byproducts Wholesale Marketplace Limited
(“Yulin Hongjin") entered into an agreement in relation to the
reduction of registered capital contribution of Century Choice in
Yulin Hongjin. Pursuant to the agreement, the PRC Shareholder
waived its entitlement to the dividend declared by Yulin Hongjin
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 in the amount
of approximately RMB40,950,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$49,214,000) and directed the same to be paid to Century Choice
(“Dividend to PRC Shareholder”), and the amount of registered
capital contribution by Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin was reduced
by an amount equal to approximately RMB41,944,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$42,328,000). As a result of such reduction of
registered capital contribution, the Group's equity interest in Yulin
Hongjin was decreased from 65% to 51%. Details of the capital
reduction were disclosed in the joint announcement of, inter alia, the
Company dated 18 June 2021.

An amount of approximately HK$12,771,000 (being the difference
between proportionate share of the carrying amount of the net
assets of Yulin Hongjin and Dividend to PRC Shareholder) has been
transferred out of non-controlling interests. The proportionate share
of accumulated exchange reserve of approximately HK$3,898,000
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests. The resulting gain of
approximately HK$16,669,000 has been credited to other reserve.

34. R—TOHEA S 2 A B
L)

HE-_Z-—_F#=A=1+—RHI-HH &2
AIEEMBARRERERAR (B EEM
i RRIERIEMISAERAR(EMERE]
ZEERR(HEARRDIVHE NEH
BEERSREMRBEZFMELRETE - IR
Bazha PEREREEZEEINEER
HE-_Z-_ZTF+_A=1+—HILMBFE
IR 2B 4 AR 40,950,0007T (HHE R4
49,214,000/ 70) Z #F| - WIEREHERE
A TEER (RS FHERRZBRE]) - MiE
HREMREZFMERNFESERDLHA
R #41,944,0007T (5 E 72 4942,328,00077T) ©
HRAMERTERD  AEEREMRRE
2 BRREH65%H L E51% ° BRIE AR
BEEESPBEEARFRAHE=-ZS=—F
NATN\B®EE AHHE o

#912,771,0007% 7T (BNZ LL B 915 EM A HEE
EFEZEEERRFBEBRERMEEZ =
B)BMIEEREEE L o R AL RETE
H 18 493,898,000/ 7T 5 7 57 B 1A FEIE AR 12
= o FT15 U E54716,669,00078 7T B 5T A H b
1 e
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks (including interest rate,

currency risk and equity price risk) arises in the normal course of the

Group's business.

These risks are limited by the Group's financial management policies

and practices described below.

(a)

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its trade,
deposit and other receivables, loan and interest receivables
and cash deposits with banks.

The carrying amounts of trade, deposit and other receivables,
loan and interest receivables and cash and cash equivalents
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to financial assets.

In relation to the Group’s deposits with bank, the Group limits
its exposure to credit risk by placing deposits with financial
institutions with high credit rating and no recent history
of default. The directors of the Company consider that the
Group's credit risk on the bank deposits is low. Management
continues to monitor the position and will take appropriate
action if their ratings should change. As at 31 March 2023 and
2022, the Group has no significant concentration of credit risk
in relation to deposits with bank.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk in certain
individual customers. At the end of reporting period, the five
largest receivable balances accounted for approximately
83.5% (2022: approximately 76.3%) of the trade receivables
and the largest trade receivable was approximately 64.1%
(2022: approximately 69.1%) of the Group's total trade
receivables. The Group seeks to minimise its risk by dealing
with counterparties which have good credit history. Majority
of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired
have no default payment history.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
location is mainly in the PRC.

For loan and other receivables, management makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of loan and other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience.

35 BIEREEBEEZERBEE

AEEREREBERTELEE RPE
EEmERARBRERNE - BERERNEER

) -

A 85 AR T B TR T AR

FER

(a)

EERR

AEEEEEELLFEEFR B
NEMEKTIR - BURESK RS AR
RITREFERERNEERR -

BHRWFIR - e MEMEYREOA
R EREFNBALE S MRS EEDN
REERASEAHSREENRARE
SRk

RAREERRBITZERME - A&
BE BT R RN AREEFR R
HAY B A4 8% 2 S BIETE - FEUURE
AR ZEERR - RARAREERR -
KREBERTEFZEERRRE - BXE

F—T-—FE=F=+—8H AEEL
EEERTERIZSEEREERR -

AEEEHETERNEE &R EER
B o MRS HIR + A RKEWGRIB A &
HEWE P FIALI83.5%( =T ==
#976.3%) © M AEWE ZHIBIEAE
BEEKE S RIBETELN641%( T ==
F : £969.1%) ° AN [EE B EE R
RFZRGHEFRHURMEERR - K
o RER B IMERE < EYE 55k 1E
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ERBESELEIBERRHEER R
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of, a financial asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there
is a significant increase in credit risk the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date
with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.
It considers available reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

internal credit rating;

external credit rating;

actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the borrower’s
ability to meet its obligations;

actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the borrower;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same borrower; and

significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the
payment status of borrowers in the Group and changes
in the operating results of the borrower.

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables.

R EEEERBEE®

(a)

EERR @)

REERARERBEEV SRR AR

BAEY  UWHENGEEERBRNE R
SHRARTEREEN - B EEER

RREBEELN  AEEKEENRS
B #2342 KB IR S 1A TERR B ey
EHNRBRETHER - RAAHAERA
BEXFUERRIEEERER - TEBEUT
iR

- REEETR
- OMBEEA

. TBHIE S ERABITERRRE

NBEEREBOER BB
EERR O E R T E AT
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L BRASERENERSESE
KED

. RA—ERANEMESEBTANE
ERRAEE M &

C BRAMEMEERTARAE
AEH - SEAEEERATR
SRR 0 D DA T £ AR A A
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AEERABOEREBHBEHRELE
BI155 955 PT AR TE HO TE HA (5 B 85 18 1 1 33
1 ZERERTEPT A B E 5 50A
REHEREIREE -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has credit policy to monitor the level of credit risk. In
general, the credit record and credit period for each customer
or debtor are regularly assessed, based on the customer’s or
debtor’s financial condition, their capacity to obtain guarantee
from third parties, their credit records and other factors such as
current market condition. Management overall considers the
shared credit risk characteristic and the days past due of the
trade receivables to measure the expected credit. The Group
considered among other factors including forward looking
information, analysed historical pattern.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2023 and 2022
was determined as follows for trade receivables:

35 IEREEBEERBEw

(a)

EERR @)

AEEERERRREEREERRK
Fo—RME @ RIBEZLPHEBHANY
B - BERF =T ESERNE
N HENERREARE TSR
FHMRER - R EEETPRER
ARERESERERE - BB R
BEZRYEIANLRIEERR B R
IMAUEEMEER - AREKERE
REZERARBEETBEAEEER K
DITESL R -

BWHE  R_F_=FR-_FT——
= A=+—HERKRE S HENEIERE
BEEWT -

More than
90 days but
Less than less than More than
As at 31 March 2023 R-B-=f%=fA=+-H 90 days 180 days 180 days Total
BiB90A
90BMA  {B180B MK #iB180H am
Trade receivables EWE 538
Expected loss rate BHEBEX 34.3% % 96.7%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) AEME(TAT) 2,507 51 7,990 10,548
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BERE(TET) (859) - (7,725) (8,584)
Net carrying amount (HK$'000) REFE(TET) 1,648 51 265 1,964
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

35. IEEREEEERBER®

(@)  Credit risk (Continued) @@ EERR®E
More than
90 days but
Less than less than More than
As at 31 March 2022 R-E-_—#=A=+—-H 90 days 180 days 180 days Total
#i890H
90HMA  {B180B A f2i8180H ok
Trade receivables BB HHIE
Expected loss rate BHEREX ~% ~% 95.4%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BEREE(TET) 1,173 322 8,601 10,096
Loss allowance (HK$'000) EBREETAL) = = (8,208) (8,208)
Net carrying amount (HK$'000) EEFETET 1,173 32 393 1,888

RZEZ=FfR-_T-_—_F=A=+—HZ
FEUWE 5 708 2 B oK 6 18 18 4% HE B ) S 1R

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 March
2023 and 2022 reconcile to the opening loss allowances as

follows: EREROT ¢
Trade receivables
EWE S RE
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-—FM/F—H 8,177
Increase in loss allowance recognised in FAR B R 2 EBEEF LM
profit or loss during the year, net 381
Amounts written off as uncollectable RIS T M SH R I (692)
Exchange difference ] 342
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZE-_—_F=A=+—HK
R FMA—H 8,208
Increase in loss allowance recognised in FRNEETER B EBEFEEMN
profit or loss during the year, net 993
Exchange difference ME 3 Z 5 (617)
At 31 March 2023 R=B-=%=HA=+—H 8,584
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group will monitor debtors with long outstanding
balances and will engage in enforcement activities to recover
the receivables due. Where recoveries are made, these are
recognised in consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. The Group closely monitors
trade receivables balance more than 30 days. Those trade
receivables, due more than 90 days, with financial difficulties,
declining credit standing and poor historical payment pattern
will be considered as default. The Group will write off these
unrecovered receivables after all possible means of debt
recovery activities.

For loan and other receivables, the Group applies either a
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivables has occurred since initial
recognition then impairment is measured as lifetime expected
credit losses.

In determining the 12-month or lifetime expected credit
loss for these receivables, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical payment experience and
the corresponding historical credit loss rates, and adjusted for
forward-looking macroeconomic data. In assessing whether
the credit risk on these receivables have increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on these receivables as at the reporting date
with the risk of default occurring on these receivables as at
the date of initial recognition. Management would re-assess
these factors periodically for any deterioration or improvement
indications to determine if credit risk from these receivables
has increased or decreased.

35 IEREEBEERBEw

(a)
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OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (a)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises

the following categories:

Internal
credit rating

REBEEFR

Low risk

9

Watch list
BERYE

Doubtful
Al &R

Loss

&1

Write-off
s

Description
g

The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not
have any past-due amounts
RZEFZENRBRER - W EEAIRBARIR
Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually
settle in full

BEHALERBIMETER  ERFTEEE

There have been significant increases in credit risk since
initial recognition through information developed
internally or external resources

EERER B Y RERIARE NI E R kN E R =
AN

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired

BREBETZEEELREERE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect
of recovery

EEBEREBARAREN R B AREEURK
Heap e

2023 Annual Report

R EEEERBEE®

EERR @)
REE 2 N EERBRFF ARG 2 IE A
TR

Deposits and other receivables and
loan and interest receivables

RE R H AR
FE

12m ECL

12 A EREEREE

12m ECL
12 A EREEREE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
2 HFEEEEEE - WRGEERE

Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired
2 HRHEEER - EERE

Amount is written off

TR

KRB BRE R K
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. MIKEKREEEERBE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@ EEERR@E
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s TRFMAEE S RE E 2 55 R
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: O - EBETTEHEEEENE ¢
2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
Internal
credit
rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount | Gross carrying amount
ABEE 12BA2H
TR FAHEEEE HERMEE REREE

HK'000  HK'000 HK'000  HK$'000
FEx TR AT T

Financial assets at
amortised cost

REBEREARZ
SREE

Loan and interest Low risk 12m ECL 13,084 15,899
receivables (Note 21)

EREREASEE21)  KER 1218 AFRHEEER

Doubtful  Lifetime ECL 1,596 1,726
(not credit-impaired)
A &R T HFEHREEEE
(W A= B R E)
Loss Lifetime ECL 55,985 70,665 58,351 75,976
(credit-impaired)
Eia T HFEREEEE
(EERE)
Other receivables (Note 20) Low risk 12m ECL 46,022 27,521
F A I R (M 31 20) YN 1218 AR EE B 1R
Doubtful  Lifetime ECL 13,339 14,327
(not credit-impaired)
A &R T HFEHREEEE
(W EZERE)
Loss Lifetime ECL - 59,361 242 42,090
(credit-impaired)
Eia T HFRREEEE
(EERE)
Other deposit (Note 20) Low risk 12m ECL 9,299 10,405
Hb iz (Fi20) YN 128 A REE E 1R
Deposit for land acquisition  Low risk 12m ECL 55,337 59,855

(Note 20)
Tl 2 iZe (HFE20) (K& 128 BFEAE B EE
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

BEEREEEERBE®

Credit risk (Continued) @@ EERR@E
The closing loss allowances for deposits and other receivables R =FRZZF__F=A=+—
and loan receivables as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 reconcile to Azige REmERETE R EWERZ
the opening loss allowances as follows: R E R R A B SR ENH RN
T
Deposit and other receivables B KA M EKHIE
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
12mECL impaired) impaired) Total
2HES 28BS
1218A FEFB FEER
BHGERE (LEFERE) (EERE) et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR T THER
At 1 April 2021 RZZ=—FMA—H 102 136 = 238
Increase in loss allowance recognisedin -~ FRRNBRTHER 2 BB
profit or loss during the year AfEEm 9 31 1,010 1,050
Exchange difference EREE 4 6 17 27
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 WZ2-—#=A=+-H
KZE-—FNA—H 115 173 1,027 1,315
Increase/(decrease) in loss allowance FRRBRTERLER
recognised in profit or loss s/ (R)
during the year 185 301 (946) (460)
Exchange difference EREE 8) (12) (81) (101)
At 31 March 2023 R-B-=%=ZA=+-H 292 462 - 754
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

R EEEERBEE®

Credit risk (Continued) @@ EERR®E
Loan and interest receivables JEWE KT E
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
2HEH 2HES
12f8 8 FEER EFE
EHEEFE (LRESAE) (EEHE) ekl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAR TAT FAT
At 1 April 2021 RZE-_—FFA—A i 16 44,745 44,772
Amounts write-off as uncollectable EER R EMEHTIE - - (3185) (3185)
Increase in loss allowance recognised in ¢ ARBETRERZER
profit or loss during the year AfBEm 6 4 1,081 1,091
Exchange difference EHES = 1 1,859 1,860
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZZE=Z4=A=+-H
;2::%1)% A 17 21 44,500 44,538
Increase in loss allowance recognised in FRRERTRE
profit or loss during the year ERAELE 18 32 2,353 2,403
Exchange difference ERZER - ) (3,353) (3,355)
At31March 2023 RZBZ=F£=fA=+-H 35 51 43,500 43,586
Liquidity risk (b) MEE SRR
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet MENE © R R AN SR BRI R B I ER
its financial obligations as they fall due. Individual operating RREBITERZRER - ZEBETZ

entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash
management, including the short-term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands, subject to approval by the parent company’s board
when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its current
and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from
major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, there
were no unutilised banking facilities.

BUEEERABTRAERSERT
15 BREREBBIEHRERSERE
FARNTEER @K - BTGB H
BERECHAAESSARESSH
G - AT o AEBZBIRE T H
ERERIRTERARDESCTEARER
BEETFEERBZRTE  BREER
FRRNRSHE RN EE S MEBEIRG
AR EGERE - AR ERE R R A
RBESFR -RZTEZ=FR=_FT=
—HF=ZA=+—8  WEKRHAHZRT
MEREE o
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

35 BIEREEEERBER®

(b)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (b)y REEZEREE)
The following table details the remaining contractual TRFINAREEBR RS BIRATA KRR,
maturities at the end of reporting period of the Group’ s non- RFEERELREM 2 FITESREE
derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual (BIEREE BT = (B )7 B AR E TR
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments EHRBITZAR)GFEZFBENAT) 2
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates FIRFTHERE  UARAEERART]
current at the end of reporting period) and the earliest date BEERAETE ZFHE
the Group and the Company can be required to pay:
At 31 March 2023 R=ZB=-=f=ZA=+—H
Total More than More than
Weighted contractual Within 1year but 2years but
average Carrying  undiscounted 1yearor less than less than More than
interest rate amount cash flows on demand 2years 5 years 5years
THRER -£R - MEH
nETIRE BEE ReREEE AT fBRER BRER Gik:2
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TR Tién TEn TR Tén TER
Depositand other payables EEREMERE - 370,715 370,715 370,715 - - -
Bankand other borrowings RIREMER 6.5% 1,277,728 1,583,581 310,296 226,026 1,019,996 21,263
Bonds B 116% 124,146 148,275 1500 146,775 - -
Lease liabliies L 8.1% 29,634 37,004 8,561 8,170 13,781 6,512
1,802,223 2,139,595 691,072 380,971 1,033,777 33,775
At 31 March 2022 RZZE_—F=A=+—H
Total More than More than
Weighted contractual Within 1 year but 2years but
average Camying ~ undiscounted 1 yearor less than less than More than
interest rate amount cash flows ondemand 2years 5 years 5 years
STHRER —FR —ff RE
IETRI= BAE REREEE JEEK [BRmER ERER nEk
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK'000
ThnL TEn TEL ThR TEx TEL
Depositand other payables ReEREMENTE - 441 44 4an - - -
Bank and other borrowings FOREMER 77% 1275675 1,428,724 873,09 164,389 339,054 52,185
Bonds &% 11.6% 216542 289,565 2,900 2,900 283,765 -
Lease labiltes L 83% 19947 2529 6372 5,361 9210 4353
1,954,575 2,185,996 134,779 172,650 632,029 56,538
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(0

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from bank and
other borrowings, bonds and cash and cash equivalents.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise mainly cash at banks
and in hand, with the annual interest rates ranging from
approximately 0.001% to 1.95% as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
approximately 0.001% to 1.76%).

The interest rates of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
and bonds are disclosed in notes 26 and 27 respectively.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings and bonds (see notes
26 and 27 for details).

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in respect
of its variable-rate bank and other borrowings (see note 26)
and bank balances (see note 23) due to changes of interest
rates. It is the Group’s present policy to keep its borrowings at
floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest
rate risk. The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider hedging significant fixed-rate
bank and other borrowings should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2023, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would decrease/increase the Group's
profit after tax and increase/decrease accumulated losses by
approximately HK$5,150,000 (2022: HK$1,618,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at the end of
reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to
interest rate risk for non-derivative financial instruments in
existence at that date. The 100 basis point increase or decrease
represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in the respective interest rates over the period until the
next annual reporting period. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2022.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Currency risk

Currency risk to the Group is minimal as most of the Group's
transactions denominated and settled in the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions relate.
Most of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities are also
denominated in the Group’s functional currencies. Therefore,
the Group has no significant currency risk exposure as they are
denominated in a currency same as the functional currencies
of the group entities to which these transactions relate.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through
its investment in listed equity securities. The management
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with difference risk and return profiles. The
Group exposed to equity price risk arising from changes in the
Group'’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date. If equity
price had been 5% higher/lower, the Group'’s net profit for
the year would increase/decrease by approximately HK$6,200
(2022: approximately HK$5,600). This is mainly due to the
changes in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Fair value of financial instrument

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

(i) the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
with standard terms and conditions and traded on
active liquid markets are determined with reference to
quoted market prices; and

(ii) the fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

The carrying amount of other financial assets and liabilities
carried at amortised cost, approximate their respective fair
values due to the relatively short-term nature of these financial
instruments.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Fair value of financial instrument (Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on
the degree to which the fair value is observable as at 31 March
2023 and 2022.

. Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical
assets or liabilities.

. Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices).

. Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the assets
or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. MEREEEERBER®
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(f)  Fair value of financial instrument (Continued) H =@MIEZAFEE
Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated RARE B Bk R R R e A F1Eq
statement of financial position (Continued) =46,
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ F-5& E=H ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THEL THT FHEL
At 31 March 2022 RZZE-Z_F=A=+—H
Financial assets PREE
Financial assets at fair value through RATFEFIR RN SR
profit or loss REZEREE
- Equity securities listed in HongKong - AEB E 2 A% 112 = = 112
There were no transfer between Level 1, 2 and 3 in both RREEE  F—H F_LGRE=ZHK2HE
years. When a determination is made to classify an asset or WHEEE - WMREEEEXABIERES
liability within Level 3, the determination is base upon the & BRRTE TIARIE N A B B A BUR B
significance of the unobservable inputs to the overall fair value BATEFECEEREAEE -
measurement.
Financial assets Valuation techniques Unobservable inputs  As at 31 March 2023
R-TBE—-=%F
SREE fEE BT TR BREABE =A=t+—A”

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

BATEINRIEERRBEZEMEE

Put option Binomial Option Expected volatility 15%
Pricing Model (note 1)
Fom B ZIRHERE T ERE T8 B b (1)
P/E ratio (note 2) 10.35
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Fair value of financial instrument (Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position (Continued)
Notes:

(1) An increase in expected volatility would result in an increase
in the fair value. A 5% increase/decrease in expected
volatility, with all other variables held constant, would
have increased/decreased the Group’s profit before tax by
approximately HK$4,500/HK$3,700.

2) An increase in P/E ratio would result in an decrease in the
fair value. A 5% increase/decrease in P/E ratio, with all other
variables held constant, would have decreased/increased
the Group's profit before tax by approximately HK$1,700/
HK$2,300.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement:

35. IEEREEEERBER®
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REFE R BN KR A F
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B aE -

(1) TEHREEINSERAFEEN -
i T8 A R 08 18 hn IR 5% i B
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B 5 A A A% 388 hn Rk 4 494,500
FETT,3,700/8 7T ©
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36. LITIGATION

(A)  Writissued in the PRC by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun and Wuhan
Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development Co.,
Ltd. against the Company (“PRC Action No.1")

1.

On 7 January 2011, the Company received a writ (the
“Writ”") issued by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (“Ms. Wang”) and
Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development
Co., Ltd. (“Tian Jiu") (as plaintiffs) against the Company
(as defendant) and filed with the Higher People’s
Court of Hubei Province (the “Hubei Court”) of the
PRC, together with the related court summons dated
4 January 2011 (the “Summons”). The writ also joined
Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural By-Product Grand Market
Company Limited (“Baisazhou Agricultural”) as third
party to such civil proceeding.

Major allegations of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu as set out in
the Writ are as follows:

(a) it is alleged that Baisazhou Agricultural forged
a share transfer agreement (the “Contended
Agreement”) in relation to the acquisition
of Baisazhou Agricultural (the “Acquisition”)
wherein consideration for the Acquisition was
understated and the manner of settlement of the
consideration was inaccurately described;

(b) itis alleged that Baisazhou Agricultural forged
the related documentation for filing with the
PRC Ministry of Commerce (“MOFCOM”) and
the Hubei Administration For Industry and
Commerce (the “Hubei AIC”), and that such
documentation and the Contended Agreement
involved forged signatures; and

(c) it is alleged that MOFCOM and the Hubei
AIC approved the Acquisition and processed
the related filings on the basis of the above
documents that are allegedly forged.

At the relevant time of the Acquisition, none of
the current Directors or senior management of the
Company as at the date of this report were involved in
the Acquisition.

According to the Writ, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu were
seeking an order from the court that the Contended
Agreement, to which the Company is a party, is void
and invalid from the beginning and should therefore
be terminated, and claimed against the Company and
Baisazhou Agricultural all relevant profits of Baisazhou
Agricultural which were attributable to Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu, together with costs of the legal proceedings.
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36. LITIGATION (continued) 36. ERFA®)
(A)  Writissued in the PRC by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun and Wuhan (A EFFEBHLEIRRZERNTIBERA
Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development Co., BRABRIRFERAAREDL 2k
Ltd. against the Company (“PRC Action No.1") FREE SR @)
(Continued)

2. On 18 November 2011, the Hubei Court made an 2.
interim order that the 8% equity interest held by the
Company in Baisazhou Agricultural be subject to a
freezing order pending determination of the Writ. The
percentage of equity interest held by the Company in
Baisazhou Agricultural subject to a freezing order was
subsequently reduced from 8% to 1.3%. On 26 May
2015, a decision was issued by the Wuhan Intermediate
People’s Court discharging this freezing order. It follows
that the freezing order no longer has any effect on the
Group.

3. On 18 June 2014, the Company received the judgment 3.
(the “Hubei Court Judgment”) dated 31 May 2014 from
the Hubei Court in relation to PRC Action No. 1. In the
Hubei Court Judgment, the Hubei Court dismissed the
claims of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu, and they were ordered
to bear the legal costs of the matter.

4. On 4 July 2014, the Company received the notice of 4.
appeal to the Supreme People’s Court of the PRC (the
“Supreme People’s Court”) from Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu regarding PRC Action No. 1 (the “Appeal”). In the
Appeal, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu sought an order from the
Supreme People’s Court that the Contended Agreement
was void.

5. On 13 January 2015, the Company received the 5.

judgment dated 31 December 2014 handed down from
the Supreme People’s Court in relation to the Appeal
(the “Beijing Judgment”). In the Beijing Judgment,
the Supreme People’s Court ordered that: (a) the
Hubei Court Judgment be revoked; (b) the Contended
Agreement was void; and (c) acknowledged that the
HK$1,156 million sale and purchase agreement (the
“SPA”) shall be the actual agreement being performed
by the Company, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.
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36. L|T|GAT|ON(Continued)

(A)

Writ issued in the PRC by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun and Wuhan
Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development Co.,
Ltd. against the Company (“PRC Action No.1")
(Continued)

5. (Continued)
As advised by the PRC legal adviser of the Company:

(@) The Supreme People’s Court only ordered the
Contended Agreement void, but it did not make
any ruling regarding the Acquisition itself, and/
or the approval of the Acquisition issued by
MOFCOM in November 2007.

(b)  The Beijing Judgment will not directly lead to any
immediate change of ownership of Baisazhou
Agricultural. The Company continues to be the
legal owner of Baisazhou Agricultural until and
unless the revocation of:

(i) the approval of the Acquisition from
MOFCOM; and

(ii) the registration of the transfer of
shareholding by the Hubei AIC.

6. On 23 June 2015, the Company submitted an
application to the Supreme People’s Court for a retrial,
requesting that the Beijing Judgment be set aside.

7. On 21 July 2015, the Company received the written
Notice of Acceptance of the retrial application from the
Supreme People’s Court.

8. On 22 December 2015, the Supreme People’s Court
dismissed the Company’s petition (the “December
2015 Judgment”). The Company received the
December 2015 Judgment on 7 January 2016.

9. The case has now come to an end during the year.
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36. LITIGATION (continued) 36. EFFA)
(B)  Writissued by the Company against Ms. Wang and Tian (B) ARBRBAHELLTRRNEN
Jiuin Hong Kong ik
1. On or about 24 October 2011, the Company issued 1. RZZ——F+AZ+HHAKA

a Writ of Summons in the Hong Kong Court of First
Instance (the “Court”) against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.
The Company (as purchaser) sought damages from
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (as vendors) for their breach of
various provisions of the SPA for the Acquisition.

2. On 5 October 2012, the Company obtained a court 2.
order from the Court to the effect that undertakings
(the “Undertakings”) were given by Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu not to: (i) indorse, assign, transfer or negotiate the
two instruments (purportedly described as promissory
notes in the SPA) (the “Instruments”); and (ii) enforce
payment by presentation of the Instruments until the
final determination of the court action or further court
order. Pursuant to the Undertakings, the Instruments
will no longer fall due for payment by the Company on
5 December 2012.

3. On 9 June 2017, upon the parties’ joint application to 3.
the Court, the Court varied the Undertakings to the
effect that the Undertakings shall stand save that Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu can make a counterclaim under the
present action as per the draft attached to the Consent
Summons filed by the parties on 2 June 2017.

4. The trial took place in February, March and June 2019 4.
for 23 days.
5. On 18 January 2021, the Court handed down a 5.

judgment (“"HK Judgment”). Pursuant to the HK
Judgment, the Court ruled, inter alia, that:

(a) Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall pay to the Company
damages in the total sum of RMB510,000,000 for
loss and damages suffered by the Company in
that the value of Baisazhou Agricultural’s shares
was substantially less than what Ms. Wang and
Tianjiu warranted;

(b)  Ms. Wang shall pay to the Company nominal
damages of HK$1 for the failure on the part of
Ms. Wang to assist the Company or Baishazhou
Agricultural to obtain the Land Use Certificates in
question;
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36. LITIGATION (continued)
(B)  Writissued by the Company against Ms. Wang and Tian

Jiu in Hong Kong (Continued)

5.

10.

(Continued)

(c) The Company is entitled to set-off the amount
of HK$54,211,000 from the sum due by the
Company to Ms. Wang under one of the
Instruments, being the net profit shortfall;

(d) As the quantum of the award of damages to the
Company is greater than the amounts due under
the Instruments, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu are not
allowed to enforce the Instruments against the
Company; and

(e) The counterclaim of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu for,
amongst others, an order that the Company do
cause and/or procure the shares in Baisazhou
Agricultural to be transferred back to the
defendants, be dismissed.

In the circumstances, the Company is not required to
make any payment under the Instruments to Ms. Wang
or Tian Jiu. Further, as the counterclaim of Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu was dismissed, the Company continues to be
the legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

As at 18 January 2021, the aggregate amount of the
principal amount and interest payable of the promissory
notes was approximately HK$660,833,000 and the
award of damages was approximately HK$663,253,000.
Based on the assessment by the management of the
Company, the exceeding amount of approximately
HK$2,420,000 from the award of damages was not
recognised as probability of the recoverability is
remote. As a result, the management of the Company
only recognised approximately HK$660,833,000 in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

On 20 April 2023, the Court ruled in respect of the total
damages that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall pay to the
Company in respect of the HK Judgment and ruled
that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall pay to the Company
damages in the sum of HK$567,037,325.74, together
with interest thereon at judgment rate from 18 January
2021 until payment.

The case has now come to an end during the year.

The Company is seeking legal advice for the recovery of
damages against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.
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T BBAQRETEENL L% AR
AU O 58 2 ATREMEAR /)N » BRI ERERR
REIEFEEE 2 B H © FH 492,420,000/
T e Bt - ARREREBREGABER
H fth 2 [ W 2 7% {2 T 3R 49660,833,00078

al

8. RIZE-_=—FWA=+H EkEH}E
ZERRNAEEBHRAARR B A
ZEEREABEELIOL  WHAE
ZERRNERARB X FIBEREE
567,037,325.748 70 - ERBA T = —
F— A+ N\BREENRALERARF
R E RS -
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36. L|T|GAT|0N(Cont/'nued)

©

Legal proceedings against MOFCOM by Ms. Wang and

Tian Jiu

1

On 4 May 2015 and 5 May 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu
had jointly commenced two separate legal proceedings
against MOFCOM alleging that MOFCOM failed
to discharge its statutory duties for handling their
application submitted in January 2015 for revoking the
certificate of approval and letter of approval in relation
to the Contended Agreement (the “Application”).
The cases have been accepted by the Beijing Second
Intermediate People’s Court (the “Beijing Court”).

On 20 May 2015, MOFCOM had filed its defence and
each of the Company and Baisazhou Agricultural has
then made an application to join the cases as third

party.

On 25 May 2015, the Beijing Court issued a notice to the
Company regarding submission of evidence.

The trial took place in February, March and June 2019
for 23 days. The parties are waiting for the Court to hand
down judgment.

On 8 January 2016, the Company received a judgment
dated 31 December 2015 issued by the Beijing Court, by
which the Beijing Court demanded MOFCOM to handle
the Application again within 30 days.

On 15 February 2016, an inquiry was held by MOFCOM
where the relevant parties to the legal proceedings
were invited to attend and make submissions.

On 23 May 2016, the Company received a decision
issued by MOFCOM dated 19 May 2016 (the “MOFCOM
Decision”) to the effect, inter alia, that its approval
issued in November 2007 in relation to the Contended
Agreement shall not be revoked and shall remain to be
in force.

BN,

(@]

FRERRNAEEFB R HAE R

E/N

1

RZE—AFHRANBR=Z—
AEFRARA ERERERAE
F[F] ¥ P 75 B0 4R HH MR T 8 7 )%
EFAA - IEEEE B REEITTH
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—E-hE-ARBBEEETEE
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I o
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36. L|T|GAT|ON(Continued)

(C) Legal proceedings against MOFCOM by Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu (Continued)

8.

10.

11.

12.

According to a writ dated 3 August 2016, Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu requested the Beijing Court to revoke the
MOFCOM Decision and to order MOFCOM to make a
decision to revoke the approval. According to a notice
issued by the Beijing Court together with the writ which
was served to the Company, each of the Company and
Baisazhou Agricultural has been added as a third party
to the proceedings by the Beijing Court. Three hearings
have taken place in the Beijing Court so far.

On 18 April 2017, the Company received the judgment
of the Beijing Court dated 31 March 2017 (the “31
March Judgment”) stating that the request made
by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu to revoke the MOFCOM
Decision lacked both legal and factual basis and was not
supported by the Beijing Court. Accordingly, the Beijing
Court dismissed the application of Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu.

On 10 May 2017, the Company received a Notice of
Appeal dated 8 May 2017. By the Notice of Appeal,
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu appealed against the 31 March
Judgment and requested for an order that (a) the 31
March Judgment be set aside and that (b) MOFCOM to
make a decision to revoke the approval issued in 2007
in relation to the Contended Agreement.

On 24 December 2018, the Company received the
judgment of the Beijing High People’s Court dated
20 December 2018 (the “20 December Judgment”)
dismissing the appeal of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu and
upholding the ruling of the Beijing Court as set out in
the 31 March Judgment.

On 4 March 2020, the Company noted the judgment of
the Supreme Court dated 31 December 2019 (the “31
December Judgment”). By the 31 December Judgment,
the Supreme Court dismissed the application of Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu for retrial and for dismissal of the 31
March Judgment and the 20 December Judgment.

36. sFER@)

O FEFRERRNAHEHEBRLIERF

ENE-))
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Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -_=F=A=+—HILFE

36. LITIGATION (continued) 36. EREA(#)
(C) Legal proceedings against MOFCOM by Ms. Wang and (Q FERERRNEEFEIIRLIEEF
Tian Jiu (Continued) ENG)
13.  In other words, the approval issued by MOFCOM 13. BMEZ  BEEBR_ZZLEF+
in November 2007 in relation to the Contended — AL ERAFRBEOIER
Agreement shall not be revoked and shall remain to be DT REHW B -
in force.
14.  The case has now come to an end. 14. ZAERBRBRE -
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, so far as the Directors B ENHREREN RZEBE_=F=A=1—
were aware, (i) the Group was not engaged in any litigation or claims H  RBEAA - (ANEBWEY REMEKR
of material importance, and (ii) no litigation or claims of material RAASRE - UR)VAEBIWE &R T Ek
importance is pending or threatened against the Group. EFRRERFAIRESEINHE -
37. COMMITMENTS 37. EiE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2023 and 2022 not R_E_=FR-_F_—_F=A=+—H "
provided for in the financial statements were as follows: WEAMERERBEEHE 2 RETEAAEN
T
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Capital expenditure authorised and ERUATIEERERTNZ
contracted for in respect of: BERFY
— construction costs —FEERA 218,953 258,490
- acquisition of property, plant and - - WE R
equipment 5,498 13,239
224,451 271,729
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38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group has the following material related party transactions:

(@)  Transactions with key management personnel

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as
disclosed in note 9 and certain of the highest paid employees
as disclosed in note 10, is as follows:

38. ERBAEALRS

BEaMBRRaBmEEIN

AEBEDET

SMIATERFEALRS

(a)

HIBEEABNRS

MW BE o AEETEZEEAS (B
EXNFARBAEE 2 &) RKTFE10
BEZETHSFMERNFMMOT

2023 2022
—E-=F T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FAET

Short-term employee benefits ZHE B EF 14,654 10,286

Post-employment benefits BERL 2R 102 123
Equity-settled share-based payment AR AE RN RER 2

R 1,986 681

16,742 11,090

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 7(b)).

(b)  Balances with related parties

Details of the balances with related parties as at 31 March 2023
and 2022 are set out in note 26.

(c)  Material related party transaction

Easy One Financial Group Limited and
NGI

- A RESA S

its subsidiaries
- Interest on convertible bonds
Wang On Group Limited and

its subsidiaries NG|
- Interest on other borrowings - HAbEFRF S
- License fee paid - BT E
- Right-of-use assets recognised -DHEREAEAE
- Interest on lease liabilities -HEBENE
- Management fee -EREE
- Acquisition of subsidiaries - WS E A A

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries iG]
- A AR 2

m (e O
-BEER

= Interest on other borrowings
= Purchase of goods

55 EEBHRD T REMNEB

EEEEARRRRENE

T EERZERAR AR RE

FMEEEIIATE T A (G2 K
#7(0)) °

BRRE AL 2 AR

RZE_=FRZF-__F=A=+—
AEBEALTZEHRNFBIHRK
26 °

BABEALRS

2023 2022

—Eg=-= — T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHAT
- 3,462
2,378 7,433
1,234 -
9,644 =
204 -
300 300
997 -
39,461 51,931
1,460 21
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Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -_=F=A=+—HILFE

39.

40.

41.

42.

FINANCE GUARANTEE

As at 31 March 2023, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
provided guarantees of approximately HK$ 328,000 to our customers
in favor of a bank for the loans provided by the bank to the customers
of our project (2022: HKS nil).

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Partial repurchase and cancellation of HK$400,000,000 1 per
cent notes due 2024 issued under HK$1,000,000,000 medium
term note programme

On 12 April 2023, the Company repurchased outstanding Listed
Notes in an aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000 via open
market. The repurchased notes had been cancelled on 21 April 2023.
Details of repurchase were disclosed in the announcement dated 12
April 2023.

COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to confirm to
current year’s presentation.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized
for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2023.

39.

40.

41.

42.

HBER
R-ZZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—8 ' ARANEE
M8 A Bl R MR P 4R gL A (R £9328,000%
T ARERBITIREFRMEBEERFZE
REET_ZF  THT) °

WEHKREE

B9y & [B] & 53 $548 #51,000,000,00075 7T
REIEEAT RTINS - NFEIE 2
400,000,000/8 7T 2 12 1%
R-E-_=FMNA+=-H ' ARAFEAMT
5 88 (0] K & 42 %8 /510,000,00078 TTHY AR B8
TEE  BOMNZEBEER T _=FMNA=
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
eI

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -=F=A=+—HILFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES RENE
Attributable
interest of

Location Use Tenure the Group
3k A% FH REEEGAER
Wuhan Baishazhou Agri-Products Market, Special Agricultural produce Medium term lease 100%
Nos. 1 Qingling Street, Qingling Country, Hongshan exchange market
District, Wuhan City, Hubei Province, the PRC
PEDILEREMRILRBEEBFTEER KR RERXZTS H ERAE A

EEYMERIERKTS

Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products International Agricultural produce Medium term lease 100%
Logistics Centre, west of Luoji Expressway, Old town exchange market

District, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC

PEVIEE RS TERR ST REREAAKRE RERXSTS RETEAY

R EIEmBEEY RS L

Henan Kaifeng Hong-Jin Agri-Products International  Agricultural produce Medium term lease 100%
Logistics Centre, south of Kaigi Highway and East of exchange market

Xilin Public Cemetery, Kaifeng City, Henan Province,

the PRC

HEDIT G R TRCARILAIRERARRA REMXHTS HRETEAY

AR R BIE m B PR O

Xuzhou Agri-Products Centre Wholesale Market, East  Agricultural produce Medium term lease 51%
of Yingbin Avenue, Quanshan District, Xuzhou City, exchange market

Jiangsu Province, the PRC
FETIHAGMTRLUEDERBRAGMNER BRERRXIHTSE HRERTR LY
EmPORtEmS
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
eI

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -_=F=A=+—HILFE

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Location

b Hk

Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products International Logistics
Centre, West of Luoji Expressway, Laocheng District, Luoyang
City, Henan Province, the PRC
RETEERETERR ST REBEAAZSEERE
Em BB RE O

Henan Kaifeng Hong-Jin Agri-Products International Logistics
Centre, South of Kaiqgi Highway and East of Xilin Public
Cemetery, Kaifeng City, Henan Province, the PRC

Fh B5A g 4 B T B AT A BR AL B R FE AR A R AT R
I B m B 7R A O

Phase | of Guangxi Yulin Hong-Jin Agri-Products Market,
South of the Second Ring North Road, Yuzhou District, Yulin
City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC
FPEEFEL R BR R FMNE ZRILEE A TR E REIE
ML E 15—

China — ASEAN (Qinzhou) Agri-Products Market, North of
Jinhaiwan West Avenue (Entrance of Nanbei Highway),
Qinzhou City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC
A B P vk B VR R SN T 8 R A Al (Rt = iR
AR R B - 5B (JM) RE AT 5

BIEHEY=

Approximate
saleable
floor area

(square feet) Use
BAE
EEEE

(EFR) A

580,000 Agricultural produce
exchange market

REMRST%
125,000 Agricultural produce
exchange market
REMRST%
447,000  Agricultural produce
exchange market
REMRST%
1,673,000  Agricultural produce
exchange market

REMXHMH

Attributable
interest of
the Group

FEE RS

100%

100%

51%

100%
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PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Location

it

Phase Il of Guangxi Yulin Hong-Jin Agri- Products Market,
south of the 2nd Ring North Road, Yuzhou District, Yulin City,
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC
hEARANBEEA RS REEME R BB
PERAERHETS 8

Henan Kaifeng Hong-Jin Agri-Products International Logistics
Centre, south of Kaigi Highway and east of Xilin Public
Cemetery, Kaifeng City, Henan Province, the PRC
PEARANETHERHTRAL AR ARBRAER
[ RE R ERER DR

Use

it

Agricultural produce
exchange market

ERR AT

e

Agricultural produce
exchange market

ERR AT

e

2023 Annual Report

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
=18

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -=F=A=+—HILFE

BEPY=

Estimated
approximate
Approximate gross  Estimate Attributable
site area floorarea  completion Stage of interest of
(squarefeet)  (squarefeet) date completion the Group
fhatiaa
BRLEER BEEE  fit 50
(F5R) (F5R) Z=ARAH THER JEfb R
677,000 914000 2024 Building 100%
ZZIME B
103,000 161,000 2023 Building 100%
—2-= ey
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hEPBHERE

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 HZ - T -_=F=A=+—HILFE

Fifteen
months from
1January Year from
Year ended Yearended  Year ended 2019to  1January to
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 December
2023 2022 2021 2020 2018
BE-Z-N&E B-E-N\F¥
BZE HE BZ —-HA-HE —-A—HEZE
—EC=HE —ECCF —E-—F —ECEE +=A
=A=+—-R |[=BA=t—-RBR =ZH=+-H =ZHA=t+-H Sar=F
LHEE LHEE LtFE Lt+ERER HEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET F#&T FHET FHT
Results Ed
Turnover <] 596,400 868,685 650,529 1,091,437 778,857
Profit/(loss) before taxation BrEATE R (B18) 27,903 105,793 644,463 171,800 (114,079)
Income tax FiEHt (9,402) (68,757) (143,293) (138,475) (65,240)
Profit/(loss) for the year/period F/BRET (E5E) 18,501 37,036 501,170 33,325 (179,319)
Attributable to: AN AL :
Owners of the Company RABHEEA 6,836 6,401 489,602 5,880 (212,596)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR R 11,665 30,635 11,568 27,445 33,277
18,501 37,036 501,170 33,325 (179,319)
As at As at As at As at As at
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 December
2023 2022 2021 2020 2018
i b
i i B —EZEf ZE2-N\E
—EC=E —ECHE g =A +=A
=f=+—-8 |[=B=+—-8B =A=+-H Sr=[ Sr="F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHET FH&T FHET FHET
Assets and liabilities BEEKERE
Total assets BEE 4,915,193 5,491,088 5,584,243 5,138,673 5,603,672
Total liabilities mar (2,787,781) (3,139,556) (3,378,390) (3,653,308) (4,008,308)
2,127,412 2,351,532 2,205,853 1,485,365 1,595,364
Attributable to: AT AL :
Owners of the Company VNS Z=DN 1,738,026 1,939,313 1,808,148 1,091,640 1,208,971
Non-controlling interests FEERR RS 389,386 412,219 397,705 393,725 386,393
2,127,412 2,351,532 2,205,853 1,485,365 1,595,364
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